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PROJECT MKULTRA, THE CIA’S PROGRAM OF
RESEARCH IN BEHAVIORAL MODIFICATION

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 3, 1877

U.S. SENATE,
Serect COMMITTEE ON INTELLIGENCE,
AND SUBCOMMITTEE ON HEALTH
%D ScIENTIFIC RESEARCH
oF THE ComMITTEE ON HuMAN RESOURCES, -
. Washington, o.C.
The committees met, pursuant to notice, at 9:07 a.m. in room 1202,

. Dirksen Senate Office Building, Senator Daniel K. Inouye-(chairman ———

of the Select Committee on Intelligence) presiding. ‘

Present : Senators Inouye (presiding), Kennedy, Goldwater, Bayh,
H':lﬂ%r:]’iy’ Huddleston, Hart, Schweiker, Case, , Chafee, Lugar
.an op. :

Also present: William G. Miller, staff director, Select Committee on
Intelligence; Dr. Lawrence Horowitz, staff director, Subcommittee
on Health and Scientific Research; and professional staff members of
both committees. .

Senator INouYe. The Senate Select Committee on Intelligence is
meeting today. and is joined by the Subcommittee on Health and
Scientific Research chaired by Senator Edward Kennedy of Mas-
sachusetts and Senator Richard Schweiker of Pennsylvania. Senator
Hathaway and Senator Chafee are members of both committees. We
are to hear testimony from the Director of Central Intelligence, Adm.
Stansfield Turner, and from other Agency witnesses on issues concern-
ing new documents supplied to the committee in the last week on drug

sting conducted by the Central Intelligence Agency.

It should be made clear from the outset that in general, we are

| focusing on events that happened over 12 or as long as 25 years ago.

It should be emphasized that the programs that are of greatest con-

cern have stopped and that we are reviewing these past events in.

order to better understand what statutes and other guidelines might be
n -to prevent the recurrence of such abuses in the future. We
also n:og to know and understand what is now being done by the CIA
in the field of behavioral research to be certain that no current abuses

I want to commend Admiral Turner for his-full cooperation with
this committee and with the Subcommittee on Health in recognizing
that this issue needed our attention. The CIA has assisted our com-
mittees and staffs in their investigative efforts and in arriving at

. remedies which will serve the best interests of our country.

(1)
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The reappearance of reports of the abuses of the drug testing pro-
gram and reggrts of other previously unknown drug programs and
projects for behavioral control underline the necessity for effective
oversight procedures both in the executive branch and in the Con-
gress. The Select Committee on Intel%irgence has been working very
closely with President Carter, the Vice President, and Admiral
Turner and his associates in developing basic concepts for statutory
guidelines which will govern all activities of the intelligence agencies
of the United States. :

In fact. it is my expectation that the President will soon announce
his decisions on how he has decided the intelligence agencies of the
United States shall be organized. This committee will be working
closely with the President and Admiral Turner in placing this new
structure under the law and to develqp effective oversight procedures.

It is clear that effective oversight requires that information must
be full and forthcoming. Full and timely information is obviously
necessary if the committee and the public is to be confident that any
transgres<ions can be dealt with quickly and forcefully.

One purpose of this hearing is to give the committee and the public
an understanding of what new information has been discovered that
2dds to the knowledge already available from previous Church and
Kennedy inquiries. and to hear the reasons why these documents were
not available to the Church and Kennedy committees. It is also the
purpose of this hearing to address the issues raised by any additional
illegal or improper activities that have emerged from the files and to
develop remedies to prevent such improper activities from occurring
again.

Finally, there is an obligation on the pait of both this committee
and the CTA to make every effort to help those individuals or institu-
tions that may have been harmed by any of these improper or illegal
activities. I am certain that Admiral Turner will work with this com-
mittee to see that this wili be done. ~

I would now like to welcome the most distinguished Senator from
%{Iassae%husetts, the chairman of the Health Subcommittee, Senator

ennedy. o

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. We are
delighted to join together in this very important ares of public in-
quiry and public interest.

Some 2 years ago, the Senate Health Subcommittee heard chilling
testimony about the human experimentation activities of the Central
Intelligencc Agency. The Deputy Director of the CIA revealed that
over 30 universities and institutions were involved in an “extensive .
testing and experimentation” program which included covert drug
tests on unwitting citizens “at all social levels, high and low. native
Americans and foreign.” Several of these tests involved the adminis-
tration of L8D to “unwitting subjects in social situations.” ..

At least one death, that of Dr. Olsen. resulted from these activities.
The Arency itself acknowledged that these tests made little scientific
sense. The agents doing the monitoring were not qualified scientific
observers. The test subjects were seldom accessible bevond the first
hours of the test. In a number of instances, the test subject became ill
for hours or days, and effective followup was impossible.
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Other experiments were equally offensive. For example, heroin
addicts were enticed into participating in LSD experiments in order
to get a . ward—heroin.

erhaps miost disturbing of all was the fact that the extent of ex-
perimentation on human subjects was unknown. The records of all
these activities were destroyed in J anuary 1973, at the instruction of
then CIA Director Richard Helms. In spite of persistent inquiries by
both the Health Subcommittee and the Intelligence Committee, no
additional records or information were forthcoming. And no one—
ne single individual—could be found who remembered the details, not
the Director of the CIA, who ordered the documents destroyed, not
the official responsible for the program, nor any of his associates.

We believecmhnt the record, incomplete as 1t was, was as complete
as it was going to be. Then one individual, through a Freedom of In-
formation request, accomplished what two U.S. Senate committees
could not. He spurred the agency into finding additional records per-
taining to the CIA's program of experimentation with human sub jects.
These new records were discovered by the agency in March. ir
existence was not made known to the Congress until July.

The records reveal a far more extensive series of experiments than

had previously been thought. Eighty-six universities or institutions -

were involved. New instances of unethical behavior were revealed.

The intelligence community of this Nation, which requires a shroud
of secrecy in order to operate, has a very sacred trust from the
American people. The CIA’s program of human experimentation of
the fifties and sixties violated that trust. It was violated again on the
day the bulk of the agency’s records were destroyed in 1973. It is
violated each time a responsible official refuses to recollect the details
of the program. The best safeguard against abuses in the future is a
complete public accounting of the abuses of the past. :

I think this is illustrated, as Chairman Inouye pointed out. These
are 1ssues, are questions that happened in the fifties and sixties, and
g0 back some 15, 20 years ago, but they are front page news today, as
we see in the major newspapers and on the television and in the media
of this country; and the reason they are, I think, is because it just con-
tinuously begins to trickle out. sort of, month after month, and the
best way to put this period behind us, obviously, is to have the full
information, and I think that is the desire of Admiral Turner and of
the members of this committee.

The Central Intelligence Agency drugged American citizens with-
out their knowledge or consent. It used university facilities and per-
sonnel without their knowledge. It funded leading researchers, o
without their knowledge. .

These institutes, these individuals, have a right to know who they
- are and how and when they were used. As of today, the Agency itself
refuses to declassify the names of those institutions and individuals,
quite appropriately, I might say, with rezard to the individuals under
the Privacy Act. It seems to me to be a fundamental responsibility to
notify those individuals or institutions, rather. I think many of them
were caught up in an unwitting manner to do research for the
Agency. Many researchers, distinguished researchers, some of our
most outstanding members of our scientific community, involved in
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this network, now really do not know whether they were involved or
not, and it seems to me that the whole health and climate in terms of
our university and our scientific and health facilities are entitled to
that. response. : :

So, I intend to do all T can to persuade the Agency to, at the very
least, officially inform those institutions and individuals involved.

Two years ago, when these abuses were first revealed, I introduced
legislation, with Senator Schweiker and Senator Javits, designed to
minimize the potential for any similar abuses in the future. That
legislation expanded the jurisdiction of the Nationa]l Commission on

uman Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research to cover all
federally funded research involving human subjects. The research
initially was just directed toward HEW activities, but this legislation
covered DOD as well as the CIA. : )

This Nation has a biomedical and behavioral research capability
second to none. It has had for subjects of HEW funded research for
the past 3 years a system for the protection of human subjects of bio-
medical and behavioral resear.h second to none, and the Human Ex-
perimentation Commission has proven its value. Today’s hearin
and the record already established underscore the need to expand its
jurisdiction. ‘

The CIA supported that legislation in 1975, and it passed the Senate
unanimously last year. I believe it is needed in order to assure all
our people that they will have the degree of protection in human ex-
perimentation that they deserve and have every right to expect.

Senator Inouve. Thank you very much. Now we will proceed with
the hearings. Admiral Turner!? o

[The prepared statement of Admiral Turner follows ‘]

PREPARED STATEMENT oF ADMIRAL STANSFIELD TURNER, DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL
: INTELLIGENCE ‘

Mr. Chairman: In my letter to you of July 15, 1977, I reported our recent dis-
covery of seven boxes of documents related to Project MKULTRA, a closely held

subsequently discontinued. The MKULTRA-related report was made available to
the Chureh Committee investigators and to the staff of Senator Kennedy's Sub-
committee on Health. Until the recent discovery, it was believed that all of the
‘MKULTRA files dealing with bebavioral modification had been destroyed in

1973 on the orders of the then retiring Chief of the Office of Technical Service,

with the authorization of the then DCI, as has been previously reported. Almost
all of the people who had had any-connection with the aspects of the project
which interested Senate investigators in 197G were no longer with the Agency
at that time. Thus, there was little detailed knowledge of the MKULTRA sub-
projects available to CIA during the Church Committee investigations. This
lack of available details, moreover, was probably not wholly attributable to the
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destruction of MKULTRA files in 1973; the 1983 report on MKULTRA by the
Inspector General notes on page 14 : “Present practice is to maintain no records
of the planning and approval of test programs.” )

When I reported to you last on this matter, my staff had not yet had an
opportunity to review the newly located material in depth. This has now been
accomplished, and I am in a position to give you a description of the contents of
the recovered material. I believe you will be most interested in the following
aspects of the recent discovery:

How the material was discovered and why it was not previously found;

The nature of this recently located material ; :

How much new information there is in the material which may not have
been previously known and reported to Senate investigators; and

What we believe the most significant aspects of this find to be.

To begin, as to how we discovered these materials. The material had been
sent to our Retired Records Center outside of Washington and was discovered
there as a result of the extensive search efforts of an employee charged with re-
sponsibility for maintaining our holdings on behavioral drugs and for responding
to Freedom of Information Act requests on this subject. During the Church
Committee investigation in 1875, searches for 2*KULTRA-related material were
made by examining both the active and retired records of all branches of CIA
considered at all likely to have had association with MKULTRA documents. The
retired records of the Budget and Fiscal Section of the Branch responsible2 for
such work were not searched, however. This was because financial papers as-
sociated with sensitive projects such as MKULTRA were normally maintained
by the Branch itself under the project file, not by the Budget and Fiscal Section.
In the case at hand, however, the newly located material was sent to the Re-
tired Records Center in 1970 by the Budget and Ikiscal Section as part of its
own retired holdings. The reason for this departure from normal procedure is not
known. As a result of it, however, the material escaped retrieval and destruction
in 1973 by the then-retiring Director of the Office as well as discovery in 1978
by CIA officials responding to Senate investigators. :

The employee who located this material did so by leaving no stone unturned
in his efforts to respond to FOIA requests. He reviewed all listings of material
of this Branch stored at the Retired Records Center, including those of the
Budget and Fiscal Section and, thus, discovered the MKULTRA-related docu-
ments which had been missed in the previous searches. In sum, the Agency failed
to uncover these particular documents in 1973 in the process of attempting to
destroy them ; it similarly failed to locate them in 1975 in response to the Church
Committee hearings. I am convinced that there was no attempt to conceal this
material during the earlier searches.

Next, as to the nature of the recently located material, it is jmportant to
renlige that tiue recovered folders are finance folders. The bulk of the material in
them consists of approvals for advance of funds, vouchers, accountings, and the
like—most of which are not very informative as to the nature of the activities
that were undertaken. Occasional project proposals or memoranda comment-
ing on some aspect of a subproject are scattered throughout this material.
In general, however, the recovered material does not include status reports or
other documents relating to operational considerations or progress in the various
subprojects, though some elaboration of the activities contemplated does appear.
The recovered documents fall roughly into three categories:

First, there are 140 MEULTRA subprojects, many of which appear to have
some connection with research into behavioral modification, drug acquisition
and testing or administering drugs surreptitiously.

Second, there are two boxes of miscellaneous MKULTRA papers, including
audit reports and financial statements from “cut-out” (lLe., intermediary)
funding 1mechanisms used to conceal CIA's sponsorship of various research

projects.

Finally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certain intelligence
activities previously funded under MKULTRA which have nothing to do
either with behavioral modification, drugs, and toxins or with any other re-
lated matters.

» We have attempted to group the activities covered by the 149 subprojects into
categories under descriptive headings. In broad outline, at least, this presents the
contents of these files. The activities are placed in the following 135 categories:
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1. Research into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol
17 subprojects probabdly not involving human testing ;
14 subprojects definitely involving tests on human volunteers;
19 subprojects probably including tests on human volunteers. While not
;&:&:ﬂ. lomeu of these subprojects may have included tests on unwitting sub-
as well;
] mbprojectl involving tests on unwitting subjects.

2. Research on hypnosis : 8 subprojects, including 2 involving hypnosis and drugs
in combination.

3. Acquisition of chemicals or drugs: 7 subprojects.

4. Aspects of magicians’ art useful in covert operations: eg., nnrreptltim de-
livery of drug-related materials : 4 subprojects.

5. Studies of human behavior, sleep research, and behavioral changes dvring
psychotherapy : 8 subprojects.

6. Library searches and attendance at semin..vs and international conferences
on behavioral modification : 6 subprojects.

7. Motivational studies, studies of defectors, assessment, and training tech-
niques: 23 subprojects.

8. Polygraph research : 3 subprojects.

9. Funding mechanisms for MKULTRA external research activities: 3
subprojects.

10. Research on drugs, toxins, and biologicals in human “.ssue; provision of
exotic pathogens and the capablluy to incorporate them in. eﬂectlve delivery
systems : 6 subprojects.

11. Activities whose objectives cannot be determined from available documen-
tation : 8 subprojects.

12. Subprojects involving funding support for unspecified activities connected
with the Army’s Special Operations Division at Ft. Detrick, Md. This activity is
outline in book I of the Church Committee Report, pp. 388-389. (See Appendix A,
pp. 68-60. Under CIA’s Project MKNAOMI, the Army Arvisted CIA in develop-
ing, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery systems for use
against humans as well as against animals and crops. The objectives of these
subprojects cannot be identified from the recovered material beyond the fact
that the money was to be used where normal funding channels wounld require
more written or oral justification than appeared desirable for security reasons
or where operational goulldenﬂm dictated short lead times for purchases. About
$11,000 was involved during this period 1953-1960: 3 su

13. Single subprojects in such aress as effects of electro-shock, harassment tech-
niques for offensive use, analysis of extrasensory perception, gas propelled sprays
and aerosols, and four subprojects involving crop and material sabotage.

14. One or two subprojects on each of the following :

“Blood -Grouping” research, controlling the activity of animals, energy
storage and transfer in organic systems; and
stimulus and response in biological systems.

15. Thmsubprojoeuunau&bdmmworkmdmonth- having to
do with laboratory drug screening, research on brain concussion, and research
on biologically active materials to be tested through the skin on human volunteers.

Now, as to how much new the recovered material adds to what has previously
been reported to the Church Committee and to Senator Kennedy’s Subcommittee
on Health on these topics, the answer is additional detall, for the most part: e.g.,
the names of previously unidentified researchers and institutions associated on
either a witting or unwitting basis with MKULTRA activities, and the names of
CIA ofiicials who approved or monitored the various subprojécts. Some new sub-
stantive material is also present: é.g.. details concerning propossls for experi-
mentation and clinical testing associated with various research projects, and &
possibly -improper contribution by CIA to a private lnatlmtlon. However, the
principal types of activities included have, for the most part, either been outlined
to some extent or generally described fn what was previously available to CIA
g:o:he ";le of documentation and was supplied by CIA to Senate Investigators.

exam|

Financial disbursement records for the period 1960-1964 for 76 of the 149
numbered MKULTRA subprojects had been recovered from the Office of Finance
by CIA and were made available to the Church Committee investlnlon in August
or ﬂemher 1978,

The 1963 Inspector General report on MKULTRA made available to both the
Church Committee and Senator Kennedy’s Subcommittee mentions electro-shock
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and harassment substances (pp- 4, 16) ; covert testing on unwitting U.S. citizens
(pp. 7, 10-12) ; the search for new materials through arrangements with special-
ists in universities, pharmaceutical houses, boapitals, state and federal institu-
tions, and private research organizations (pp. 7, 9) ; and the fact that the Tech-
nical Service Division of CIA had initiated 144 subprojects related to the control
of human behavior between 18531963 (p. 21).

The relevant section of a 1957 Inspector General report on the Technical Serv-
ice Division was also made available to the Church Committee staff. That report
discusses techniques for human assessment and unorthodox methods of com-
munication (p. 201) ; discrediting and disabling materials which can be covertly
administered (pp 201-202) ; studies on magicians’ arts as applied to covert oper-
ations (p. 202) ; specific funding mechanisms for research performed outside of
CIA (pp. 202-203, 208) ; research being done on “K" (knockout) material, alcohol
tolerance, and bypnotism (p. 208) ; research on LSD (p. 204) ; anti-personnel
harassment and assassination dellvery systems including aerosol generators and
other spray devices (pp. 206-208) ; the role of Fort Detrick in support of CIA's
Biological/Chemical Warfare capabllity (p. 208) ; and material sabotage research
(p. 209). Much of this material is reflected in the Church Committee Report,
Book 1, pp. 385-422. (See Appendix A, pp. 65-102).

The most significant new data discovered are, first, the names of researchers
and institutions who participated in the MKULTRA project and, secondly, &
possibly improper contribution by CIA to a private institution. We are now n

on of the names of 185 non-government researchers and assistants who
are identified in the recovered material dealing with the 149 subprojects, The .
names of 80 institutions where work was done or with wkich these people were
afliated are also mentioned.

The institutions include 44 colleges or universities, 15 research foundations or
chemical or pharmaceutical companies and the like, 12 hospitals or clinics (in ad-
dition to thoee associated with universities), and 3 penal institutions. While the
tdentities of some of these people and institutions were known previously, the
discovery of the new identities adds to our knowledge of MEKULTRA.

viewed by the Church Committee staff. The newly discovered material, however,

tion.

The recently discovered documents give a greater insight into the scope of the
unwitting drug testing but contribute little more than that. We now have col-
laborating information that some of the unwitting drug testing was carried on
in safebouses in San Francisco and New York City, and we have identified that
three individuals were involved in this undertaking as opposed to the previously
reported one person. We also know now that some unwitting testing took place
on criminal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital and that, additional-
ly, sesearch was done on a knock-out or “K” drug in parallel with rescarch to
develop pain killers for cancer patients.

These, then are the prineipal findings identified to date in our review of the
recovered material. As noted earlier, we believe the detail on the identities of
researchers and institutions involved in CIA’s sponsorship of drugs and be-
bavioral modification is & new element and one which poses a considerable prob-
lem. Most of the people and institutions involved are not aware of Agency
sponsorship. We should certainly assume that the researchers and {nstitutions
which cooperated with CIA on & witting busis acted in good faith and In the
pelief that they were aiding their government in 8 legitimate and proper purpose.
I believe we sll have a nforal obligation to these researchers and institutions to
protect them from any unjustified embarrassment or damage to their reputations
which revelation of their identities might bring. In addition, I have a
obligation under the Privacy Act not to publicly disclose the names of the in-
dividual researchers without their consent. This is especially true, of course, for
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TR Y



L A

L K]

6

1. Research into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol

17 subprojects probabdly not involving human testing ;

14 subprojects definitely involving tests on human volunteers;

19 subprojects probably including tests on human volunteers. While not
known, some of these subprojects may have included tests on unwitting sub-
jects as well;

L subprojeets involving tests on unwitting subjects.

2. Research on hypnosis : 8 subprojects, including 21nvolving hypnosis and drugs
in combination.

8. Acquisition of chemicals or drugs: 7 subprojects.

4. Aspects of magicians’ art useful in covert operations: e.g., tmrreptitious de-
livery of drug-related materials : 4 subprojects.

5. Studies of human behavior, sleep research, and behavioral changes dvring
psychotherapy : 0 subprojects.

6. Library searches and attendance at semin.rs and international conferences
on behavioral modification : 6 subprojects.

7. Motivational studies, studies of defectors, assessment, and training tech-
niques : 23 subprojects.

8. Polygraph research : 8 subprojects.

9. Funding mechanisms for MKULTRA external research activities: 3
subprojecu.

0. Research on drugs, toxins, and biologicals in human “:ssue; provision of
exotic pathogens and the cnpabmty to incorporate them in. etectlve delivery
systems : 6 subprojects.

11. Activities whose objectives ctnnot be determined from available documen-
tation : 3 subprojects.

12. Subprojects involving funding support for unspecified activities connected
with the Army’s Special Operations Division at F't. Detrick, Md. This activity is
outline in book I of the Church Committee Report, pp. 388-380. ( See Appendix A,
pp- 68-80. Under CIA’s Project MKNAOMI, the Army Arvisted CIA in develop-
ing, testing, and maintaining binlogical agents and delivery systems for use
against humans as well as against animals and crops. The objectives of these
subprojects cannot be Identified from the recovered material beyond the fact
that the money was to be used where normal funding channels would require
more written or oral justification than appeared desirable for security reasons
or where operational considerations dictated short lead times for purchases. About
$11,000 was involved during this period 1053-1960 : 3 subprojects.

18. Single subprojects in such areas as effects of electro-shock, harassment tech-
niques for offensive use, analysis of extrasensory perception, gas propelled sprays
and aercsols, and four subprojects involving crop and material sabotage.

14. One or two subprojects on each of the following :

“Blood -Grouping™ research, controlling the activity of animals, energy
storage and transfer in organic systems; and

stimulus and respounse in biological systems.

15. Three subprojects cancelled before any work was dmon them having to
do with laboratory drug screening, research on brain concussion, and research
on biologically active materials to be tested through the skin on human volunteers.

Now, as to how much new the recovered material adds to what has previously
been reported to the Church Committee and to Senator Kennedy's Subcommittee
on Health on these topics, the answer is additional detafl, for the most part: eg.,
the names of previously unidentified researchers and institutions assoclated on
either a witting or unwitting basis with MKULTRA activities, and the names of
CIA officials who approved or monitored the various subprojécts. Some new sub-
stantive material is also present: é.g.. details concerning propossls for experi-
mentation and clinical testing associated with various research projects, and &
possibly -improper contribution by CIA to a private lnltltut!on. However, the
principal types of activities included have, for the most part, either been outlined
to some extent or generally described in what was previously available to CIA
gxo:he ";1 of documentation and was supplied by CIA to Senate investigators.

example:

Financial disbursement records for the period 1960-1964 for 76 of the 149
numbered MKULTRA subprojects had heen recovered from the Office of Finance
by CIA -nmre made available to the Church Committee lnvestlntors in August
or Reptem

The 1968 Inspector General report on MKULTRA made available to both the
Church Committee and Benator Kennedy’s Subcommittee mentions electro-shock
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those researchers and institutions which were unwitting participants in CIA-
sponsored activities.

Nevertheless, recognizing the right and the need of both the Senate Select
Committee on Intelligence and the Senate Subcommittee on Health to investigate
the circumstances of these activities in whatever detail they consider necessary.
I am providing your Committee with all of the names on a classified pasis. I
hope that this will facilitate your investigation while protecting the individuals
and institutions involved. Let me emphasize that the MEULTRA events are 12

to 25 years in the past. I assure you that the CIA is in no.way engaged in either
witting or unwitting testing of drugs today.

Finally, I am working closely with the Attorney General and with the Secre-
tary of Heplth, Education and Welfare on this matter. We are making available
to the Attorney General whatever materinls he may deem necessary to any
investigation he may elect to undertake. We are working with both the Attorney
General and the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare to determine
whether it is practicable from this new evidence to attempt to identify any of
the persons to whom drugs may have been administered unwittingly. No such
names are part of these records, but we are working to determine if there are
adequate clues to lead to their identification ; and if so, how to go about fulfillin~
the Government's responsibilities in the matter.

TESTIMONY OF ADM. STANSFIELD TURNER, DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE, ACCOMPANIED BY FRANK LAUBINGER, OFFICE
OF TECHNICAL SERVICES; AL BRODY, OFFICE OF INSPECTOR
GENERAL; ERNEST MAYERFIELD, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL;
AND GEORGE L. CARY, LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL

Admiral Torver. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I would like to begin
by thanking you and Senator Kennedy for having a joint hearing this
morning. I hope. this will expedite and facilitate our getting all the
information that both of your committees need into the record quickly.

I would like also to thank you both for prefacing the remarks toda{
by reminding us all that the events about which we are. here to tal
are 12- to 24-years old. They in no way represent the current activities
or policies of the Central Intelligence Agency.

What we are here to do is to give you all the information that we
now have and which we did not previously have on a subject known
as Project MKULTRA, a project which took place from 1953 to 1964.
It was an umbrella project under which there were numerous sub-
projects for research, among other things, on drugs and behavioral
modification. What the new material that we offer today is a sup-
plement to the considerable material that was made available in 1975,
during the Church committee hearings, and also to the Senate Sub-°
committee on Health and Scientific Research.

At that time, the CIA offered up all of the information and docu-
ments it believed it had available. The principal one available at that
time that gave the greatest amount of information on this subject
was & report of the CIA’s Inspector General rritten in 1963, and which
led directly to the termination of this activity in 1964, 13 years ago.

The information. available. in 1975 to the .various investigating
groups was indeed sparse. first. because of the destruction of material
that took place in 1973, as detailed by Senator Kennedy a minute ago.
with the concurrence of the then Director of Central Intellizence and
under the supervision' of the Director of the QOfficc of Technical
Services that supervised Project MKULTRA. :
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The material in 1975 was also sparse because most of the CIA people
who had been involved in 1933 to 1964 in this activity had retired from
the Agency. I would further add that I think the material was sparse
in part because it was the practice at that time not to keep detailed
records in this category.

For instance, the 1963 report of the Inspector General notes:

Present practice is to maintgin no ~cords of the plannin andmnnrova of
test programs. M M wd 1 & o '

In brief, there were few records to begin with and less after the
destruction of 1973. ]

What I would like to do now, though, is to proceed and let you know
what the new material adds to our knowledge of this topic, and I

will start by describing how the material was discovered and why ity

was not previously discovered. The material in question, some seven
boxes, had been sent to our Retired Records Center outside of the
Washington area. It was discovered there as the result of an extensive
search by an employee charged with the responsibility for maintain-
ing our holdings on behavioral drugs and for responding to Freedom
of Information Act requests on this subject.

During the Church committee investigation of 1975, searches for
MKULTRA -related material were made by examining both the active
and the retired records of all of the branches of CIA considered likely
to have had an association with MKULTRA documents. The retired
records of the Budget and Fiscal Section of the branch that was respon-
sible for such work were not searched, however. This was because the
financial paper associated with sensitive projects such as MKULTRA
were normally maintained by the branch itself under the project title,
gﬂgULf'iI;RA, not by the Budget and Fiscal Section under a special

udget file. -

Irﬁhe case at hand, however, this newly located material had been
sent to the Retired Records Center in 1970 by the Budget and Fiscal
Section of this branch as part of its own retired holdings. In short, what
should have been filed by the branch itself was filed by the Budget
and Fiscal Section, and what should have been filed under the project
title, MKULTRA, was filed under budget and fiscal matters. The rea-
son for this departure from the normal procedure of that time is simply
not known, and as a result of it, however, the material escaped retrieval
and destruction in 1973, as well as discovery in 1975.

The employee who located this material did so by leaving no stone
unturned in his efforts to respond to a Freedom of Information Act
request, or several of them, in fact. He reviewed all of the listings of
material of this branch, stored at the Retired Records Center, including
those of the Budget and Fiscal Section, and thus discovered the
MKULTRA - -related documents, which had been missed in the previous
searcheés.

In sum, the agency failed to uncover these particular documents in
1973, in the process of attempting to destroy them. It similarly failed
to locate them in 1975, in response to the Church committee hearings.
I am personally persuaded that there is no evidence of any attempt to
conceal this material during the earlier searches. Moreover, as we will
discuss as we proceed, I do not believe the material itself is such that
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there would be a motive on the part of the CIA to withhold this, having
disclosed what it did in 1975.

Next, let me move to the nature of this recently located material.
It is important to remember what. I have just noted, that these folders
that were discovered are finance folders. The bulk of thé material in
them consists of approvale for the advance of funds, vouchers, and
accountings and such, most of which are not very informative as to
the nature of the activities that they were supporting. Occasional proj-
ect proposals or memoranda commenting on some aspect of a subproject
are scattered throughout this material. In general, however, the re-
covered material does not include overall status reports or other docu-
ments relating to operational considerations, or to the progress on
- various subprojects, though some elaboration of the activities contem-

plated does appear from time to time. o

There are roughly three categories of projects. First, there are 149
MEKULTRA subprojects, many of which appear to have some connec-
tion with research into behavioral modification, drug acquisition and-
testing, or administering drugs surreptitiously. Second, there are two:
boxes of miscellaneous MKULTRA. papers, including audit reports \
and financial statements from intermediary funding mechanisms used
to conceal CIA sponsorship of various research projects. .

Finally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certain in-
telligence activities previously funded under MKULTRA but which
have nothing to do either with behavioral modifications, drugs and
toxins, or any closely related matter. .

We have attempted to group the activities covered by the 149 sub-
Projects into categories under descriptive headings. In broad outline,
at least, this presents the contents of these files. The following 15
categories are the ones we have divided these into.

First, research ihto the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol.
Within this, there are 17 projects probably not involving human test-
ing. There are 14 subprojects definitely involving testing on human_
volunteers. There 2re 19 subprojects probably including tests on human
volunteers and 6 subprojects involving tests on unwitting
human beings. - -

Second, there is research on hypnosis, eight subprojects, including
two involving hypnosis and drugs in combination. '

1 Third, there are seven projects on the acquisition of chemicals or

Fourth, four subprojects on the aspects of the magician’s art, useful
in covert operations, for instance, the surreptitious delivery of drug-
related materials, : '

Fifth, there are nine projects on studies of human behavior, sleep
research, and behavioral change during psychotherapy.

Sixth, there are projects on library searches and attendants at semi-
nars and international conferences on behavioral modifications.

Seventh, there are 23 projects on motivational studies, studies of
defectors, assessments of behavior and training techniques.

Eighth, there are three subprojects on polygraph research.

Ninth. there are three subprojects on funding mechanisms for
MKULTRA'’s external research activities.
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_Tenth, there are six subprojects on research on drugs, toxins, and
biologicals in human tissue, provision of exotic pathogens, and the
capability to incorporate them in effective delivery systems.

_Eleventh, there are three subprojects on activities whose nature
simply cannot be determined. _

welfth, there are subprojects involving funding support for un-
specified activities conducted with the Army Special Operations Divi-
sion at Fort Detrich, Md. This activity is outlined in Book I of the
gslilé;c)h committee report, pages 388 to 389. (See Appendix A, pp.

Under CIA’s Project MKNAOMI, the Army assisted the CIA in
developing, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery
systems for -use against humans as well as against animals and crops.

Thirteenth, there are single subprojects in such areas as the effects
of electroshock, harassment techniques for offensive use, analysis of
extrasensory perception, gas propelled sprays and aerosols, and four
subprojects involving crop and material sabou.gu

Fourteenth, one or two subprojects on each of the following: blood
grouping research ; controlling the activities of animals; enere’y stor-
age and transfer in organic systems; and stimulus and response in
biological systems.

Finally, 15th, there are three subprojects canceled before any work
was done on them having to do with laboratory drug screening, re-
search on brain concussion, and research on biologically active
materials. . .

Now, let me address how much this newly discovered material adds
to what has previously been reported to the Church committee and
to Senator Kennedy’s Subcommittee on Health. The answer is basi-
cally additional detail. The tl|ln'incipa.l types of activities included in
these documents have for the most part been outlined or to some
extent generally described in what was previously available in the
way of documentation and which was supplied by the CIA to the
Senate investigators, - '

For example, financial disbursement records for the period of 1960
to 1964 for 76 of these 149 subprojects had been recovered by the
Office of Finance at CIA and were made available to the Church
committee investigators. For example, the 1963 Inspector General
report on MKULTRA made available to both the Curch committee
and the Subcommittee on Health mentions electros:..ck and harass-
ment substances, covert testing on unwitting U.S. citizens, the search
for new materials through arrangements with specialists in hospitals
and -universities, and the fact that the Technical Service Division of
&%A had initiated 144 subprojects related to the control of human

avior.

For instance also, the relevant section of a 1957 Inspector General
report was also made available to the Church committee staff. and
that report discusses the techniques for human assessment and un-
orthodox methods of communication, discrediting and disabling ma-
terials which can be covertly administered, studies on magicians’ arts
as applied to covert operations, and other similar topics.

The most significant new data that has been discovered are, first,
the names of researchers and institutions who participated in
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MKULTRA projects, and second, a possibly improper contribution
by the CIA to a private institution. We are now in the posses-
sion of the names of 185 nongovernment researchers and assistants
who are identified in the recovered material dealing with these 149
subprojects.

here are also names of 80 institutions where work was done or
with which these people were affiliated. The institutions include 44
colleges or universities, 15 research foundation or chemical or pharma-
ceutical companies or the like, 12 hospitals or clinics, in addition to
those associated with the universities, and 3 penal institutions.

While the identities of some of these people and institutions were
known previously, the discovery of the new identities adds to our
knowledl;z of MKULTRA. . o

The facts as they pertain to the possibly improper contribution are
as follows, One project involves a contribution of $375,000 to a build-
ing fund of a private medical institution. The fact that that con-
tribution was made was previously known. Indeed, it was mentioned
in the 1957 report of the Inspector General on the Technical Service
Division of CIA that supervised MKULTRA, and pertinent portions
of this had been reviewed by the Church committee staff. .

The newly discovered material. however, makes it clear that this
contribution was made through an intermediary, which made it ap-
pear to be a private donation. As a private donation, the contribution
-was then matched by Federal funds. The institution was not made
aware of the true source of the gift. This project was approved h-
the then Director of Central Intelligence and concurred in by CIA's
top management including the then General Counsel, who wrote an
opinion supporting the legality of the contribution. .

The recently discovered documents also give greater insight into
the scope of the unwitting nature of the drug testing, but contribute
little. more than that. We now do have corroborating information that
some of the unwitting drug testing was carried out in what is known
in the intelligence trade as safe houses in San Francisco and in New
York City, and we have identified that three individuals were in-
volved in this undertaking, whereas we previously reported there was
only one person. . : .

We also know now that some unwitting testing took place on crimi-
nal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital, and that addi-
tionally research was done on & knockout or K drug in parallel with
research to develop painkillers for cancer patients.

These, then, are the principal findings identified to date in our re-
view of this recovered material. As noted earlier, we believe the de-
tail on the identities of researchers and institutions involved in CTA
sponsorship of drug and behavioral modification research is a new
element and one which poses a considerable problem. Most of the peo-
ple and institutions involved were not aware of CIA sponsorship. We
should certainly assume that the researchers and institutions which
cooperated with CIA on a witting basis acted in good faith and in
the belief that they were aiding their Government in a legitimate and
proper purpose. o

I believe that we all have a moral obligation to these researchers
and institutions to protect them from any unjustifed embarrassment
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or damage to their reputations which revelation of their identities
might bring. In addition, I have a legal obligation under the Privacy
Act not to publicly disclose the names of the individual researchers
without their consent. .

This is especially true, of course, for those researchers and institu-
tions which were unwitting participants in CIA sponsored activities.

Nonetheless, Mr. Chairman, I certainly recognize the right and the
need of both the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence and the
Senate Subcommittee on Health and Scientific Research to investigate
the circumstances of these activities in whatever detail you consider
necessary. I am providing your committee with all of the documenta-
tion, including all of the names, on a classified basis. I hope that this
will facilitate your investigation while still protecting the individuals
and the institutions involved.

Let me emphasize again that the MKULTRA events are 12 to 24
years in the past, and I assure you that CIA is in no way engaged in
either witting or unwitting testing of drugs today. .

Finally, I am working closely with the Attorney General on this
matter. We are making available to the Attorney General whatever
materials he may deem necessary to any investigations that he may
elect to undertake. Beyond that, we are also working with the Attorney
General to determine whether it is practicable from this new evidence
to identify any of the persons to whom drugs may have been admin-
istered unwittingly. No such names are part of these records. We have
not identified the individuals to whom drngs were administered, but
we are trying now to determine if there are adequate clues to lead to
their identification, and if so how best to go about fulfilling the Gov-
ernment’s responsibilities in this matter.

Mr. Chairman, as we proceed with that process of attempting to
identify the individuals and then determining what is our proper re-
sponsibility to them, I will keep both of these committees fully ad-
vised. I thank you, sir.

Senator INouye. Thank you very much, Admiral Turner. Your
spirit of cooperation is much appreciated. I would like to announce to
the committee that in order to give every member an opportunity to
participate in this hearing, that we would set a time limit of 10 minutes

. per Senator.

Admiral Turner, please give this committee the genesis of MKUL
TRA. Who or what committee or commission or agency was; responsi-
ble for dreaming up this grandiose and sinister project, and why was
it necessary ? What is the rationaie or justification for such a project
and was the President of the United States aware of this?

Admiral TurNer. Mr. Chairman, T am going to ask Mr. Brody on
my right, who is a long-time member of the CIA to address that in
more detail. I believe everything that we know about the genesis was
turned over to the Church committee and is contained in that ma-
terial. Basically, it was a CTA-initiated project. It started out of a
concern of our being taken advantage of by other powers who would
use drugs agninst our personnel, and it was approved in the Agencv. I
have asked the question you just asked me, and have been assured that
there is no evidence within the Agency of any involvement at higher
echelons, the White House, for instance, or specific approval. That
does not say there was not, but we have no such evidence.
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Mr. Brody, would you amplify on my comments there, please?

Mr. Broor. Mr. Chairman, I really have very little to add to that.
To my knowledge, there was no Presidential knowledge of this proj-
ect at the timne. It was a CIA project, and as the admiral said, it was
a project designed to attempt to counteract what was then thought to
be & serious threat by our enemies of using drugs against us. Most of
what else we know about it is in the Senate Church committee report.

Senator INoUYE. Were the authorized members of the Congress
made aware of this project through the budgetary processt

Mr. Bropy. We have no knowledge of that, sir.

Senator INOUYE. Are you suggesting that it was intentionally kept
away from the Congress and the President of the United States? i

Admiral Tur~ER. No, sir. We are only sayixg that we Luve no evi-
dence one way or the other as to whether the Congress was informed
of this particular project. There are no records to indicate. )

Senator INouYE. Admiral Turner, are you personally satisfied by
actual investigation that this newly discovered information was not

intentionally kept away from the Senate of the United States't

Admiral Tor¥er. I have ro way to prove that, sir. That is my con-
viction from everything I have seen of it.

Senater Inorye. Now, we have been advised that these documents
were initially discovered in March of this year, and you were notified
in July of this year, or June of this year, and the committee was noti-
fied in July. Can you tell us why the Director of Central Intelligence
was notified 3 months after its initial discovery, why the delay?

Admiral TorNEr. Yes, sir. All this started with several Freedom of
Information Act requests, and Mr. Laubinger on my left was the in-
dividual who took it upon himself to pursue these requests with great
diligence. and got permission to go to the Retired Records Center, and
then made the decision to look not only under what would be the ex-
pected subject files, but through every file with which the branch that
conducted this type of activity had anv conceivable connection.

Very late in March, he discovered these seven boxes. He arranged
to have them shipped from the Retired Records Center to Washing-
ton, to our headquarters. They arrived in early April. He advised his .
appropriate superiors, who asked him how long he thought it would’
take him to go through these and screen them appropriately, clear
them for Freedom of Information Act release.

There are, we originally estimated, 5,000 pages here. We now think
that was an underestimation, and it may be closer to 8,000 pages. He
estimated it would take about 45 days or into the middle of May to
do that. He was told to proceed, and as he did so there was nothing
uncovered in the beginning of these 149 cases that appeared particu-
larly startling or particularly additive to the know that had al-
ready been given to the Church committee, some details, but no major
revelations. : ‘

- He and his assoristes proceeded with deliberateness, but not a great
sense of urgency. There were other interfering activities that came
and demanded his time also. He was not able to put 100 percent of his
time on it, and there did not appear to be cause for a great rush here.
We were trying to be responsive to the Freedom of Information Act
request within the limits.of our manpower and our priorities.
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In early June, however, he discovered two projects, the one related
to K drugs and the one rclated to the funding at the institution, and
realized 1mmediately that he had substantiaf new information, and
he immediately reported this to his superiors.

Two actions were taken. One was to notify the lawyers of the prin-
cipal Freedom of Information Act requestor that we would have sub-
stantial new material and that it would be forthcoming as rapidly as
possible, and the second was to start a memorandum up the chain
that indicated his belief that we should notify the Senate Select Com-
mittee on Intelligence of this discovery because of the character at least
of these two documents.

As that proceeded up from the 13th of June, at each echelon we had
to go through the legal office, the legislative liaison office and at each
echelon about the same question was asked of him: Have you gone
through all of this, so that when we notify the Senate Select Com-
mittee we do not notify half of the important relevations and not the
other halft The last thing I want, Mr. Chairman. is in any way to
be on any topic, give the appearance on any topic of being recalcitrant,
reluctant, or having to have you drag things out of me, and my sub-
ordinates, much to my pleasure, had each asked. have you really gone
through these 8,000 fages cnough te know that we are not going to
uncover a bombshell down at the bottom ? .

By late June; about the 28th, this process reached my deputy. He
notified me after his review of it on the 7th of July, which is the first
1 knew of it. I began reading into it. I asked the same probing ques-
tion directly. I then notified my superiors, and on the 15th delivered
to you my letter letting you know that we had this, and we have been
working, many people, many hours since then, to be sure that what we
are telling you today does include all the relevant material.

Senator Ixouye. I would like to commend Mr. Laubinger for his
diligence and expertise. but was this diligence the result of the Free-
dom of Information Act or could this diligence have been exercised
during the Church hearings? Why was it not exercised !

Admiral Torver There is no question that theoretically this dili-
gence could have been exercised at any time, and it may well be that
the Freedom of Information Act has made us more aware of this.
Would you speak for yourself, please. .

Mr. Lavsincer. I really don't attribute it, Senator, to diligence so
much as thoroughness. If you can imagine the pressures under an
organization trying to respond, which I think the CIA did at the time
of the Church committee hearings, the hallways of the floor I am on
were full of boxes from our records center. Every box that anyone
thought could possibly contain anything was called up for search. It
was one of a frantic effort to comply.

When the pressure of that situation cools down, and you can start
looking at things systematically, you are apt to find things that you
wonldn't under the heat of a crash program, and that is what happened
here.

Senator Inovye. Thank you very much. Senator Kenned{!

Senator KExNEDY. Admiral Turner, this is an enormous )
ing report that you give to the American Congress and to the American
people today. Granted, it happened many years ago, but what we are
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basically talking about is an activity which took place in the country
that involved the perversion and the corruption of many of our out-
standing research centers in this country, with CIA funds, where some
of our top researchers were unwittingly involved in research spon-
sored by the Agency in which they had no knowledge of the back-
ground or the support for.

Much of it was done with American citizens who were completely
unknowing in terms of taking various drugs, and there are perhaps
any number of Americans who are walking around today on the east
coast or west coast who were given drugs, with all the kinds of physical
and psychological damage that can be caused. We have gone over that
in very careful detail, and it is significant and severe indeed.

I do not know what could be done in a less democratic country
that would be more alien to our own traditions than was really done
in this narrow area, and as you give this report to the committee, I
would like to get some sense of your own concern about this type of
activity, and how you react, having assumed this important responsibil-
ity with the confidence of President Carter and the overwhelming
sugpqrt, obviously, of the, Congress, under this set of circumstances.

did not get much of a feeling in reviewing your statement here this
morning of the kind of abhorrence to this type of past activity which
I think the American people would certainiy deplore and which I
believe that you do, but could you comment upon that question, and also
perl_m;)s give us what ideas you have to insure that it cannot happen
again

Admiral TuryER. Senator Kennedy, it is totally abhorrent to me to
think of using a human being as a guinea pig and in any way jeopardiz-
ing his life and his health, no matter how great the cause. I am not
here to pass judgment on my predecessors, but I can assure you that
this is totally beyond the pale of my contemplation of activities that
the CIA or any other of our intelligence agencies should undertake.

I am taking and have taken what I believe are adequate steps to
insure that such things are not continuing today.

Senator Kexxeny. Could you tell us a little bit about that? W
that

Admiral TcryER. T have asked for a special report assuring me
there are no drug activities extant, that is, drug activities that involveé
experimentation. Obviously, we collect intelligence about drugs and
drug use in other countries. but there are no experimentations being
conducted by the Central Intelligence Agency, and I have had a special
check made because of another incident that was uncovered sone years
ago about the unauthorized retention of some toxic materials at the

IA. I have had an actual i ion made of the storage places and
the certification from the people in charge of those that there are no
such chemical biological materials present in our keeping, and I have
issued express orders that that shall not be the case.

Beyond that, I have to rely in large measure on my sense of com-

oA

mand and direction of the people and their knowledge of the attitude

I have just expressed to vou in this regard.

Senator Kex~eoy. I think that is very commendable.

Admiral Toryzr. Thank iy(ou, sir.

Senator KennEpY. I think it is important that the American people
understand that.
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You know, much of the research which is our area of interest that
was being done by the Agency and the whole involved sequence of ac-
tivities done by the Agenty, I am convinced could have been done in 2

* legitimate way through the research programs of the National Insti-
ﬁ, other sponsored activities. I mean, that 1s some -

tutes of Mental Healt
other question, but I think you went to an awful lot of trouble, where
these things could have been.

Let me ask you specifically, on the followup of MKULTRA, are
there now—1I think you have answered, but I want to get a complete
answer about any experimentations that are being done on human be-
ings, whether it is drugs or behavioral alterations or patterns or any
support, cither directly or indirectly, being provided by the Agency in
terms of any experimentation on human beings.

Admiral Tur~er. There is no experimentation with drugs on human
beings, witting or unwitting, being conducted in any way. -

Senator KeNNEDY. All right. Or being supported indirectly ? I mean,
are you contracted out ? o

Admiral TornE:. Or being in any way supported. o

Senator KEnNEpY. All right. How about the nondrug experimenta-
tion our Committee has seen—psychosurgery, for example, or psy-
chological research?

Admiral Turxer. We are continually involved in what we call as-
sessment of behavior. For instance, we are trying to continually im-
prove our polygraph procedures to, you know, assess whether a person
1s lying or not. This does not involve any tampering with the individ-
ual body. This involves studying records of people’s bechavior under
different circumstances, and so on, but it is not an experimental thing.
Have I described that accurately, Al?

Mr. Bropy. Yes. _

Senator Kennepy. Well, it is limited to those areas?

Admiral TurNEr. Yes; it does not involve attempti to modify })e-
havior. It only involves studying behavior conditions, but not trying
to actively modify it, as was one of the objectives of MKULTRA.

Senator KexnNEDY. Well, we are scarce on time, but I am interested
in the other areas besides polygraph where you are doing it. Maybe
you can either respond now or submit it for the record, if you would do
that. Would ’lyou provide that for the record !

Admiral Tor~NEz. Yes.: '

[ The material on psychological assessments follows:]

Psychological assessments are performed as a service to officers in the opera-

tions directorate who recruit and/or handle agents. Except for people involved

in training courses, the subjects of the asseasments are foreign nationals. The
assessments are generally done to determine the most successful tactic to persuade
the subject to accept covert employment by the CIA, and to make an appraisal of
his reliability and truthfulness. :

A majority of the work is done by a staff of trained psychologists, some of
whom are stationed overseas: The assessments they do may be either direct or
indirect. Direct assessments involve a personal interview of the subject by the
psychologist. When poesible the subject is asked to complete a formal “intelli-

gence test” which is actually a disguised psychological test. Individuals being.

assessed are not given drugs, nor are they subjected to physical harassment or
torture. When operating conditions are such that a face-to-face interview is not
possible, the psychologist may do an indirect assesament, using as source ma-
terials deseriptions of the subject by others, interviews with people who know
bim, specimens of his writings, etc.
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The other psychological assessments involve handwriting analysis or grapho-
logical assessment. The work is done by & pair of trained graphologists, assisted
by a amsall number of measurement technicians. They generally require at least
a page of handwritten script by the subject. Measurements are made of about
30 different writing characteristics, and these are charted and furnished to the
graphologist for assessments. '

The psychologists also give courses in psychological assessment to group ot
operations officers, to sharpen their own capabilities to size up people. As part of
the training course, the instructor does a pasychological assessment of each

:'tludent. The students are witting participants, and results are discussed with
em. :

It is important to reiterate that psychological assessments are only a service
to the opcrations officers. In the final analysis, it is the respousibility of the
operations officer to decide how a potential agent should be approached, or to
make a judgement as to whether any agent is telling the truth.

Admiral TorNzr. The kind of thing we are interested in is, what
will motivate a man to become an agent of the United States in a diffi-
cult situation. We have to be familiar with that kind of attitudinal
response that we can expect from people we approach to for one reason
:;ecxﬁc anotherh“u;b;coxtnm spies, but I will be happy to submit a very

o

Senator KexNepY. Would you do that for the committeef

In the followups, in the MKSEARCH, in the OFTEN, and the
CHICKWIT, could you give us also a report on those particular
programs

Admiral Turner. Yes, sir.

Senator Kennevy. Did they involve experimentation, human
experimentation {

Admiral Turnez. No, sir.

Senator KenNepY, None of themt

Admiral Tur~Nzs. Let me say this, that CHICKWIT program is the
code name for the CIA participation in what was basically a Depart-
ment of Defense program. T::s program was summarized and re-
g:rted to the Church committee, to the Congress, and I have since they

ve been rementioned in the press in the last 2 days here, I have not
had time to t.hrou'il: and ﬁrdsonully review them. I have ascertained
that all of the files that and made available before are.intact,
and I have put a ial order vut that nobody will enter those files
or in any way touch them without my permission at this point, but

- they are in Retired Records Center outside of Washington, and

ther are available.
am not prepared to give you full details on it, because I simply
haven’t read into that part of our history, but in addition I would sug-

' ﬁz when we want to get into that we should get the Department of

fense in with us.

Senator KennepY. Well, you will supply that information to the
Intelligence Committee, the relevant, I mean, the health aspects, obvi-
ously, and the research we are interested in?

Admiral TurNer. Yes, sir.

Senator Kzxnepy. Will you let us know, Admiral Turner?

" Admiral Tur~Ner. I will be happy to.
See p. 1690 for the material referred to.]
tor Kennepy. Thank you. I am running out of time. Do you
support the extension of the protection of human subjects legislation
to include the CIA and the DOD?Y You commented favorably on that
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before, and I am hopeful we can get that on the calendar early in
September, and that is our strong interest.

dmiral Torner. The CIA certainly has no objection to that pro-
posed legislation, sir. It is not my role in the administration to be the
supporter of it or the endorser of it.

tor KeNNEDY. As a personal matter, since you have reviewed

these subjects, would you comment? 1 know it is maybe unusual, but
you can understand what we are attempting to do.

Admiral Torner. Yes, sir.

Semator KeNNEDY. From your own experience in the agency, you
can understand the value of it.

Just finally, in your own testimony now with this additional infor-
mation, it seems quite apparent to me that you can reconstruct in veilZ
careful detail this whole project in terms of the responsible C
officials for thzdpxzogram. ou have so indicated in your testimony.
Now with the additional information, and the people, that have been
revealed in the examination of the documents, it seems to be. gret
clear that you can track that whole program in very careful detail,
and I would hope, you know, that you would want to get to the bottom
of it, as the Congress does as well. I will come back to that in my next
round. Thank you very much.

Senator INouYE. Senator Goldwater{

Senator GoLbwATER. I have no questions.

Senator InouYE. Senator Schweiker{

Senator ScEwerkzr. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, I would like to go back to your testimony on page
12, where you discuss the contribution to building fund of &
private medical institution. You state, “Indeed, it was mentioned in 8
1957 Inspector General report on the Technical Service Division of
CIA, pertinent Jortions o which had been reviewed by the Church
committes staff.” I would like to have you consider this question very
carefully. I served as a member of the original Church committee.
My staffer did a lot of the work that you are referring to here. He
made notes on the IG’s re%ort. My question to you is, are you saying
that the section that specifically delineates an 1mproper contribution
was in fact ’giu;n to the Church committee staff to see!

Admiral ~zR. The answer to your question is “Yes.” The infor-
mation that a contribution had been made was made available, to the
best of my knowledge. ‘

Senator Scaweikes, Only certain sections of the report were made
available. The regoxt had to be reviewed out at Langley; it was not
reviewed here, and copies were not given to us here. I just want you to
carefully consider what you are saying, because the onlaurecord- we
have :are the notes that the staff took on anything that was of

significance.

Admiral Torxer. My understanding was that Mr. Maxwell was
shown the relevant portion of this report that disclosed that the con-
tribution had been made. .

Senator Scawemxen. To follow this up further, I'd like to say that
I think there was a serious flaw in the way that the IG report was
handled and the Church committee was limited. I am not mzﬁng any
accusations, but because of limited access to the report, we have a situ-
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ation where it is not even clear whether we actually saw that material
or not, simply because we could not keep a copy of the report under
the procedures we had to fcllow. We were limited by notetaking, and
50 it i rather ambiguous as to just what was seen and what was not
seen. I certainly hope that the new Inkalhf_npe Committee will not
be bound by procedures that so restrict its ability to exercise effective
oversight.

I have a second question. Does it concern you, Admiral, that we used
a subterfuge which resulted in the use of ederal construction grant
funds to finance facilities for these sorts of experiments on our own
people? Because as I understand what you are saying, while the CIA
maybe only put up $375,000, this triggered a response on the part of
the Federal Government to provide on a good faith basis matching
hospital funds at the same level. ‘We put up more than $1 million of
matching funds, some based on an al y private donation which
was really CIA money. .

Isn’t there something basically wrong with thatt

Admiral Turxez. I certainly believe there is. As I stated, the Gen-
eral Counsel of the CIA at that time rendered a legal opinion that
this was a legal undertaking, and again I am hesitant to go back and
revisit the atmosphere, the laws, the attitudes at that time, so whether
the counsel was on good legal ground or not, I am not cnough of 8
lawyer to be sure, but it certainly would occur to me if it happened
today as a very questionable activity.

Senator ScHweIker. Well, I think those of us who worked on and
amended the Hill-Burton Act and other hospital construction as-
sistance laws over the years, would have a rather different opinion on
the legal intent or object of Congress in passing laws to provide hos-
pital construction project money. These funds weren’t intended for

It reminds me a little bit of the shellfish toxin situation which turned
up when I was on the Church committee. The Public Health Service
was used to produce a deadly poison with Public Health money. Here
we are using general hospital construction money to carry ona series of
drug experiments.

Admiral Torver. Excuse me, sir. If I could just be, I think, ac-
curate. I don’t think any of this $375,000 or the matching funds were
used to conduct drug experiments. They were used to build the hos-
pital. Now, the CIA then put more money into a foundation that was
conducting research on the CIA’s behalf supposedly in that hospital, so
the intent was certainly there, but the money was not used for
experimentation.

nator Scawerxezz. Well, I understand it was used for bricks and
mortar, but the bricks were used to build the facility where the experi-
ments were carried on ; were they not {

Admirs]l Torner. We-do not have positive evidence that they were.
It certainly would seem that that was the intent, but I do not want to
draw inferences here—— -

Senator Scuwerker. Well, why else would they give this money foc
the building fund if the building was not used for a purpose that
benefited the CIA program?

Admiral Toryer I certainly draw the inference that the CIA
expected to benefit from it, and some of the wording says the General
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Counsel’s opinion was that this was legal only if the CIA was going
to derive adequate benefit from it, but, sir, there isno evidence of what
benefit was derived.

Senator Sciweiker. There must have been some pretty good benefits
at stake. The Atomic Energy Coinmission was to bear a share of the
cost, and when they backed out for some reason or another, the CIA

picked up part of their tab. So, at two different points there were

indications that CIA decisionmakers thought there was great benefit
to be derived from whatever happened within the brick and mortar
walls of that facility. )

Admiral Turver. You are absolutely right. I am only taking the
position that I cannot substantiate that there was benefit derived.

Senator Scuwetker. The agreement documents say that the CIA
would have access to one-sixth of the space involved in the construction
of the wing, so how would you enter into an agreement that specifically
says that you will have access to and use of one-sixth of the space and
not gerform something in that space? I cannot believe it was empty.

Admiral Turxer. Sir, I am not disputing you at all, but hoth of us
are saying that the inference is that one-sixth of the space was ased,
that experimentation was done, and so on, but there is.no factual evi-
dence of what went on as a result of that payment or what went on in
that hospital. It is just missing. It is not that it didn’t happen.

Senator Scuuweiker. Admiral Turner, one other——

Senator KENNEDY. Would the Senator yield on that point !

Senator Scuweiker. I understand that in the agency’s documents
on the agreement it was explicitly stated that one-sixth of the facility
would be designated for CIA use and made available for CIA re-
search. Are you familiar—

_ Mr. Brooy. Senator, as I recall, you are right in that there is » men-
tion of one-sixth, but any mention at all has to do with planning. There
:reknolsubsequent reports as to what happened after the construction

ook place.

Senator Scinwerker. Admiral Turner, I read in the New York Times
that part of this series of MKULTRA experiments involved an ar-
rangement with the Federal Bureau of Narcotics to test LSD sur-
reptitiously on unwitting patrons in bars in New York and San
Francisco. Some of the subjects became violently ill and were hos-
gtgalwed. I wonder if you would just briefly describe what we were

oing there and how it was carried out! I assume it was through a safe
house operation. I don't believe your statement went into much detail.

Admiral Torner. I did mention the safe house operation in my
statement, sir, and that is how these were carried out. What we have
learned from the new documentation is the location and the dates at
which the safe honses were run by the CIA and the identification of
three individuals who were associated with running those safe houses.
We know something about the construction work that was done in
them because there were contracts for.this. Beyond that, we are pretty
much drawing inferences as to the things that went on as to what you
are saying here. ' ' .

. Senator Scrwerker. Well, the subjects were unwitting. You can
infer that much, right !

Admiral Tukver. Right.
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Senator Scaweixer. If you happened to be at the wrong bar at the
wrong place and time, you got it.

Mr. BropY. Senator, that would be—contacts were made, as we
understand it, in bars, et cetera, and then the people may have been
invited to these safe houses. There really isn’t any indication as to
the fact that this took place in the bars. - : _ :

Admiral TurnEr. We are trying to be very precise with you, sir, and
not draw an inference here. There are 6 cases of these 149 where we
have enough evidence in this new documentation to substantiate that
there was unwitting testing and some of that involves these safe
houses. There are other cases where it is ambiguous as to whether the
testing was witting or voluntary. There are others where it was clearly
voluntary.

Sent:t?f Scaweixer. Of course, after a few drinks, it is questionable
whether informed consent means anything to a person in a bar
an L] .

mnl Tourner. Well, we don’t have any indication that al] these
cases where it is ambiguous involved drinking of any kind. There are
cases in penal institutions where it is not clear whether the prisoner
was given a choice or not. I don’t know that he wasn’t given a choice,
but fldon’t positively kmow that he was, and I claseify that as an
ambiguous incident.

Senator InouyE. Your time is up, Senator.

Senator Huddleston t .

Senator HupoLesToN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, you stated in your testimony that you are con-
vinced there was no attempt to conceal this recently discovered docu-
mentation during the earlier searches. Did you question the individ- -
uals connected with the earlier search before you made that judgment?

Admiral Torwe. Yes; I haven't, I don’t think, questioned every-
body who looked in the files or is still on our payroll who looked in
the files back in 1975, but Mr. Laubinger on my left is the best author-
ity on this, and I have over it with him in some detail.

Senator HupoLEsTON. gut you have inquired, you think, sufficiently
to assure yourself that there was no intent on the part of any person

to conceal these records from the previous committee !

Admiral Turner. T am persuaded of that both by my questioning
of people and by the circumstances and the way in which these docu-
ments were filed, by the fact which I did not and should have men-
tioned in my testimony, that these were not the official files. The ones
that we have received or retrieved were copies of files that were work-
ing files that somebody had used, and therefore were slipped into a
different location, and again I say to you, sir, I cant imagine their
deliberately concealing these particular-files and revealing the other
things that they did reveal in 1975. I don’t see the motive for that,
because these are not that damning compared with the overall material
that was provided.

Senator HuopLestoN. Is this the kind of operation that if it were
continuing now or if there were anything similar to it, that you would
feel compelled to report to the Select C%mmittee on Intelligence?

Admiral TorNER. Yes, sir. You mean, if I discovered that some-
thing like this-were going on without my knowledge? Yes, I would
feel absolutely the requirement to—
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Senator HupoLestoN. But if it were going on with your knowledge,
would you report it to the committee? I assume you would.

Admiral TurNer. Yes. Well, it would not be going on with my
knowledge, but theoretically the answer is yes, sir. -

Senator HupprestoN. Well, then, what suggestions would you have
as we devise charters for the various inteiﬁf.nce ncies! What
provision would you suggest to prohibit this kind of activity from
taking place? Would you suggest that it ought to be specifically out-
lined in a statutory charter setting out the parameters of the per-
missible operation of the various agencies?

Admiral TurNer. I think that certainly is something we must con-
sider as we look at the legislation for charters. I am not on the face
of it opposed to it. I think we would have to look at the particular
wording as we are going to have to deal with the whole charter issue
as to exactly how precise you want to be in delineating restraints and
curbs on the intelligence activities.

Senator HupoLesToN. In the case of sensitive ?}n operations, which
this certainly was, which might be going on today, is the oversight
activity of t agencg(more intensive now than it was at that timef

Admiral TorNEr. Much more so. I mean, I have briefed you, sir,
and the committee on our sensitive operations. We have the Intel-
ligence Oversight Board. We have a procedure in the National Se-
curity Council for apgorgval of very sensitive operations. I think the
amount of spotlight focused on these activities is many, manyfold
what it was in these 12 to 24 years ago.

Senator Huporeston. How about the record keeping? ¢

Admiral TurveR. Yes; I can’t imagine anyone havingithe gall to
think that he can just blithely destroy records today with a1l of the
attention that has come to this, and certainly we are emphasizing that
that is not the case.

Senator HuopoLEsTON. Admiral, I was particularl interested in the
activity that took place at the U.S, Public Health Service Hospital at
Lexington, Ky., in which a Dr. Harris Isbell conducted experiments
on people who were presumablwtients there. There was a narcotics
institution, I take it, and Dr. Tsbell was, according to the New York

Times story, carrying on a secret series of correspondence with an -
individual at. the agency by the name of Ray. Have you identified who ..

that person is?

a public hearing to confirm or deny these names in view of my legal
onsibilities under the Privacy Act not to disclose the names of
individuals here.

Senator HuporestoN. I am just asking you if you have identified

A
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the person referred to in that article as Ray. I am not asking you who )

he was. I just want to know if you know who he is.

Admiral TorNer. No. I am sorry, was this W-r-a-y or R-a-y#

Senator HoppresToN. It is listed in the news article as R-a-y, in
quotations. ' ) .

Admiral TorNER. No, sir, we have not identified him.

Senator HuopLEsTON. So you have no knowledge of whether or
not he is still a member of vour staff or connected with the Agency 1n
any way. Have you attempted to identify him?

‘Admiral Tomxez. Sir, I find myself in & diffcalt position here at
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dmiral TurNER. Senator, we have a former employec whose first

name is Ray who may have had some connection with these activities.

Senator Huppreston. You suspect that but h A
that at this time, or at least at but you have not verified
you have veriﬁ:’d it? you &re not in & position to indicate that

Admira]l TurNER. That is correct.

Senator HooprestoN. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

genator %gom S’I‘eﬁml? Wallop ¢

enator WarLor. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, not all of the—and in no way trying to excuse
you of the hideous nature of some of these projects, but not all of the
fsrod;:ta under MKULTRA. are of a sinister or even a moral nature.

t & fair statement? -

Admiral Torner. That is correct.

Senator WaLroe. Looking down through some of these 17 projects
not involving human testing, uspects of the magician’s art, it doesn’t
seem as though there is anything very sinister about that. Studies of
human behavior and sleep research, library searches. Now, those
tl;n_xgs in their way are sit; of interest, are they not, to the process
of in ering
_Admiral TorNer. Yes, sir. T have not tried to indicate that we
either are not doing or would not do any of the things that were
involved in MKULTRA, but when it comes to the witting or unwitting
tetsl.ltmg-qf people with drugs, that is certainly verboten, but there are
other

Senator Warror. Even with volunteer patientst! I mean, I am not
trying to put you on the spot to say whether it is going on, but I mean,
it is not an uncommon thing, is it, in the prisons of the United States
for the Public Health Service to conduct various kinds of experiments
avith vaccines and, say, sunburn creams? I know in Arizona they have

one so.

Admira]l TurNER. My understanding is, lots of that is m_tthorized.
but I am not of the opinion that this is not the CIA’s business, and
that if we need some information in that category, I would prefer
to go to the other appropriate authorities of the Government and ask
them to get it for us rather than to in any way——

Senator Warrop. Well, you know. you have library searches and at-
tendants at the national seminars, This is why I wanted to ask you if
the bulk of these projects were in any way the kinds of things that the
Agency might not do now. A President would not have been horrified
by the list of the legitimate types of things. Isn’t that probably the

casef

Admiral Tor~eR. Yes, sir. . o

Senator Warrop. And if it did in fact appear in the IG report, 1s
there any reason to suppose that the President did not know of this
project? You said there was no reason to suppose that he did, but let
me reverse that. Is there any reason to suppose that they did not?

Admiral Turner. No.

Senator Warror. Well. you know. I just cannot imagine you or
literally -anybody undertaking projects of the magnitude of dollars
here and just not knowing about it, not informing your superior that
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these were going on, especially when certain items of it appear in the
Inspector General’s report on budget matters.

Admiral Tur~er. Well, I find it difficult when it is that far back to
hypothesize what the procedures that the Director was using in terms
of informing his superiors were. It is quite a different climate from
today, and I think we do a lot more informing today than they did
bsck then, but I find it very difficult to guess what the level of knowl-
edge was.

Senator WaLror. 1 am really not asking you to second-guess it, but
it just seems to me that, while the past is past, and thank goodness we
are operating under different sets of circumstances, I think it is naive
for us to sup¥ose that these things were conducted entirely without the
knowledge o
It is just the kinds of research information that was being sought was
vital to the United States, not the means, but the information that théy,
were trying to find. - . .

Admiral Turner. I am sorry. Your quastion is, was this vital? Did
we view it as vital § .

Senator Warrop. Well, your implication at the beginning was that
it was a response to the kinds of behavior that were seen in Cardinal
Mindszenty’s trial and other things. I mean, somebody must have
thought that this was an important defensive reaction, if nothing else,
on the part of the United States.

Admiral TurNEr. Yes, sir, I am sure they did, but again I just don’t
know how high that permeated the executive branch.

Senator WaLLor. But the kinds of information are still important
to you. I mean, I -am not suggesting that mjone go back and do that
kind of thing again, but I'm certain it would be of use to you to know
what was going to‘happen to onc of your agents assuming someone had
gg}f one of these things into his bloodstream, or tried to modify his

avior.

Admiral Tur~NEr. Absolutely, and you know, we would be very con-
cerned if we thought there were things like truth serums or other
things that our agents or others could be subjected to by use or im-
proper use of drugs by other powers against our people or agents.

Senator WarrLoP. Are there? I don’t ask you to name them, but are
there such serums?

Admiral Tur~zr. I don't know of them if there are. I would have to

" answer that for the record, sir.

Senator WarrLop. I wpuid ai: reciate that.
[The material referred to follows:]

“Taura” DRUGS IN INTERROGATION

The search for effective aids to interrogation is probably as old as man’s need
to obtain information from an uncooperative source and as persistent as his
impatience to shortcut any tortuous path. In the annals of police investigation,
physical coercion has at times been substituted for painstaking and time-con-
suming inquiry in the belief that direct methods produce quick results. Sir James
Stephens, writing in 1883, rationalizes a grisly example of “third degree” prac-
tices by the police of India; “It is far pleasanter to sit comfortably in the shade
r;xil:lblng red pepper {n a poor devil's eyes than to go about in the sun hunting up
evidence.”

More recently, police officials in some countries have turned to drugs for assist-
ance in extracting confessions from accused persons, drugs which ara esumed

the Presidents of the United States during those times. _
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lax the individual's defensen to the point that he unknowingly reveals truths
lt;; rhe” been trying to conceal. This investigative technique, however humanitarian
as an alternative to physical torture, still raises serious questions of individual
rights and liberties. In this country, where drugs have gn‘med only marginal
acceptance in police work, their use has provoked cries of “psychological third
degree” and has precipitated medico-legal controversies that after a quarter of
a century still occasionally flare into the oper.

The use of so-called “trnth” druge in police work is similar to the accepted
paychiatric practice of narco-analysis; the difference in the two procedures lies
in their different objectives. The police invesatigator is concerned with empirical
truth that may be used against the suspect, and therefore almost solely with
probative truth : the usefulness of the suspect’s revelations depends ultimately on
their acceptance in evidence by a court of law. The peychiatist, on the other hand,
using the same “truth” dcugs in diagnosis and treatment of the mentally il, is
primarily concerned with psychological truth or psychological reality rather than
empirical fact. A patient’s aberrations are reality for him at the time they occur,
and an accurate account of the.:h fantasies and delusions, rather than reliable
recollection of past events. can be the key to recovery.

The notion ol?dmgs capable of illuminating hidden recesses of the mind, help-
tug to heal the mentally il and preventing or reversing the miscarriage of justice,
has provided an exceedingly durable theme for the press ~nd popular literature.
While acknowledging that “truth serum” is a misnomer twice over—the drugs
are not sera and they do not necessarily bring forth probative truth—journalistic
accounts continue to exploit the appeal of the term. The formula is to play up
a few spectacular “truth” drug successess and to imply that the drugs are more
maligned than need be and more widely employed in criminal investigation than
can officially be admilted.

Any technique that promises an increment of success in extracting information
from an uncompliant source is ipso facto of interest in intelligence operations.
If the ethical considerations which in Western countries inhibit the use of narco-
interrogation in police work are felt also in intelligence, the Western services
must at least be prepared against its possible employment by the adversary. An
understanding of “truth” drugs, their characteristic actions, and their potentiali-
ties, posaitive and negative, for eliciting useful information is fundamental to an
adequate defense against them.

This discussion, meant to help toward such an understanding, dGraws primarily
upon openly published materials. It has the limitations of projecting from crimi-
gl investigative practices and from the permissive atmosphere of drug psycho-

erapy.

SCOPCLAMINE A8 “TRUTH SERUM" ’

Early in this century physiclans began to employ scopolamine, along with
morphine and chloroform, to induce a state of “twilight sleep” during childbirth.
A constituent of henbane, scopolamine was known to produce sedation and drowsi-

- ness, confusion and disorientation, incoordination, and amnesia for events ex-

perienced during intoxication. Yet physicians noted that women in twilight sleep
answered questions accurately and often volunteered exceedingly candid remarks.
In 1922 it occurred to Robert Bouse, a Dallas, Texas obstetrician, that a similar

. technique might be employed in the interrogation of suspected criminals, and he

arranged to interview under scopolamine two prisoners in the Dallas county
jail whose guilt ‘secmed clearly confirmed. Under the drug, both men denied the
charges on which they were held; and both, upon trial, were found not guilty.
Enthusiastic at this success, House concluded that a patient under the influence
of scopolamine “cannot create a lie . . . and there is no power to think or rea-
son:"” [14] His experiment and this conclusion attracted wide attention, and the
idea of a “truth” drug was thus launched upon the public consciousness.

The phrase “truth serum” is believed to have appeared first ih a news report
of House's experiment in the Los Angeles Record, sometime in 1922. House resisted
the term for a while but cventually came to employ it regularly himself. He pub-
lished some eleven articles on scopolamine in the years 1921-1929, with a notice-
able increase in polemical zeal as time went on. What had begun as something
of a scientific statement turned finally into a dedicated crusade by the “father of
truth serum” on behalf of his offspring, wherein he was “grossly indulgent ot Its
wayward behavior and stubborunly proud of its minor achievements.”[11]
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Only a handful of cases in which scopolamine was used for police interroga-
tion came to public notice, though there is evidence suggesting that some police
forces may have used it extensively. [2, 18] One police writer claims that the
threat of scopolamine interrogation has been effective in extracting confessions
from criminal suspects, who are told they will first be rendered unconscious by
chloral hydrate placed covertly in their coffee or drinking water.[10]

Because of a number of undesirable side effects, scopolamine was shortly dis-
qualified as a “truth” drug. Among the most disabling of the side effects are
ballucinations, disturbed perception, somnolence, and physiological phenomena
such as headache, rapid heart. and blurred vision, which distract the subject from
the central purpose of the interview. Furthermore, the physical action is long, far
outlasting the psychological effects. Scopolamine continues; in some cases, to make
anesthesia and surgery safer by drying the mouth and throat and reducing secre-
tions that might obstruct the air passages. But the fantastically, almost painfully,
dry “desert” mouth brought on by the drug is hardly conducive to free talking,
even in a tractable subject. .
THE BARBITURATES

The first suggestion that drugs might facilitate communication with emo-
tionally disturbed patients came quite by accident in 1916. Arthur S. Lovenhart
and his associates c. the University of Wisconsin, experimenting with respiratory
stimulants, were surprised when, after an injection of sodium cyanide, a catatonic
patient who had long been mute and.rigid suddenly relaxed, opened his eyes, and
even answered a few questions. By the early 1930's a number of psychiatrists
were experimenting with drugs as an adjunct to established methods of therapy.

At about this time police officials, still attracted by the possibility that drugs
migh help in the Interrogation of suspects and witnesses, turned to a class of
depressant drugs known as the barbiturates. By 1935 Clarence W. Muehlberger,
head of the Michigan Crime Detection Laboratory at East Lansing, was using
barbiturates on reluctant suspects, though police work continued to be hampered
by the courts’ rejection of drug-induced confessions except in a few carefully
circumscribed instances. .

The barbiturates, first synthesized in 1903, are among the oldest of modern
drugs and the most versatile of all depressants. In this half-century some 2,500
have been prepared, and about two dozen of these have won an important place
in medicine. An estimated three to four billlon doses of barbiturates are pre-
scribed by physicians in the United States each year, and they have come to be
known by a variety of commercial names and colorful slang expressions : ‘“goof-
balls,” Luminal, Nembutal, “red devils,” “yellow jackets,” “pink ladles,” etc.
Three of them which are used in narcoanalysis and have seen service as "truth”
drugs are sodium amytal (amobarbital), pentothal sodium (thiopental), and to a
lesser extent seconal (secobarbital).

As one pkharmacologist explains it, a subject coming under the influence of &
barbiturate injected intravenously goes through all the stages of progressive
drunkenness, but the time scale is on the order of minutes instead of hours.
Outwardly the sedation effect is dramatic, especially if the subject is a psychiatric
patient in tension. His features ciacken, his body relaxes. Some people are
momentarily- excited; a few beocme silly and giggly. This usually passes, and
most subjects fall asleep, emerging later in disoriented semi-wakefulness:

The descent into narcosis and beyond with progressively larger doses can be
divided as follows: .

1. Sedative stage. S

I1. Unconaciousness, with exaggerated reflexes (hyperactive mge)‘ai: :

}Iv; g;c&naciomeu. without reflex even to painful stimull. g
Whether' all these stages can be distinguished in any given subject depends
largely on the dose and the rapidity with which. the drug is induced. In
anesthesia, stages I and I1 may last only two or three seconds.

The first. or sedative stage can be further divided:

Plane 1. No evident effect, or slight sedative effect.

Plane 2. Cloudiness, calmness, amnesia. (Upon recovery, the subject will
not remember what happened at this or “lower” planes or stages.)

Plane 3. Slurred speech, old thought patterns disrupted, inability to inte-
grate or learn new patterns. Poor coordination. Subject becomes unaware
of paniful s:imull. ‘

]

,.
",
O

s

-y

ra: -

[ aaiian]
Y




v

e

*a

28

Plane 3 is the peychiatric “work™ stage. It may last only & few minutes, but
it can be extended by further slow injection of drug. The usual practice is to
bring the subject quickly to Stage II and to conduct the interview as he passes
back into the sedative stage on the way to full consciousness.

CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES

The general abhorrence in Western countries for the use of chemical agents
“to make people do things against their will” has precluded serious systematic
study (at least as published openly) of the potentialities cf drugs for {nterroga-
tion. Louis A. Gottschalk, surveying their use in information-seeking inter-
views,[13] cites 138 references; but only two touch upon the extraction of
intelligence information, and one of these coucludes merely that Russian tech-
niques in interrogation and indoctrination are derived from age-old police
methods and do not depend on the use of drugs. On the validity of confessions
obtained with drugs, Gottachalk found only three published experimental studies
that he deemed worth reporting.

One of these reported experiments by D. P. Morris in which intravenous sodium
amytal was helpfu! in detecting malingerers.[12] The subjects, soldiers, were
at first sullen, negativistic, and non-productive under amytal, but as the inter-
view proceeded they revealed the fact of and causes for their malingering. Usually
the interviews turned up & neurotic or paychotic basis for the deception.

The other two confession studies, being more relevant to the highly special-
ized, untouched area of drugs in intelligence interrogation, deserve more detailed
review. ‘

Gerson and Victoroff[12] conducted amytal interviews with 17 neuropsychiatric
patients, soldiers who had charges against them, at Tilton General Hospital,
Fort Dix. First they were interviewed without amytal by a psychiatrist, who,
neither ignoring nor stressing their situation as prisoners or suspects under
scrutiny, urged each of them to discuss his social and family background, his
army career, and his version of the charges pending against him. .

The patients wete told only a few minutes in advance that narcoanalysis would
be performed. The doctor was considerate, but positive and forthright. He indi-
cated that they had no choice but to submit to the procedure. Their attitudes
varied from unquestioning compliance to downright refussl.

Each patient was brought to com narcosis and permitted to sleep. As he
became semiconscious and could be ulated to speak, he was held in this stage
with additional amytal while the questioning proceeded. He was questioned
first about innocuous matters from his background that he had discussed before
receiving the drug. Whenever possible, he was manipulated into bringing up
himself the charges pending against him before being questioned about them.
If he did this in a too fully conscious state, it proved more effective to ask him
to “talk about that later” and to interpose a topic that would diminish suspicion,
delaying the interrogation on his criminal activity until he was back Iin the
proper stage of narcosis. '

The procedure differed from therapeutic narcoanalysis in several ways: the
setting, the type of patients, and the kind of “truth” sought. Also, the subjects
were kept in twilight consclousness longer than usual. This state proved richest
in yield of admissions prejudicial to the subject. In it his speech was thick,
mumbling, and disconnected, but his discretion was markedly reduced. This val-
uable interrogation period, lasting only five to ten minutes at a time, could be
reinduced by injecting more amytal and putting the patient back to sleep.

The interrogation technique varied from case to case according to background
information about the patient, the seriousness of the charges, the patient’'s atti-
tude under narcosis, and his rapport with the doctor. Sometimes it was useful to
pretend, as the patient grew more fully conscious, that he had already confessed. -
during the amnestic period of the interrogation, and to urge him, while his mem-
ory and sense of self-protection were still limited, to continue to elaborate the
details of what be had “already described.” When it was obviouns that a subject
was withholding the truth, his denials were quickly passed over and ignored,
and the key questions would be reworded in a new approach. : ,

Several patients revealed fantasies, fears, and delusions approaching delirium,
much of which could resdily be distinguished from reality. But sometimes there
was no way for the examiner to distinguish truth from fantasy except by refer-
ence to other sources. One subject claimed to have a child that did not exist,
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another threatened to kill on sight & stepfather who had been dead a year, and
yet another confessed to participating in a robbery when in fact he had only
purchased goods from the participants. Testimony concerning dates and specific
places was untrustworthy and often contradictory because of the patient’s loss
of time-sense. His veracity in citing names and events proved questionable. Be-
cause of his confusion about actual events and what he thought or feared had
bappened., the patient at times managed to concesl the truth unintentionally.

As the subject revived, he would become aware that he was being questioned
about his secrets and, depending upon his personality, his fear of discovery, or
the degree of his disillusionment with the doctor, grow negativistic, hostile, or
physically aggressive. Occasionally patients had to be forcibly restrained during
this period to prevent injury to themselves or others as the doctor continued to
interrogate. Some patients, moved by fierce and diffuse anger, the assumption
that they had already been tricked into confessing, and a still limited sense of
discretion, defiantly acknowledged their guilt and challenged the observer to
“do something about it.” As the excitement passed, some fell back on thelr orig-
inal ‘stories and others verified the confessed material. During the follow-up
interview nine of the 17 admitted the validity of their confessions; eight re-
pudiated their confessions and reafliirmed their earlier accounts.

With respect to the reliability of the resuilts of such interrogation, Gerson
and Victoroff conclude that persistent, careful questioning can reduce ambigui-
ties in drug interrogation, but cannot eliminate chem altogether.

At least one experiment has shown that subjects are capable of maintaining a
lle while under the influence of a barbiturate. Redlich and his associates at
Yale[25] administered sodium amytal to nine volunteers, students and profes-
sionals, who had previounsly, far purposes of the experiment, revealed shameful
and gulilt-producing episodes of their past and then invented false self-protective
stories to cover them. In nearly every case the cover story retained some ele-
ments of the guilt inherent in the true atory.

Under the influence of the drug, the subjects were crossexamined on their
cover stories by a second investigator. The results, though not definitive, showed
that normal individuals who had good defenses and no overt pathological traits
could stick to their invented storizs and refuse confession. Neurotic individuals
with strong unconscious self-punitive tendencies, on the other hand, both con-
fessed more easily and were inclined to substitute fantasy for the truth, con-
fessing to offenses never actually committed. .

In recent vears drug tberapy has made some use of stimulants, most notably
amphetamine (Benzedrine) and its relative methamphetamine (Methedrine).
Thewve drugs, used either alone or foliowing intravenous barbiturates, produce
an outpouring of ideas, emotions, and memories which has been of help in diag-
nosins mentsl disorders. The potential of stimulants in interrogation has re-
ceived little attention, unless in unpublished work. In one study of their psychi-
atric use Brussel et al. [7] maintain that methedrine gives the liar no time to
think or to organize his deceptions. Once the drug takes hold, they say. an in-
surmountable urge to pour out speech traps the malingerer. Gottachalk, on
the other hand, says that this claim is extravagant, asserting without elabora-
tion that the study lacked proper controls.(13] It is evident that the combined
use of barbiturates and stimulants, perhaps along with ataraxics (tranquilisers),
should be further explored.

OBSERVATIONS FROM PRACTICE

J. M. MacDonald, who as a psychiatrist for the District Courts-of Denver
has had extensive experience with narcoanalysis, says that drug interrogation
is of doubtful value in obtaining confessions to crimes. Criminal suspects under
the influence of barbiturates may deliberately withhold information; persist in
giving untruthful answers, or falsely confess.to crimes they did not commit.
The peychopathic personality, in particular, appears to resist successfully the
influence of drugs.

‘MacDonald tells of a criminal psychopath who, having agreed to narco-inter-
rogation, received 1.5 grams of sodium amytal over a period of five hours. This
man feigned amnesia and gave a false account of a murder. “He displayed little

o
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or no remorse as he (falsely) described the crime, including burial of the body. .

Indeed he was very self-possessed and he appeared almost to enjoy the examina-
tion. From time to time he would request that more amytal he injected.”[21]
MacDonald concludes that a person who gives false information prior to re-
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ceiving drugs is Mkely to give false information also under narcosis, that the
drugs are of little value for revealing deceptions, and that they are more effective
in releasing unconsciously repressed material than in evoking consciously sup-
pressed information.

Another psychiatrist known for his work with criminals, L. Z. Freedmau,
gave sodium amytal to men actused of various civil and military antisocial acts.
The subjects were mentally unstable, their conditions ranging from character
disorders to neuroses and psychowes. The drug interviews proved psychiatrically
beneficial to the patients, bnt Freedman found that his view of objective reality
was seldom improved by their revelations. He was unable to say on the basis of
the narco-interrogation whether a given act had or had not occurred. Like Mac-
Donald, he found that psychopathic individuals can deny to the point of uncon-
sciousness crimes that every objective sign indicates they havr committed.(10]

F. G. Inbau, Professor of Law at Northwestern Unirersity, who has had con-
siderable experience observing and perticipatihg in “truth” drug tests. claims
that they are occasionally effective on persons who would have disclosed the
truth anyway had they been properly imterrogated. but that a person deter-
mined to lie will ususlly be ablie to continue the deception under drugs.

The two military psychiatrists who made the most extensive use of narcoanal-
yeis during the war years. Roy R. Grinker and John C. Spiegel, conciuded that
in almost all eases they could obtain from their patients essentially the same
material and give them the same emotional release by therapy without the use
of drugs, provided they had sufficient time.

The essence of these comments from professionals of long experience is that
drugs provide rapid access to information that is psychiatrically useful but of
doubtful validity as empirical truth. The same psychological informatisu and a
less adulterated empirical truth can be obtained from fully conacious subjects
through non-drug psychotherapy and skillful [~lice interrogation.

APPLICATION TO C1 INTEEROGATION

The almost total absence of coutrolied experimental studies of ‘“truth” drugs
and the spotty and anecdotal nature of psychiatric and police evidence require
that extrapolations to inteiligence operations be made with care. Still, enough
is known about the drugs’ action to suggest certain considerations affecting the
possibilities for their use in interrogations.

It should be clear from the foregoing that at best a drug can only serve as
an aid to sm interrogator who has a sure understanding of the psychology and
techniques of normal interrogation. In some respects, indeed. the demands on his
skill will be increased by the bafling mixture of truth and fantasy in drug-induced
output. And the tendency against which he must guard in the interrogate to give
the responses that seem to be wanted without regard for facts will be heightened
by drugs: the literature abounds with warnings that a subject im narcoeis is
extremely suggestible.

It seems possible that this suggestibility and the lowered guard of the narcotic
state might be put to advantage in the case of a subject feigning ignorance of a
language or some other skill that had become automatic with bim. Lipton(20]
found sodium amytal belpful in determining whether a foreign subject was merely
pretending not to understand English. By extension, one can guess that a drugged
interrogatee might have difficuity maintaining the pretense that he did not com-
prehend the idiom of a profession be was trying to hide.

There is the further problem of hostility in the interrogator’s relations..ip to
a resistance source. The accumulated knowledege about “truth” drug reaction
has come largely from patient-pbysician relationships of trust and confidence.
The subject in narcoanslysis is usually motivated a priori to cooperate with the
psychiatrist, either to obtain relief from mental suffering or to contribute to a
scientific study. Even in police work, where an atmosphere of anxiety and threat
may be dominant, a relationship of trust frequently asserts itself: the drug is
administered by a medical man bound by a strict code of ethics; the suspect
agreeing to undergo narcoanalysis in a desperatc bid for corroboration of his
testimony trusts both drug and psychiatrist, however apprebensively ; and finally,
as Freedman and MacDonald have indicated. the police psychiatrist frequently
deals with a “sick” criminal, and some order of patient-physician relationship
necessarily evolves.
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Rarely has a drug interrogation involved “normal” individuals in a hostile
or genuinely threatening milleu. It was from a non-threatening experimental
setting that Eric Lindemann could say that his “unormal” subjects “reported a
general sense of euphoria, ease and confidence, and they exhibited a marked in-
crease in talkativeness and communicability.” (18} Gerson and Victoroff list poor
doctor-patient rapport as one factor interfering with the completeness and au-
thenticity of confessions by the Fort Dix soldiers, caught as they were in a
command performance and told they had no choice but to submit to narco-
interrogation.

From all indications, subject-interrogator rapport is usually crucial to obtain-
ing the psychological release which may lead to unguarded disclosures. Role-play-
ing on the part of the interrogator might be a possible solution to the problem
of establishing rapport with a drugged subject. In therapy, the British narco-
analyst William Sergent recommends that the therapist deliberately distort the
facts of the patient’'s life-experience to achieve heightened emotional response
and abreaction.[27] In the drunken state of narcoanslysis patients are prone to
accept the therapist’s false constructions. There is reason to expect that a drugged
subject would communicate freely with an interrogator playing the role of rela-
tive, colleague, physician, immediate superior, or any other person to whom his
background indicated he would be responsive.

Even when rapport is poor, however, there remains one facet of drug action
eminently exploitable in interrogation—the fact that subjects emerge from
narcosis feeling they have revealed a great deal, even when they have not. As
Gerson and Victoroff demonstrated at Fort Dix, this psychological set provides a
major opening for obtaining genuine confessions.

POSSIBLE VARIATIONS P
33

In studies by Beecher and his associates,[3-8] one-third' to one-half the
individuals tested proved to be placebo reactors, subjects who respond with
symptomatic relief to the administration of any syringe, pill, or capsule, regard-
less of what it contains. Although no studies are known to have been made of the
placebo phenomenon as applied to narco-interrogation, it seems reasonable that
when a subject’s sense of guilt interferes with productive interrogation, a placebo
for pseudo-narcosis could have the effect of absolving him of the responsibility
for his acts and thus clear the way for free communication. It is notable that
placebos are most Iikely to be effective in situations of stress. The individuals
most likely to react to placebos are the more anxious, more self-centered, more
dependent on outside stimulation, those who express their needs more freely
socially, talkers who draih off anxiety by conversing with others. The non-
reactors are those clinically more rigid and with better than average emotional
control. No sex or 1.Q. differences between reactors and non-reactors have been
found.

Another poesibility might be the combined use of drugs with hypnotic trance
and post-hypnotic suggestion: hypnosis could presumably prevent any recollec-
tion of the drug experience. Whether a subject can-be brought to trance against
his will or unaware, however, is a matter of some disagreement. Orne, in a survey
of the potential uses of hypnosis in interrogation,[23] asserts that it is doubt-
ful, despite many apparent indications to the contrary, that trance can be induced
in resistant subjects. It may be possible, he adds, to hypnotise a subject unaware,
but this would require a positive relationship with the hypnotist not likely to
be found in the interrogation setting. )

In medical hypnosis, pentothal sodium is sometimes employed when only light
trance has been induced and deeper narcosis is desired. This procedure is a
possibility for interrogation, but if a satisfactory level of narcosis could be
achieved through hypnotic trance there would appear to be no need for drugs.

DEFENSIVE MEASURES

There is no known way of building tolerance for a “truth” drug swithout creat-
ing a disabling addiction, or of arresting the action of a barbiturate once induced.
The only full safeguard against narco-interrngation is to prevent the adminis-
tration of the drug. Short of this, the best defense is to make use of the same
knowiedge that suggests drugs for offensive operations: if a subject knows that
on emerging from narcosis he will have an exaggerated notion of how much he
has revealed he can better resolve to deny he has said anything.
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The disadvantages and shortcomings of drugs in offensive operations become
positive features of the defense posture. A subject in narco-interrogation is
intoxicated, wavering between deep sleep and semi-wakefulness. His speech is
garbled and irrational, the amount of oatput drastically diminished. Drugs
disrupt established thought patterns, including the will to resist, but they do so
indiscriminately and thus also interfere with the patterns of substantive infor-
mation the interrogator seeks. Even under the conditions most favorable for
the interrogator, output will be contaminated by fantasy, distortion, and untruth.

Possibly the most effective way to arm onesclf against narco-interrogation
would be to undergo a “dry run.” A trial drug interrogation with output taped
for playback would familiarize an individual with his own reactions to “truth”
drugs, and this familiarity would help to reduce the effects of harassment by
the interrogator before and after the drug has been administered. From the view-
point of the intelligence service, the trial exposure of a particular operative to
drugs might provide a rough benchmark for assessing the kind and amount of
information he would divuige In narcosis.

There may be concern over the possibility of drug addiction intentionally or
accidentally induced by an adversary service. Most drugs will cause addiction
with prolonged use, and the barbiturates are no exception. In recent studies at
the U.S. Public Health Service Hospital for addicts in Lexington, Ky.. subjects
receive” large doses of barbiturates over a period of montha. Upon removal of
the drug, they experienced acute withdrawal symptoms and behaved in every
respect like chronic alcoholics.

Because their action is extremely short. however, and because there Is little
likelihood that they would be administered regularly over a prolonged period,
barbiturate “truth” drugs present alight risk of operational addiction. If the
adversary service were intent on creating addiction in order to exploit with-
drawal, it would have other, more rapid means ¢ producing states as unpleasant
as withdrawal symptoms.

The hallucinatory and psychotomimetic drugs such as mescaline. maribuana,

" LSD-25, and microtine are sometimes mistakenly associated with narcoanalytic

interrogation. These drugs distort the perception and interpretation of the sen-
sory input to- the central nervous system and affect vision, audition, smell, the
sensation of the size of body parts and their position in space, etc. Mescaline and
LSD-25 have been used to create experimental “psychotic states,” and in 2
minor way as aids in paychotherapy. :

Since information obtained from a person in a psychotic drug state would be
unrealistic, bizarre, and extremely diffcult to assess, the self-administration of
LSD-25, which is effective in minute dosages, might in special circumstances
offer an operative temporary protection against interrogation. Conceivably, on
the other hand, an adversary service could use such drugs to produce anxiety or
terror in medically unsophisticated subjects unable to distinguish drug-induced
peychosis from actual insanity. An enlightened operative could not be thus
frightened, however, knowing that the effect of ti:2se hallucinogenic agents is
transient in normal individuals.

Most broadly, there is evidence that drugs have least effect on well-adjusted
individuals with good defenses and good emotional control, and that anyone who
can withstand the stress of competent interrogation in the waking state can do
so in narcoais. The essential resources for resistance thus appear to lie within
the individual

CONCLUSIONS .

The salient points that emerge from this discussion are the following. No such
magic brew as the popular notion of truth serum exists. The barbiturates, by
disrupting defensive patterns, may sometimes be helpful in interrogatior, but
even under the best conditions they will elicit an output contaminated by decep-
tion, fantasy, garbled speech, etc. A major vulnerability they produce in the sub-
ject is a tendency to believe he has revealed more than he has. It is possible, how-
ever, for both normal individuals and psychopaths to resist drug interrogation:
it seems likely that any individual who can withstand ordinary intensive inter-
rogation can hold out in narcosis. The best aid to a defense against narco-inter-
rogation is foreknowledge of the process and its limitations. There is an acute
need for controlled experimental studies of drug reaction, not only to depressants
but al;o to stimulants and to combinatious. of depressants, stimulants, and
lul’l CS. " : :
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Senator Warrop. If they are, I would assume that you would still
try to find from either theirs or somebody else’s information how to
protect our people from that kind of activity. .

Admiral Yes. ) :

Senator Warror. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator INnouye. Senator Chafeet

Senator CrArER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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. Admiral Turner, I appreciate that these tawdry activities were tak-
ing lplace long before your watch, and I think you have correctly
labeled them as abhorrent, but not only were they abhorrent, it seems
to me they were rather bungled, amateurish experiments that don’t
seem to have been handled in a very scientific way, at least from the
scanty evidence we have.

It seems to me that there were the minimum of reports and the
Agency didn’t have the ability to call it quits. It went on for some 12
years, as you mentioned. What I would like to get to is, are you con-
vinced now in your Agency that those scientific experiments. legiti-
mate ones that you were conducting with polygraph and so forth, were
being conducted in a scientific manner and tﬁnt you are handling it in
:h:orr;c;t manner to get the best information that you are seeking in

en

Admiral Tor~ER. Yes, I am, and I also have a sense of confidence
that we are limiting ourselves to the areas where we need to be in-
volved as opposed to areas where we can rely on others.

Senator CHarze. I am convinced of that from your report. I just do
hope that you have geople who are trained in not only handling this
type of experiment, but in preparing the proper reports and drawing
the proper data from the reports. You are convinced that you have
this type of m&

Admiral ER. Yes, sir. :

Senator CrAreE. The second point I am interested in was the final
lines in {our testimony here, which I believe are very important, and
that is that the Agency is doing all it can in coosemtion with other
branches of the Government to go about tracking down the identity of
those who were in some way adversely affected, and see what can be
done to fulfill the government’s responsibilities in that respect. I might
add th:tl'. I commend you in that, and I hope you will pursue it
vigorously.

A hospital in my State was involved in these roceedi.nﬁa, and it is
unclear exactly what did take place, so I have a parochial interest
in this and a national interest as well, and I do hope you will press on

with it. It involves not only you, I appreciate, but also HEW and per-
haps the Attorney Gem'.rn.l.y yot, 7 8PP '

Admiral TorNer. Thank you, sir. We will.

Senator Craree. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator INoTTE. Thanllj:{ou very much. ' .

Admira] Turner, MKULTRA subproject 3 was a project involving
the surreptitious administration of LSD on unwitting persons, was it

‘not?

Admiral TurNER. Yes, sir. _

Senator .INouYE. In February 1954, and this was in the very early
stages of MKULTRA, the Director of Central Intelligence wrote to
the technical services staff officials criticizing their judgment because
they had participated in an experiment involving the administration
of LSD on an unwitting basis to Dr. Frank Olson; who later committed

~ suicide. Now, the individuals criticized were the same individuals who

were responsible for this subproject 3, involving exactly the same prac-
tices. Even though these individuals were clearly aware of the dangers
of surreptitious administration and had been criticized by the Director
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of Central Intelligence, subproject 3 was not terminated immediately
after Dr. Olsoa’s death.

In fact, according to documents, it continued for a number of years.
Can you provide this committee with any explanation of how such
testing could have continued under these circumstances? |

Admiral Torner. No, sir, I really can’t.

Senator Inouye. Are the individuals in the technical services who
carried on subproject 3 still on the CIA payroll{

Admiral Torner I am sorry. Are you asking, are they today?

Senator INoUYE. Yes.

Admiral TurNer. No, sir. '

Senator INouye. What would you do if you criticized officials of the
technical services staff and they continued to carry on experimenta-
tion for a number of years{

Admiral Tuener. I would do two things, sir. One is, I would be sure
at the beginning that I was explicit enough that they knew that I
didn’t want that to be continued anywhere else, and two, if I found it
being continued, I would roll some heads.

Senator Inouye. Could you provide this committee with informa-
tion as to whether the individuals involved had their heads rolled!

Admiral Tor~er. I don’t believe there is any evidence they did, but
I will double check that. '

See p. 170 for material referred to.] S

Senator INoUYE. As {ou know, Senator Huddleston and his subcom-
mittee are deeply involved in the drafting of charters and guidelines
for the intelligence community. We will be meeting with the President
tomorrow. (3111' concern is, I think, a basic one. Can anything like this
occur a -

Admiral Turxer. I think it would be very, very unlikely, first, be-
cause we are all much more conscious of these issues than we were back
in the fifties, second, because we have such thorough oversight proce-
dures. I cannot imagine that this kind of activity could take place
today without some member of the CIA itself bypassing me, if I were
authorizing this, and writing to the Intelligence Oversight Board, and
blowing the whistle on this kind of activity.

I am also doing my very best, sir, to encourage an openness with
mzself and a free communication in the Agency, so that I am the one
who finds these things if they should happen. fact is that we must
keep you and your committee and now the new committee in the House
informed of our sensitive activities. I think all of these add up to a
deﬁree of scrutiny such that this kind of extensive and flagrant activity
could not happen today without it coming to the attention of the proper
authorities to'stop it. .

Senator INouYE. A sad aspect of the MKULTRA project was that
it naturally involved the people who unwittingly or wittingly got in-
volved in experimentation. I would appreciate it if you would report
back to this committee in 3 months on what the Agency has done to
notify these individuals and these institutions, and furthermore, to
notify us as to what steps have been taken to identify victims, and if
identified, what you have done to assist them, monetarily or otherwise.

Admiral Turner All right, sir. I will be happy to.

Senator GoLowaTER. Will the Senator yield ¢
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Senator INouYe. Yes, sir.

Senator GoLowaTeR. I wonder if he could include in that report for
our information only a comglete listing of the individuals and the
exfenments done on them, and whether they were witt.inf or unwitting,
volu t

inteer or nonvolunteer, and what has been the result in each case.
I think that would be interesting.

Admiral TorNER. Fine. Yes, sir.

Senator InouyE. Senator Kennedy ? ‘

‘Senator Kennepy. Thank you. It is your intention to notify the in-
dividuals who have been the subjects of the research, is that right,
Admiral Turner? Do you intend to notify those individuals?

Admiral TorNER. Yes.

hSer;ator Kexneoy. If you can identify them, you intend to notify
them :

Admiral TorNER. Yes. .

Senator Kennepy. And you intend to notify the universities or re-
search centers as well ?

Admiral Tur~NER. Senator, I am torn on that. I understand your
opening statereent. I put myself in the position of the president of one
of those universities, let’s say. If he were witting—if his university
had been witting of this activity with us, he has access to all that in-
formation today. If he were not witting, I wonder if the process of
informing him might put his institution’s reputation in more jeopardy
than letting them go on the way they are today, not knowiag. I really
don’t know the equities here. :

Senator Kenneoy. Well, the problem is, all you have to do is pick up
the new rs and you see these universities mentioned. In many in-
stances, I think you are putting the university people at an extraordi-
nary disadvantage, where there is a complete change of administra-
tion, and they may for one reason or another not have information
that they are under suspicion. There is innuendo; there is rumor. I
cannot help but believe that it will just get smeared all over the news-
pafers in spite of all the security steps that have been taken.

t seems to me that those universities should be entitled to that infor-
mation, so that the ones with other administrations can adapt proce-
dures to protect those universities. The importance of preserving the
independence of our research areas and the communities seems to me to
be a very fundamental kind of question about the protection of the
integrity of our universities and our research centers. )

A%l;lil'll Turner. You are saying that you feel that if we identify
them privately to themselves, we can benefit them in an adequate way to
cover-the risk that this will lead to a more public disclosure? There are
lots of the 80 who have not been identified publicly at this point.

Senator Kexnepy. I think the universities themselves should be noti-
fied. I think then the universities can take whatever steps in terms of
their setting up the procedures to protect their own kinds of integrity
in terms of the future. I would certainly hope that they would feel
that they: could make a public comment or a public statement on it.
I think it is of general public interest, particularly for the people that
are involved in those universities, to have some kind of awareness of
whether they were used or were not used and how they were used.

I think they are entitled to it, and quite frankly, if there isa public
official or an official of the university that you notify and he wants
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for his own particular reasons not to have it public, I don’t see why
those in a lesser echelon or lower echelon who have been effectively used
_ by it should not have the information as well.

So, T would hope that you would notify the universities and then
also indicate to the public. I can’t conceive that this information will
not be put out in the newspapers, and it puts the university people at
an extraordinary disadvantage, and of course some of it is wrong,
which is the fact of the matter, and I think some university official
saying, well, it isn’t so, is a lot different than if they know 1t is con-
firmed or it is not confirmed in terms of the Agency itself. I think that
there is a responsibility there.

‘Admiral TurNEr. I have great sympathy with what you are saying.
I have already notified one institution because the involvement was so
extensive that I thought they really needed to protect themselves, and
I am most anxious to do this in whatever way will help all of the
people who were perhaps unwittin participants in this, and the diffi-
culty I will have is, I can’ quite do, I think, what you suggested, in
that I may not be able to tell an institution of the extent and nature of
its participation.

enator KENNEDY. Well, you can tell them to the best of your in-
formation, and it seems to me that just because the university or an
individual is going to be embarrassed is not a reason for classifying
the information. So, I would hope—I mean, I obviously s eak as an
individual Senator, but I feel that that is an incredible disservice to
the innocent individuals and, I think, a disservice to the integrity of
the universities unless they are notified, to be able to develop pro-
cedures you are developing with regards to your own institution and
we are trying to in terms of the Congress. Certainly the universities
are entitled to the same.

Admiral TorNER. Yes. Not all of these, of course, were unwitting.

Senator Kennepy. That’s right. 4 '

Admiral TorNer. Many of them were witting, and therefore they

can take all those precautionary steps on their own, but I am perfectly -

.

open to doing this. I am only interested in doing it in a way that when
identifying & university it will not lead to the public disclosure of the
individuals, whom I am not allowed to disclose, and so on.

Senator KENNEDY. That could be done, it seems to me.

Admiral TorNER. So, we will see if we can devise a way of notifying
these institutions on & private basis so that they can then make their
own decision whether their equities are best served by their announc-
ing it publicly or their attempting to maintain it—

Senator KENNEDY. Or you. I wonder. What if they were to ask you
to announce or indicate? -

Admiral Tur~xer. My personal conscience, sir, at this time, is that I
would be doing a disserve to these universities if I notified the public.

Senator KENNEDY. Would you meet with some university officials
and ask what their views.are or whether they feel that the preserva-
tion of the integrity of the universities would be better served or not ¥
I think that would be useful to find out from small, large, private, and
public universities’ officials how they view the integrity~—

Admiral Torxer. Fine. I will phone several university presidents
today who are my friends and who are not involved in thds, and ask
them what they think the equities would be.

-
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Senator KENNEDY. All right. You let us know, too.

Admira] Tornez. But I am not sure that I see that there is any great
benefit in my notifying the public as o;':}‘)osed to the university notify-
ing them. Let him have his choice whether he. wants—each institution
wants to have it made public. -

Senator KENNEDY. Yes. The fact would remain that the institution’s
credibility would be better served if the institution’s president were to
deny it and the university indicated that it did not garticipate in that
pro than if the university were to deny it and the Agency sa{s
nothing. It seems to me that that would be the strongest, and the only
way that that is going to be credible. I would value it if you would get
some input from universities as to what they believe is the fairest way
in terms of the preservation of the integrity of the universities.

Let me, if I could, ask on the question of the uses of these safe
houses, as I understand from information that was provided to us In
the course of our last committee, the testing of various drugs on in-
dividuals happened at a1l social levels, high and low, it happened on
native Americans and also on foreign nationals. That is what I under-
stand was the nature of the project itself.

Now, I am just wondering whether those tests were conducted at the
two locations on the east coast and the west coast which were known
as safe houses. To your knowiedge, is that correct?

Admiral TorNER. Yes.

Senator KENNEDY. In terms of the research in this particular pro-
gram, it did not go beyond the safe houses located on the east coast and
the west coast ! I believe I am correct on that.

Admiral Turyer That type of unwitting testing of sort of ran-
domly selected individuals, yes..

Senator KENNEDY. It was just located in those two places?

Admiral TorsEer. To the best of our knowledge, there were enly two
locations. .

Senator KENNEDY. Well, how do we interpret randomly selected ?

Admiral TunNer. Well, as opposed to prisoners in a prison who were
somehow selected. _

Senator KENNEDY. All Tight. Do you know from this information
how many people were recruited during this period ? .

Admiral TorNER. No idea. :

Senator KexNepT. Do you know approximately {

Admira] Turner. I asked that question the other day, and we just
don’t have—apparently we are very—well, either there were no
records kept of the actual numbers and types of people tested or they
were destroyed. .

Senator INouye. Senator Schweiker.

Senator Scawersza. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, I would like to come back to the experiments
which may have been conducted at the hospital research facilities
which the CIA helped to finance. It wasn’t clear to me from your pre-
vious answers what kind of work was done there. I gather you are un-
clear on that, too, from your remarks, yet I find in the CIA docu-
mentation which: you have supplied us, a list describing some of the
advantages the Agency hoped to gain. It says:

(a) One-sixth of the total space in the new hospital wing will be available to the
Chemical Diviston of TSS ® ®* * ; (b) Agency sponsorship of sensitive research
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projects will be completely deniable; (¢) Full professional cover will be provided
for up to three biochemical employees of the Chemical Division; (d) luman
patients and volunteers for experimental use will be available under cont-olled
clinical conditions with the full supervision of

and there is & blank, somcthing has been deleted.

_ It seems pretty clear to me what they intended to do in that par-
ticular wing. Doesn't it to you? Why would you ge to such elaborate
preparations, to buy part of the wing, bring three of your own per-
sonnel there, give them a cover, and give them access to patients?
Why would you go to such trouble and expense to arrange all that, if
you weren’t planning to cxperiment on people in the hospital?

Admiral Tvrner. I agree with you 100 percent, sir. Those were
clearly the intentions. I have no evidence that it was carried out in
that way. I am not trying to be defensive, Senator. I am only trying
to be absolutely precise here.

Senator Scuuweiker. Well, then, as to the nature of what was done
there, the last paragraph on the same page of the document says,
“The facilities of the hospital and the ability to conduct controlled
experimentations under safe clinical conditions using materials with
which any agency connection must be completely deniable will aug-
ment and complement other programs recently taken over by TSS,
such as,” and then there’s another deletion.

Now, the words following “such as” have been deleted. That is still
classified, or at least it was removed when this document was sanitized
and relcased, It seems to be that whatever was deleted right there would
givo you a pretty good clue as to what they were doing, since it says
that the activities would “augment and complement other programs”

. undertaken by TSS. So, I have trouble understanding why you don’t

know what was contemplated. Just the fact that similar programs are
referred to in the document, though what they are is still deleted,
should enable you to check it out, ' )

You could look at what went on in the similar ¥rograms mentioned
following the “such as” in the classified version of this document.

Admiral TuRNER. Senator, I have not said that we don’t know what
was contemplated being done there. We do not know what was done
there. -

Senator ScHWEIKER. Why did you delete that reference? Why i3
that still classified, that particular project of whatever it is?

Admiral Tur~Eer. I don’t know this particular case, We will get you
the exact answer to that one and inform you about it, but it s quite
probable that that other case is unrelated to this in the—well, not un-
related, but that that was a project that still deserves to be classified.

[The material referred to follows:]

Construction of the Gorman Anrex was begun in 1857 and the Annex was
dedicated in March 19508. Of the several MKULTRA projects conducted at
Georgetown only one involving human testing covered a time span subsequent
to March 1959. Subproject 45 ran from 1935 to 1963, thus it is possible that
the final four years (1959-1963) of the subproject could have been spent in
the Gorman Annex. However, there is no reference to the Gorman Annex or a
“new Annex” in Subproject 45 papers, neither is there any mention of the sub-
project moving to a new location in 1939 or later years.

Authorization to contribute CIA funds toward construction of the Gorman
Annex is contained in Subproject 35 of MKULTRA. Recently discovered material
indicated that Dr. Geschickter continued his research for sleep- and amnesia-
producing drugs under Project MKSEARCH through July 1967 at Georgetown
University Hospital. But it i3 impossible to determine if the facilities of the
Gorman Annex were involved.
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Senator Scriweiker. I think that would give us a pretty good clue

~ as to what was going to be done in the wing the CIA helfped to finance.
0

Was there any indication at all in the records you found that the
project ultimately used cancer patients or terminally ill patients in
connection with this facility?

Admirel TorNer. I'm sorry. I missed your question because I was
trying to get the data on the last one. I will read you the blank.

Senator SCHWEIKER. Go ahead.

Admiral Torxer. QKHILLTOP. It doesn’t help you, but—

Senator ScHwEeIRER. Can you tell us what that is, ov is it still
classified ‘

Admiral Torner. I don’t know, and I assume from the fact that
we deleted it, it is still classified, but I will get you that answer, sir.

Senator SceweIker. Thank you. I'd like to see that information.

[See p. 171 for material referred to. ]

Now my next question was: Is there any indication, Admiral, that
projects in that particular center involved experimentation on ter-
minally ill cancer patients? -

Admiral TurNER. I missed the first part of your question, sir. I am
Vvery sorry. ‘ .

nator ScCHWEIKER. Do you have any indication that some experi-
ments in the facility used terminally ill cancer patients as subjects?
You do acknotwledge in your statement and it is clar from other docu-
ments that these kinds of experiments were at some point being done
somewhere. My question is, is there any indication that cancer patients
or terminally 11l patients were experimented with in this wing?

Admiral Turner. Yes, it does appear there is a connection here, sir.

Senator ScHweiker. The other question I had relates to the de-
velopment of something which has been called the perfect concussion.
A series of experiments toward that end were described in the CIA
documents. I wonder if you would just tell us what your understanding
of perfect concussion is.

dmiral Tur~er. Is that in my testimony, sir, or in some other
document ¢

Senator Scaweiker. Subproject 54, MKULTRA, which involved
cxamination of techniques to cause brain concussions and amnesia by
using weapons or sound waves to strike individuals without giving
warning and without lea.ving any clear physical marks. Someone
dubbed it “perfect concussion”—maybe that was poetic license on the
part of our staff rather than your poets over there. I wonder if you
could just tell us what brain concussion experiments were about {

Admiral Torver. This project, No. 54, was canceled, and never
carried out.

Senator Scawrixer. Well, I do believe the first year of the project
in 1955 was carried out by the Office of Naval Research, according to
the information that you supplied us. The CIA seems to have been par-
ticipating in some way at that point, because the records go on to say
that the experimenter at ONR found out about CIA's role, discovered
that it was a cover, and then the project was transferred to
MEKULTRA in 1956. Again, this is all from the backup material you
have given us. So, it was canceled at some time. I am not disagreeing
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with that, but apparently for at least a year or two, somebody was
investigating the production of brain concussions with special lack-
jucks, sound waves, and other methods as detailed in the backup
material. .

Admiral TorNer. The data available to me is that this project was
never funded by the CIA, but I will duble-check that and furnish the
information for the record for you as to whether there was ever any
connhection here and if so, what the nature of the work was.

(The material referred to follows :] |

Mr. Laubinger corrected his testimony regarding Subproject 54 during the

September 21, 1977 hearings before the Subcommittee on Health and Scientific
Research of the Human Resources Committee. The relevant portion is reproduced
below :

Mr. LAUBINGER. On project 54, it has got a rather sensational proposal in there,
in terms of the work that they propose to do, and you asked about the proposal
and I said, in fact, it was never funded under MEKULTRA. Now, I overlooked—at
least, my memory did not serve me correctly when I went through that file folder
to see one memorandum dated January 10, 1858, which makes it quite ¢lear, asa

matter of fact, that that proposal was based on prior work that was funded by—--

the Agency.
Senator SCHWEIRKER. By what?
Mr. LauBIiNGER. By the CIA. So, that information was in their file folder. It

did not happen to be in my head when I testified.

Senator SCHWEIKER. I think I might have read you that, and that is why I
argued at the time with you, because I think I had in front of me, as I vecall,
some indication that it was funded there. I did read that to you. So, you did
supply it to us; there is no argument about that information.

Mr. LavarNoer. Perhaps I am sort of headstrong, myself, and in my own view’,
I am reading under the ULTRA project, that if it had been funded under
ULTRA, it would have had a project number and identified as such. The thing
that threw me was that it was funded, apparently, outside of any MKULTRA
activity and it was under the normal contracting process, so that it was not
included in MKULTRA as any work done under that funding umbreila.

The file folder that you have and I have, right here, makes it quite clear,
however, that a year's work was done through navy funding—a navy funding
mechanism—on which the proposal was based that ultimately came into the
MKULTRA program. That second proposal was never funded. So, there was
conflict and I, personally, I think, introduced a little bit of confusion in that in
my testimony.

Senator SCHWEIKER. Well, do you agree or not agree with DOD's statement
:):rectIhAa;: even though the initial funding was navy, it was really a conduit for

e

Mr. LavBiNges. I think that is correct.

Senator Scawerker. Yes; I would appreciate that. T would like to
know how it went from ONR to CIA after a year. Somebody made a
decision to make that transfer, and to make this an MKULTRA sub-
ject. There had to be some sort of review that led to a decision to
continue that kind of concussion—total blackout, maximum amnesia,
and whatever else it was you were interested in—study and testing.

Mr. LAuBINGER. Senator, if I may try to say a few words on that,
the files that were available to us for inspection, which are limited,
indicated that there was a project being carried on by the Navy having
to do with the effects of brain concussion. The CIA developed an inter-
est in that, and considered funding it, but actually never did, and as
the admiral testified, the MKULTRA is merely a funding mechanism,.
a place they go for money to do such things, but there is no evidence
that I know of that that project was ever funded.
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Senator Scuwerker. Well, I am confused, because here again is an-
other quote from a document that we have seen, which you have re-
leased and supplied to us:

Followingis the technicai progress made under the current [deleted] contract:
(a) Specialized instrumentation and numerous testing techniques have been
developed to obtain the desired dynamic data; (b) considerable data has now
been obtained supporting the resonance-cavilation theory of brain concussion ; and
(c) preliminary acceleration threshold data has been obtained for a fluid-filled

glass simulated skull.

It goes on to talk about a blast range and a 2,500-square-foot labora-

tory. The document notes that “Three blast test series have been run

to date.” It describes a special blackjack device, “a pancake-type black-

jack giving a high peak impact force with a low unit surface pressure.”
agree the records are inconclusive as to the results of this work,

but it certainly seems that some testing was done.

Mr. LauBiNGER. Senator, you are putting us in the same position
T think you were stating that you were in earlier in referring to docu-
ments not before us, but I believe you are quoting from a pro
that sumeone sent to the Agency to fund this work, and he is referring
to past work. The past work would have encompassed a lot of things
like that, but CIA was not involved with that.

Senator Scunweiker. What do you mean, Admiral, on page 6 of your
testimony when you mention projects using magician’s art? How do
magicians gie_t into the spook business! _

Admiral Torxer. I have interpreted this as to how to slip the mickey
into the finn, but I would like to ask my advisers here to comment.

Mr. Bropy. I think that is essentially it, Senator. It is surreptitious
administration of material to someone, deceptive practices, how to
distract someone’s attention while you are doing something else, as
I understand it, It was also some type of a covert communication
project involved with the study of how magicians and their assistants
perhaps communicate information to one another without having other
people know it. This is the type of thing that was involved, sir.

Senator Scnweikrr. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator INoUYE. Senator Huddleston?

Senator HupnLestoN. Thank Kou, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral, in your checking these newly discovered documents and

. interviewing members of the CIA staff, did you find information that

would confirm the contention described by the reporters for the New
York Times that this type of experimentation was begun out of a
fear at the Agency that foreign powers-might have had drugs which
would allow them to alter the behavior of American citizens or agents
or members of the Armed Forces who were taken into cqstod&, and
which would have resulted in false confessions and the like? Is my
question clear? _

Admiral Turner. Yes, sir. I haven’t personally read the documen-
tation on that. In my discussions with-the people who are well in-
formed in this wrea at the Agency, I am told that that is thecase. . ,

Senator HuppLesTON. Was there any evidence or any indication that
there were other motives that the Agency might also be looking for
drugs that could be applied for other purposes, such as debilitating an
individual or even killing another person? Was this part of this kind
of experimentation !
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Admiral Toryzer. Yes; I think there is. I have not seen in this series
of documentation evidence of desire to kill, but I think the project
turned its character from a defensive to an offensive one as it went
along, and there certainly was an intention here to develop drugs that
could be of use.

Senator HuppLesToN. The project continued for some time after it
was learned that, in fact, foreign powers did not have such a drug as
was at first feared, didn’t it ?

Admiral Tur~Eer. That is my understanding. Yes, sir.

Senator HupoLesTox. Is there any indication that knowledge gained
as a result of these experiments has been useful or is being applied in
any way to present operations? .

Mr. Brooy. Senator, I am not sure if there is any body of knowledge.
A great deal of what there was, I gather, was destroyed in 1973. I
would like to defer to Frank here. Do you know of any

Mr. LausinGer. I know of no drugs or anything like that developed
under this program that ever reached operational use or are in use

...—td‘y . e em——— ——— e o e

" Senator HuppLesToN. So apparently any information that was
gathered was apparently useless and not worth continuing, not worth
further development on the part of the Agency.

Mr. Lausinger. I am having difficulty hearing your questions.

Senator HuporzsToN. I can hardly hear myself.

Admiral Tur~er. I think the answer to your question is that we have
no evidence of great usefulness on this, and yet I think we should
remember——

Senator HuppLeston. Well, is it accurate to say that this experimen-
tation produced few useful results or had little application at all to the
operations of the Agency or anybody else as far as we know

Admiral Tur~er. I think that is basically correct. At the same time,
I would point out that we had two CIA prisoners in China and one in
the Soviet Union at this time. and we were concerned as to what kinds
of things might be done to them, but I am not saying that—

Senator HuppLestoN. Have you detected any sign that any other na-
tion is continuing or has in the past conducted experiments similar to
this or with a similar objective ! g

Admiral Tor~Nzr. I am not prepared to answer that one off the top
of my head, sir, but I will get it to you.

[The material referred to follows:]

We maintain no files of up-to-date information on the testing of drugs in
foreign countries. Some years ago we occasionally would review foreign research
on antibiotics and pharmaceuticals in connection with public health and civil
defense assesments. For a few years beginning in 1949 we assessed foreign
research on LSD under Project ARTICHOKE because of concern that such
drugs might be employed gainst Agency and other U.S. personnel. Information
relative to this work has already been provided to relevant Committees. In this
early work we also occasionally looked at foreign human experimentation; we
long ago eliminated our holdings on this subject and no collection requirements
are any longer served. As consumer interest in this area has dropped off
and higher priority areas need attention, we have virtually no present coverage
with the possible exception of an occasional scanning of the literature for a
specific m. To the best of our knowledge no other unit in the Intelligence
Community is tracking this subject now.
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Senator HuooLestoN. You don’t know whether any of your agents
unywhere in the world have been subjected to any kind of procedure
like this? .

Admiral Turver. We certainly know of other powers conducting
research in these areas, yes.

Senator HuporzsToN. Do you know how they go about that research{

Admiral Toryer. It is pretty sketchy, the information we have.

Senator HuporesToN. Do you know of any other organization in this
country or an institution that has conducted extensive research on
unwitting individuals and through unwitting institutions?

Admira]l Tornzz. Well, I have read something in the newspapers
about this, but I have not familiarized myself with it in specifics.

Senator HupoLesToN. It is not a normal mode of operation for hu-
man research, is it!

Admiral Torver. No, sir.

Senator HupoLestox. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Ixoure. Senator Wallop?

Senator WarLwor. Mr. Cuairman, I only have one to follow up on
Senator Huddleston’s questions and my earlier ones. You are not really
saying, are you, Admiral Turner, that there are no mind-altering

~ drugs or behavior modification procedures which have been used by

foreign powers?

Admiral Tor~ER. No, sir, I am not.

Senator WarLop. I drew that inference partly in answer to my ques-
tion that you knew of no truth serum. Maybe that is a misnomer, but
surely there are relaxants that make tongues looser than they would
otherwise be. Isn’t that truef

Admiral TorvER. Yes.

Senator Warrop. So I think it is fair to say, too, that the experience
of many American prisoners of war in the Korean conflict would
indicate that there are behavior modification procedures in use by
foreign powers of a fairly advanced degree of sophistication.

Admiral TurNER. Yes, sir. ]

Senator Warror. Again, I will just go back and say I think this
must have been part of the motivation. I don’t think you would have
mentioned Cardinal Mindszenty had you thought his behavior was
normal at the time or had anybody else, So, I would just again say
I think it is a little bit scapegoating. I don’t think the object of this
hearing is in any way to lay blame on those passed or those dead or
otherwise, but I think it is a little bit scapegoating to say that it
stopped with the directors of the CTA or the DCT's of the time. Also
I think it is a little bit scapegoating to say they didn’t even know it,
but that it was some lower echelon acting alone.

1 think this was a behavior pattern that was prevalent in those
years, and I think the object lesson is that we have discovered, we
think and we hope, through your assurances and other activities of
the Congress, means of avoiding future incidents of that kind. I thank
you, Mr. Chairman. .

Senator INouYE. Senator Chafee !

Senator Crareze. No questions. '

Senator INouYE. Senator Kennedy, I think you have another
question.
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Senator Kenvepy. Just talking about the two safe houses on the
east and west coast as being the sources for the unwitting trials, now,
the importance of this and the magnitude of it, I think, is of signifi-
cance, because we have seen from your records that these were used
over a period of 8 or 9 years, and the numbers could have been con-
siderable. You are unabie to determine, at least in your own research,
what the numbers would be and what the drugs were, how many people
wferp involved, but it could have been considerable during this period
of time. _

It would certainly ,a.preat to me in examining the documents and
the flow charts of cash slips that were expended in these areas that it
was considerable, but that is & judgmental factor on it, but I think
it is important to try and find out what the Agency is attempting to
do to get to the bottom of it.

Now, the ri'ncig:: agent that was involved as I understand it is
deceased and has been deceased for 2 years. The overall agent, Mr.
Gottlieb, has indicated a fuzzy memory about this whole area. He
has testified before the Intelligence Committee. Yet he was respon-
sible for the whole program. Then, the Director had indicated the
destruction of the various materials and .unfamiliarity with the
project. :

Now, you have indicated in your testimony today that there are two
additional agents on page 9 of your testimony, you indicated there
are two additional agents which you have uncovered at the bottom of
it, and you say, the names of CIA officials who approved or monitored
the various projects. You talk about the two additional agents in your
testimon{. o ) :

Now, I am just wondering if you intend to interview those ts
to find out exactly what is being done. I suppose, first of all, shouldn’t
the project manager know what was being done ! '

Admiral TueNEr. Our first problem, Senator, is that we have been
unable to associate an individual with those names at this point. We
are still burrowing to find out who these people are. We haven't identi-
fied them as having been CIA employees, and we don’t know whether
these were false names. :

Senator KExNEDY. You are tracking that down, as I understand it?

Admiral TurNER. Yes, sir.

Senstor KenNEDY. You are tracking that down, and you have every
intention of interviewing those people to find out whatever you can
about the program and project ¥ -

Admiral TurNeR. My only hesitation here is whether I will do this

or the Justice Department. :

Senator KennEpY. It will be pursued, though, I understand!

Admiral TorNER. Yes, sir. .

Senator KenNneDY. Either through the Agency or through the Jus-
tice Department? :

Admiral Tor~Er. [Nods in the affirmative.] .

Senator KexNepY. Is it plausible that the director of the program
would not understand or know about the details of the f;:-logmm!
Is it plausible that Dr. Gottlieb would not understand the full range
of activities in those particular safe houses?
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" %dmu'al TorNER. Let me say it is unlikely. I don’t know Mr. Gott-
e i
- Senator Kenneoy. Has anybody in the Agency talked with Mr.

Gottlieb to find out about this ?y Y e

Admiral TornEr. Not since this revelation has come out.

Senator Kennepy. Not since this revelation? Well, why not?

Armiral TorNer. He has left our employ, Senator.

Senator KenNepy. Does that mean that anybody who leaves is, you
know, covered for lifetime {

Admiral TorNEr. No, sir.

Senator KenNeoy. Why wouldn’t you talk with him and find out?
You have new information about this program. It has been a matter
of considerable interest both to our committee and to the Intelligenco
Committee. Why wouldn’t you talk to Mr. Gottlieb?

Admiral TorNer. Well, again, I think the issue is whether this
should be done by the Justice Department or ourselves.

Senator KenXepy. Well, are we wrestling around because you and
Attorney General Bell can’t agree——

Admiral Tornzer. No, sir.

Senator Kennepy [continuing]. On who ought to do itt

Admiral Turnezr. We are proceeding together in complete agreement
as to how to go. I have, in connection with trying to find all of these
Americans or others who were unwittingly tested, I have some con-
siderable concern about the CIA running around this country inter-
viewing and interrogating people, because I don’t want to give any
impression that we are doing domestic intelligence.

iator Kexnepy. I am just talking about one, in this case. That
was the man who was responsible for the whole program, and to
find out whether anyone within the Agency since you have had this
new material has talked to Gottlieb since 1975, and if the answer is
no, I want to know why not. ' .

Admiral Turner. The reason he wis not interviewed in connection
with the 1975 hearings was that he had left the employ of the CIA
and there was a concern on the part of the Agency that it would appear
to the investigators that the CIA was in some way trying to influence
him -and influence his testimony before the committee. If these
committees have no objection, we would be happy to contact Dr.
Gottlieb and see if he can augment anything here-in this new infor-
mation, though I don’t think there is much in this new information
that he can add to as opposed to"what was available in 1975.

Senator Kennepy. Well, you see, Admiral Turner, come to the
two committees this morning and indicate that now at last we have the
information. We don’t have to be concerned about anything in the
future on it. Now, I don’t know how you can give those assurances to
the members of these committees as well as to the American people
when you haven’t since 1975 even talked to the principal person that

_was in charge of the program, and the records were destroyed. He is

the fellow that was running the program, and the Agency has not

-t§1ked to him since the development of this new material.

Admiral TorNzr. Our only concern here is the proprieties involved,
and we will dig into this and work with the Justice Department on
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who, if either of us, should get into discussions with Dr. Gottlieb so as
not to prejudice any legal rights that may be involved here, or to ap-
pear in any way to be improger.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, do I understand you have not contacted the
Justice Department about this particular case since the development
of this new material about Gottlieb?

b Admiral Torser. Not about Gottlieb specifically. We have contacted
im.,

Senator KEnnEpy. Well, it is amazing to me. I mean, can you under-
stand the difficulty that any of us might have in terms of comprehend-
ing that when you develop a whole new series of materials that are on
the front page of every newspaper in the country and are on every tele-
vision, I mean, that means something, but it does not mean nearly as

much as the interest that we have in the fact about the testing of un-

witting Americans, and every single document that the staff reviews
has Mr. Gottlieb’s name on it and {ou come u&to tell us that we don’t
have to worry any more, we have these other final facts, and Mr. Gott-
lieb has not bee.: talked to?

Admiral TorNEn. Sir, I am not saying that these are in any way the
final facts. I am saying these are all the facts we have available,

Senator KeNNEDY. And you have not talked to the person-who was
in charge of the program, so what kind of value or what kind of weight
can we give it? )

Admiral Tor~ER. We are happy to talk to him. I think the issue
here again is one of propriety and how to go about this. We have not,
I believe, enough new information about é)ttlieb’s participation here
to signal that his interview would be that much more revealing than
what was revealed in 1975. .

Senator Kenneny. The importance of it, I think, from our point
of view, is, he would know the drugs that were administered, the vol-
ume of drugs, how it was administered, and in terms of your ability

to follow up to protect these people and their health, to the extent that

it can be done, that opportunity isbeinglost. - o

I want to get on to some others, but will you give us the assurance
that you will get ahold of Gottlieb or that you will talk to Attorney
General Bell and talk with Gottlieb! -

Admiral Tor~Er. Yes, sir.

Senator KexNepY. And let us know as to the extent of it. I don’t
see how we can fufill our responsibility in this area on the drug test-
ing without our hearing from Gottlieb as well, but I think it is im-
portant that you do so, particularly since all of the materials have
been destroyed.

These other two agents, have they talked to them?

Admiral TurNER. We don’t know who they are, sir. We are trying
to track down and see whether these names can be releated to anybody.

Senator Kennepy. That is under active investigation by the Agency?

Admiral Tor~er. Yes, sir. -

Senator KENNEDY. And you have the intention of talking to those
people when you locate them. Is that correct !

Admiral Tur~NER. Yes, sir, under the same circumstances as Gottlieb. |

Senator KENNEDY. And you have le working on it {
Admiral TurNER. Yes,sir. . peop g ,
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Senator KexNepy. With regards to the activities that took place in
these safe houses, as I understand from the records, two-way mirrors
were used. Is that your understanding ?

Admiral TurNER. Yes, sir. We have records that construction was
done to put in two-way mirrors.

Senator Kennepy. And they were placed in the bedroom, as I
understand.

Pause.]
tor KeNNEDY. Well, we have documents——

Admiral TurNEr. I believe that was in the Church record, but I
don’t have the details.

Senator KENNEDY. And rather elaborate decorations were added, as
I understand, at least, to the one in San Francisco, in the bedroom,
which are French can-can dancers, floral pictures, drapery, including
installation of bedroom mirrors, three framed Toulouse Lautrec post-
ers with black silk mats, and a number of other—red bedroom cur-
tains and recording equipment, and then a series of documents which
were provided to the committee which indicate a wide proliferation
of different cash for $100, generally in the $100 range over any period
of time on the garticular checks. Even the names are blocked out, as
to the person who is receiving it. Cash for undercover agents, operat-
ing expenses, drinks, entertainment while administering, and then it
is dashed out, and then the other documents, that would suggest, at
least with the signature of your principal agent out there, that—
“called to the operation, midnight, and climax.”

_What can you tell'us that it might suggest to you about what tech-
niques were being used by the Agency in terms of reaching that sort
of broad-based group of Americans that were being evidently enticed
for testing in terms of drugs and others? Do you draw any kind of
conclusion about what might have been going on out there in these
safe houses? .

- Admiral TornzEr. No, sir.
gGeneral laughter.] . .

enator KenNepy, There is a light side to it, but there is also an
enormously serious side. And that is that at least the techniques which
are used or were used in terms of testing, and trying to find out ex-
actly the range of drugs used and the numbers of people involved and
exactly what that operation was about, as well as the constant reitera-
tion of the use of small sums of cash at irregular intervals. A variety
of different techniques were employed but there is an awful lot of
documentation putting these matters together. .

. When you look at the fact that it is a broad range population that
has been tested, tested in these two areas, with the kind of cash slips
that were used in this, payment mechanisms and decorations and all
of the rest, we are not-able to put a bottom line on it but one thing is
for sure, and that is, Gottlieb knows. That is one thing for sure, be-
cause his name appears on just about every one of these documents,
and it is, I think, very important to find out what his understanding
is of the nature of that. So, we will hear more about that.

Admiral TorNEr. I believe Gottlieb has been interviewed by the
Congress. -

_ Senator Kenneoy. That's right, he has, and in reviewing the record,
it is not very satisfactory, and it just seems with the new information
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and the new documentation and the new memoranda—and he did not
have the checks at that time—and with the wide variety of different
memoranda with his name on it, his memory could be stimulated on
that. : o

Thank you.
Senator INouTE. I would like to thank the admiral and his staft for

participating in this hearing. I believe the record should show that this
hearing was held at the request of the Agency and the admiral. It was
not held because we insisted upon it. It was a volunteer effort on the

part of the Agency. I think the record should also indicate that Ad- -

miral Turner has forwarded to this committee a classified file including
all of the names of the institutions and the persons involved as the
experimentors. . ’

1 shouid also indicate that this hearing is just one step involved 1n
the commi.tee’s investigation of drug abuse. Just as you have had much
work in going over the 8,000 pages, the staff of this committee has had
cqual problems, but I would like the record to show that you have
made these papers and documents available to the committee. I thank
you for that. -

As part of the ongoing investigation, we had intended to call upon
rany dozens of others, experimentors, or those officials in charge, and
one of those will be Dr. Gottlieb.

In thanking you, I would like to say this to the American people,
that what we have experienced this morning in this committee room
is not being duplicated in any other committee room in any other part
of the world. I doubt that very much. Qur Agency and our intelligence
community has been under much criticism and has been subjected to
much abuse, in many cases justified, but this is the most open society
that I can think of. For example, in Great Britain there are about six
people who are aware of the identity of the man in charge of intelli-
gence. In other countries, similar conditions exist. Here in the United
States we not only know Admiral Turner, we have had open hearings
with him, such as this. The confirrmation hearings were all o

In a few weeks, the Senate of the United States will debate a resolu-
tion to decide upon whether we should disclose the amounts and funds
being used for counterintelligence and national intelligence. I would
hope that in presenting this issue to the public, the media will take note
that the Agency has cooperated and will continue to. The abuse that
. we have learned about this morning is one I hope will never happen
again, but without constant oversight on the part of the Executive
Office, on the part of the Congress, it could happen again. It is.impor-
tant therefore that we continue in this oversight activity.

So, once agairn, Admiral, I thank you very much for helping us: We
will continue to call upon you for your assistance. We would like to
submit to you several questions that the members and staff have pre-
. pared. We hope you will look them over carefully and prepare re-
sponses for the record, sir. '

Senator Kennepy. Mr. Chairman ¢

Senator INoUTE. Yes, sir? ' ,

Senat.or Kexneoy. 1. too, want to thank Admiral Turner for his
responsiveness. I have had meetings with him in the committees and
also conversations, telephone conversations, and private meetings, and

.
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I have found him personally to be extremely responsive, and it is &
very difficult challenge which he has accepted in heading this Agency.
T want you to know, personally, I, too, would like to see this put behind
us. I don’t think we are quite there yet in terms of this particular area
that we are interested in. I think the Intelligence Committee has
special responsibilities in this area of the testing, so we look forward
to working with you in expediting the time that we can put it behind,
but it does seem to me that we have to dig in and finish the chapter.
So, I want to personally express my appreciation to you, Admiral
Turner, and thank you for your cooperation and your help, and I look
forward to working with you.

'Admiral Torner. Thank you. .

Senator HupprestoN. Mr. Chairman, I am not sure you emphasized
this enough, but I think the record ought to show that Admiral Turner
informed the Select Committee on his own initiative when the new
documentation was found. The documentation has been made avail-
able to us voluntarily, in a spirit of cooperation. ' _

I think this shows a vast difference from the mode of operation that

" existed prior to the formation at least, of the Church committee, and

a difference that is very helpful.

Senator Ixovyr. Thank yvou very much. Thank you very much,
Admiral.

We would now like to call upon Mr. Philip Goldman and Mr. John
Gittinger.

gr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger, will you please rise and take the
oath.

Do you solemly swear that the testimony you are about to give is
the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you, God ?

Mr. Goroman. I do.

Mr. Grrrineer. I do.

Senator INouye. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Goldman, will you identify yourself, and after that, Mr.
Gittinger.

Senator KEnNEDY. Before we start in, we had a third witness, Mr.
Chairman, Mr. Pasternac, who planned to testify, traveled to Wash-
ington—he lives in Washington, and was contacted recently—with
the intention of testifying this morning. And something—he called
us late this morning and indicated that he wanted to get & counsel
before he would wish to testify.

Senator INouye. Mr. Goldman.

Mr. Goldman, will you identify yourself, sir.

TESTIMORY OF PHILIP GOLDMAN, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGERCE AGENCY -

. Mr. GoLomaN. I am Philip Goldman. :
s Senator INouye. And you are a former employee of the.Central
Tntelligence Agency? :
Mr. GoLbMAN. Over 10 years ago.
Senator Inouye. And you were employed at the time when
MKULTRA was in operation? -
_ Mr. GoromaN. There were some MKULTRA’s in operation at the
time I was there. : ‘
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Senator Inouye. And Mr. John Gittinger, are you a former em-
ployee of the Central Intelligence Agency?

TESTIMONY OF JOEN GITTINGER, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Mr. GrrriNGeR. I am. 5

Senator INOUYE. Are you still an employeel

Mr. GrrriNeer. No.

Senator INoUYE. Were you a member of the Agency at the time
MEULTRA was in operationt

Mr. GrTTINGER. Yes. :

Senator INouYe. Thank you. Senator Kennedz.

Senator KenNeDY. 1 want to welcome both of you to the committee.

If we could start with Mr. Goldman. Were you the ﬁroject engineer
for the safe houses in either San Francisco or New Yorkt

___Mr. Goromax. I know of nosafe-house in-San Francised. *

Senator KenNipY. How about in New York?

Mr. GoromaN. I knew of one facility that was established there,

but I didn’t know anything of its operation.

Senstor KeNNEDY. Were you & monitor on any testing of drugs on

unwitting persons in San Francisco! '

Mr. Gooman. No.

Senator KznNEDY. Well, we have a classified document here that was

provided by the Agency that lists your name as a monitor of the pro-
and T would appreciate it if you would look—

Mr. GoromaN. I think the misunderstanding arises because I was

project officer. '

Senator KEnNEDY. Well, would you take a look at that?

[Mr. Goldman wmd the document.]

Mr. GoLDMAN. is document as it states is correct. However,
my—— -

Senator KenNEDY. That document is correct !

Mr. GoromaN. As far as I see on the first page, the project. But .
my—

Senator KnNEDY. Well, could T get it back, please.

That would indicate that you were a monitor of the program.

H;li(f. Gorpxax. I was in charge of disbursing the moneys to Morgan

Senai or KENNEDY. To whom was that :

Mr. GoromaX. To the individual whose name was listed at the top
of that document.

Senator KexNEDY. And you knew that he was running the project
in San Francisco? -

hMr. Goromax. I knew he was the person who was in charge out
" there.

Senator KznnepY. All right.

‘Mr. Goromax. But T had no knowledge nor did 1 seek knowledge of
actually what he was doing, because there would be other things
involved. :

I did receive—

Senator KxnNeDY. What were you doing!

-
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Mr. Goromax. I was collecting—I had to be sure that all the re-
ceipts that ever were turned in balanced with the moneys that were
paid out to see that everything was run all right. There was no illegal
use of funds as far as we could determine by the receipts and cash.

Senator KennepY. So even though the Agency document indicates
that you were a monitor for the program, one of the few monitors of
that particular program which you mentioned for San Francisco and
Mill Valley, Calif., you described your responsibility only as a carrier
of money, 1s that correct ?

Mr. Gouoman. I would say as & disburser or carrying out—seeing
that the moneys were handied properly. There was within that—I
don’('.1 know what’s done or what he did do in conjunction with other
people.

Senator KeNNEDY. Were you responsible for the disbursement of
all the funds? , .

Mr. GoroMman. I was responsible for turning over the check to him.

Senator KExNEDY. And what did you know of the program itself?

Mr. GoromaN. The only thing I knew of the program was what he
furnished us in terms of receipts and that sort of thing. I didn’t in-
dulge or concern myself in that.

Senator KEnxeDY. You still wrote, and I'll let you examine it—
it's a classified document—but you wrote a rather substantive review
of the program in May of 1963, talking about the experiments, the
factual data that had be- n collected, covert and realistic field trials,
about the necessity of those particular—and talked about the effec-
tiveness of the various programs, the efficiency of various delivery
systems. That doesn’t sound to me like someone who is only——

Mr. GowomanN. Well, if you would refresh my memory, if 1 couid
read this I would certainly agree with whatever is said there, if it was
Wl'itten. RN

Senator Kex~EDY. I am trying to gather what your role was. You've
indicated first of all that you didn’t know about—you knew about a
safe house in New York; now we find out that you're the carrier for
the resources as well and the agent in San Francisco. We find out now
that the CIA put you as a monitor. You're testifying that you only were
the courier, and here we have just one document, and there are many
others that talk about the substance of that program with your name
0{1 it and I am just trying to find out exactly what role you were
plaving. .

Mr. Gorpmax. The only thing I can tell you about this and I am
drawing completely on my memory is that this individual who was
in charge out there conducted these things and reported them back to
the Agency. I didn’t participate in any of them. All I know was that he
furnished me with receipts for things that were done and told of the
work that they had done. - '

Senator KENNEnY. Well, that document covers more than receipts.
hMr. GoLoMaN. Yes, it tells of what—they had conducted work out
there. .

Senator Kxnn~epy. It describes, does it not? Read the paragraph 2.

Mr. GorpstaN, “A nnmber of covert”. :

Senator Ken~NEpY. Well, you can’t read it. it’s a classified document,
and I don’t know why, quite frankly, but it relates to the substante
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of those programs and your name is signed to the memorandums on
it. I am not interested in you trying to review for us now what is in the
document, but I think it would be unfortunate if we were left with the
opinion that all you were was a courier of resources when we see a
document with your name or it, signed, that talks about the substance
of the program. And what we're interested in is the substance of the
program. We have the recent documents that were provided by the
Agency, which do indicate that you were at least involved in the
substance, and I'm just trying to find out whether you're willing to
tell us about that. '

Mr. GoLoMaN. I am perfectly willing to tell you everything that
I can remember.

Senator KENNEDY. But you can’t remember anything.

Mr. GoromaN. I can’t remember the substantive parts of these
things, I really can’t.

Senator KenNepy. Of the })ro that was taking place.

Do you have any greater familiarity with what was happening in

Mr. GoroMAN. No, no.

Senator KExNEDY. And you have the same function with regards
to New York#

Mr. GoroMan. The same function with regard to New York.

Senator KenNEDY. Did you ever go to San Francisco? :

Mr. GoLDMAN. Yes.

Senator Kennepy. Did you meet with the agent in charge?

Mr. GoLpMAN. Yes. :

Senator KennEpY. And why did you meet with him®

Mr. Goroman. To discuss some of the receipts and things that were
there to find out if these were indeed true cxpenditures and to find out
fif everything was going along all right for the work that was being

one.

Senator KexnNepy. What work was being done

Mr. GoLomax. No, the reports of these things and whatever was
being done. I don’t know who he reported to but he did report to
somebody.

Senator Kexnevy. You travel out there to find out about the work
that’s being done, and what does he tell you, that the work is being
done well and—— ‘

Mr. Gopman. He told me that the work that they were doing was
going along, progressing satisfactorily, but to be very frank with
you— :

Senator KexNEDY. But he didn’t tell you what the work was?

Mr. GoroMaN. To be very frank with you, Senator, I cannot re-
member the things that happened back in those days. I've been away
from the company—from the Agency for over 10 years, and that is
even farther back than that, and that was just about the time when I
first engaged in this, so it was my first——

Senator Kexnepy. Did they disburse a series of $100 checks, to
your recollection ? - '

Mr. GoromaN. I don’t recollect it, but if you have it there, then
they did. :
~ Senator Kennepy. Did you know Dr. Gottlieb?

Mr. GoLpMaN. Yes.
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Senator Kenneny. How did iou know Dr. Gottlieb?

Mtl;d. GoromaN. He had been head of the division when I was re-
crui

Senator Kenneor. Did you talk to him about these programs? Did
you have anything to do with him during this peried of time?

Mr. GoLpman. I didn’t have anything to do with him until I would
say probably in the sixties. )

Senator Kennror. And can you tell us what you had to do with
him thent . :

Mr. GoLbmAN. Just what you see there on the papers.

Senator KexNepY. Well, that is the request for the money and he
approves it. : .

r. Gorpmax. That is the request for money and he approves it,
and I am quite sure that I probably discussed with him whether the
work was going along all rié:t, whether his reports were being turned
in, and whether he was satisfied with the way things were going
and did h?l .havg :n A %om&hints about gxg wayjtglgherhpeopled were

uesting him, but I did not engage myself in anything he was doing.
enator KeNNepY. Well, did you get the impression that Gottli
knew what was goin%:n!

Mr. Goroman. I didn't ask. -

Senator KENNEDY. But you told him that your impression that what
was going on even though you didn’t know what was going on, was go-
ing on well, I guess? [Laughter.]
hMr. Gomur:g. I {.;ld Gou:ileb w:xﬁt y;lt: s}w in there was th;t the
things a to i right. I was repeating and par-
roﬁ$ bgcpl:‘the wordsg‘t,llxl:.% wggiven to me while I was there. -
lmSen;ttm- Kenneoy. What was the money being spent for, do you

ow :

Mr. Goroman. No; I can’t recall that, sir.

Senator KexNeny. Would you remember if we told you it was red
curtains and can-can pictures——

Mr. GoroMaN. No, gir.

Senator KexNEDY. Floral pictures and the rest.

Mr. GoromaN. No, sir.

Senator KennNEpY. Recorders.

Mr. Goroman. No, sir. :

Senator KexnepY. Recorders and two-way mirrors.

Mr. Goroman. Wait, hold on. You're slipping & word in there now.

Senator Kenneny. But you would have authorized those funds,
would you not, since you were the——

Mr. Goroxax. Did you say two-way mirrors?

Senator KenNEDY. Yes,

Mr. GoroMax. Where? '

Senator KennNrznY. In the safe houses.

Mr. GoLoMaN. Where!

Senator KennepY. San Francisco.

Mr. Gorpaan. No.

Senator Kenneoy. How about New York? )

Mr. Goroman. Yes. .

Senator Kenneny. You remember now that you approved expendi-
tures for New York? .
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Mr. GoLpMaN. Yes,

Senator KenNEDY. What were those expenditures for? )

Mr. GoromaN. That was a transfer of money over for the use in
:.lxlx apartment in New York by the Bureau of Narcotics. It was for

eir use.

Senator KenneoY. Do you have any knowledge of what was going
on in the apartment {

Mr. GoLomaN. No, sir, other than I know that it had been used, ac-
cording to the information that I have been given, it was used by the
Bureau of Narcotics to make meetings with individuals who they were
interested in with regard to pushing dope—not pushing dope, but sell-
mg::rcotxcs and that sort of thing.

ator KexNEDY. Well, I am sure you had many responsibilities and
it’s a long time ago, but the Agency does indicate that you were project
monitor for that particular program. -

Mr. GopxaN. That’s correct. , .

Senator KENNEDY. Your own testimony indicates you went out to re-
view the expenditures of funds to find out whether they were being
wisely used, that you came back and talked to the project director, Mr.
t(;‘;ott; ieb, to give him a progress report about what was going on out

ere.

Mr. GorLoxaN. Yes, sir, I did.

Senator Kexnepy. All those things are true, and yet you draw a
complete blank in terms of what was the project itself. That’s where
the record is now. .

Mr. Goromax. I did not go out there to review the projects nor did
I come back and talk with Mr. Gottlieb and review what I had observed
in terms of any projects that they—that is, other parts of the Agency
might have in operation there. I simply reported back those things
which were told to me by the individual out there who—and I carried
them back and they are contained in the report that you have in front
of you, word for word, just as it was given to me.

Senator KeNNepY. The report that you examined here is a substan-
tive report on the particular program and project. And I don’t think
anyone who wasn’t familiar with the project—this is a personal evalu-
ation—could write a report on the substance of it without knowing
about it. Now, that’s mine. Maybe you can’t remember and recollect,
and that’s— ' .

Mr. Goroman. No; everything I put down in there is things that I
was told while I was out there, and if there was any ancillary informa-
::lion ’tihnvolved in there I can tell you I just dor’t remember that. I really

on . .

At the time—that was some years ago. At the time—a lot of time has
passed since then and I have made quite sure that if I could recollect it
at all, I would do it. If you have some papers and you want me to cer-
tify wtl;euther yes, this is so or that is so, I can do that, but I can’t recall
it men . : ’

S:nitory Kexnepy. You just certified the principal. There are others
up here. .

I would like to go to Dr. Gittinger.

- Mr. GrrriNger. It’s Mr. Gxttm(ﬁer. ‘ ‘
Senator Kenneoy. How long did you serve with the Agency?
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Mr. GrrriNgER. Twenty-six years.

Senator KenNepY. Excuse me

Mr. GrrrInGeR. Twenty-six years.,

Senator KenNepY. Twenty-six years. .

And at some point you moved into the operational support side, is
that correct

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes.

Senator KeNNeDY. And did you know Sidney Gottlieb?

Mr. GrrriNGeR. Yes, sir. .

Senator Kzn~NepY. And did he inform you about the research proj-
ects involving LSD1

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes, sir.

Senator KznNepY. It is my understanding that you were also aware
of some of the drug testing projects conducted on unwitting subjects
on the west coast using the Bureau of Narcotics people in the operation.
Is that truet

Mr. GrrrINGER. I was. ’ :

Senator InouyE. Excuse me. Would you speak into the microphone !
T cannot hear you. . '

Mr. GrrTINGER. SorTy. )

Se;mtor KexnNeoy. Do you know which drugs were involved in those
tests

Mr. Grrrivaer. LSD. And I can’t remember for sure much of the
others. What is the substance of marihuana, cannabis, is that right, that
can be delivered by other than smoking {

Senator Kennepy. Cannabist

Mr. Grrrincer. There had been some discussion of that; yes.

~ Senator KENNEDY. And was heroin also used ?

Mr. Grrrixcer. Heroin used by CIA ¢

Senator KExNeDY. No. In the west coast operation.

Mr. Grrringer. Absolutely not.

Senator Kennepy. Now, to gour knowledge, how were the drugs ad-
ministered to the unwitting subjects

Mr. Grrringer. I have no direct knowledge.

Senator Kexneoy. Why did you go to the safe houses?

Mr. GrrriNeer. It's a very complicated story. Just in justification of
myself, this came up just day befor:dyesterday. I have not really had
enough time to get it all straightened in my mind, so I ramble.

Senator KExNEDY. Well, you take your time and tell us in your own
words. We’ve got some time here.

Mr. Grrringer, My responsibilities which would involve any of the
period of time that you were talking about really was not directly
related to drugs at all. I was a peycho ogist charged with the responsi-
bility of trying to develop as much information as I could on various
cultures, overseas ‘cultures, anthropological type data, if you follow
what I mean. I was also engaged in trying to work out ways and means
of assessing people and understanding people. '

I originally e involved in this through working -on Chinese
culture, and over a series of time I was introduced to the problem of

brainwashing, which is the thing that really was the most compelling
thing in relationship to this, and became charged with the responsi-
bility of trying to find out a little bit about interrogation techniques.
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And among other things, we decided or I decided that one of the best
sources of Interrogation techniques would be trying to locate and inter-
view and become involved with experienced police interrogators in
the country and experienced people who had real practical knowledge
of interrogation. The reason for this is that we had become pretty weil
convinced after the experience of the brainwashing problems coming
out of China, that it was the techniques of the interrogators that were
causing the individuals to make confessions and so forth in relationship
to this, rather than any kind of drugg’mg and so forth. So we were
very, much interested in interrogation techniques, and this led to me
being introduced to the agent in the west coast, and I began to talk to
him in connection with these interrogation techniques.

Senator Kznvepy. OK. Now, that is the agent that ran the tests
on the west coast on the unwitting people. That's where you come in,

' correct !

Mr. GrrriNoer. If T understand—would you say that again?

Senator Kennepy. The name Morgan Hall has been—that is the
name that has been used. :

Mr. GrTTINGER. Yes.

Senator KENNEDY. And that is the agent that you met with.

Mr. Grrringer. That is right.

Senator KEXNEDY. And you met at the safe house.

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes, sir.

Senator KExNEDY. Whom did you meet with in the safe house?

Mr. Grrrinoer. This is the part that is hard for me to say, and I am
sorry that I have to. In connection with some work that we were
doing, we needed to have some information on sexual habits, Morgan
Hall provided informants for me to talk to in connection with the sex
habits that I was interested in trying to find information. During one
period of time the safe house, as far as I was concerned, was used for
just these particular type of interviews. And I didn't see the red
curtains.

Senator KENNEDY. Those were prostitutes, were they?

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes, sir.

Senator Kzx~eny. How many different times were you there that
you had similar—

Mr. Grrringer. I couldn’t possibly say with any certainty on that.
Four or five times. :

Senator Kexxepy. Four or five times.

Mr. GrrriNaer. Over—you remember now, the period that I'm talk-
ing about when I would have any involvement in this is from about
1956 to 1961. So it’s about a 4- or 5-year period which is the only time
that T know anything about what you are talking about here today.

Senator KennNeny. Did Morgan Hall make the arrangements for
the prostitutes to meet with you?

Mr. GrrriNcer. Yes, sir.

Senator Kenneny. Did the interviews that you had have anything to
do with drugs?

Mr. Grrrinoer. Well, as T tried to explain earlier when this was
being discussed a little bit beforehand, again 1 think it is pretty hard
for most people riow to recognize how little there was known about

. drugs at the period of time that we are talking about, because the
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drug aior the drug culture comes later on. Consequently, those of
us who had any responsibility in this area were interested in trying to

t as much information as we could on the subculture, the subculture

rug groups, and obviously the Bureau of Narcotics represented &
means of doing this. Consequently, other types of things that were
involved in discussions at that time would have to do with the under-
%:'ound use of drugs. When 1 am talking about this I am talking about
the folkways in terms of unwitting use of d Did these people that
I was talking to have any information about tﬁis and on rare instances
they were able to tell me about their use, and in most cases this would
largely turn out to be a Mickey Finn or something of that sort rather
than anything esoteric.

I also was very much interested because we had relatively little
information, believe it or not, at that time, in terms of the various
reactions that people were having to drugs. Therefore, these people
were very informative in terms of they knew a great deal of informa-
tion about reactions.

Senator KExxepy. At least you gathered—or am I correct in assum-
inﬁ(that you gathered the impression that the prostitutes that you had
talked to were able to slip the drugs to people as I understand it. Dic
you form any impression cn that ? .

Mr. GrrriNger. I certainly did not form the impression that they
did this as a rule or——

Senator Kexxepy. But they had the knowledge.

Mr. Grrringer. They had the knowledge or some of them had had
Imowledge of this being done. But again, as it turned out, it was largely
in this area of knockout drops.

Senator Kex~eny. Looking back now did you form any impression
about how the Agency was actua‘I‘l’y testing the broad spectrum of social
classes in these safe houses! With the large disbursal of cash in
small quantities,-$100 bills and the kinds of elaborate decorations and
two-way mirrors in the bedrooms and all the rest, is there any question
in your own mind what was going on in the safe houses, or the tech-
niques that were being used to administer these druﬁ! ) )

{r. Grrriveer. 1 find it very difficult to answer that question, sir. I
had absolutely no direct knowledge there was a large number of this. I
had no knowledge that anyone other than—than Morgan Hall was in
any way involved in the unwitting administration of drugs.

nator KexNeDT. But Gottlieb would know, would he not? -

Mr. Grrriveer. I believe so, yes, sir.

Senator Kexvepy. Could we go into the Human Ecology Founda-
tion and talk about that and how it was used as an instrument in terms

of the support of research

Mr. GrrrINGER. Yes, sir. )

Senator Ken~eny. Could you describe it to us? Could you describe
the Human Ecologﬁ'Foundation, how it functioned and how it worked !

Mr. Grrrizaer. May I tell something about how it evolved, which I
think is important? .

Senator NEDY. Sure.

Mr. Grrrinaer. The Society for the Investigation of Human Ecol-

ogy, so-called, was actually a—I am confused here now as to whether

I should name you names.
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Senator KexxepY. Well, we're not interested in names or institu- |

tions, so. we prefer that you do not. That has to be worked out in
arrangements between Admiral Turner and the individuals and the
institutions.

But we’re interested in what the Foundation really was and how it
functioned and what its purpose was.

Mr. GrrringeR. Well, it was established to undertake research in the
general area of the behavioral sciences. It definitely had almost no
focus or interest in, say, drug-related type of activities except in & very
minor way, because it was larﬁlgr set up to attempt to gain a certain
amount of information and to fund projects which were psychological,
sociological, anthropological in character. It was established in the
sense of a period of time that a lot of us who are in it wish we could
do it over again, but we were interested in trying to get together a panel

of the most representative high-level behavioral scientists we could to -
e

oversee and help in terms of developing the Society for the Investiga-
tion of Human Ecology type of program. .

The cy in effect provided the money. They did not direct the
projects. Now, the fact of the matter is, there are a lot of innocent Peo—
ple who received the Society for the Iv.vestigation of Human Ecology
money which I know for a fact they were never asked to do anything
for the CIA but they did get through this indirectly. They had no
knowledge that they were getting money. : '

Senator KennepY. Over what period of time did this take place?

Mr. GrrrINGeR. As far as I was concerned, it was the period of time
ending in 1961. I believe the Human Ecology fund finally phased out
in 1965, but I was not involved in this &hasipg out. v

Senator KenNEDY. Can you give the of the different sort of
individual projects of the universities in which it wasactive? .

Mr. Grrringer. Well, it would have as many as—I am very fuzzy
on my memory on the number of projects. It is over 10, 20, 30.

Senator KENNEDY. A fter it made the grants, what was the relation-
ship of the Agency with the results of the studiest The Foundation
acquired the money to make the grants from the Agency, and then it
made the grants to these various research programs.

- Mr. GrrrIngER. Yes, sir. . '

Senator Kennepy. And that included eight universities as well as
individual researcherst .

Mr. GrrrINGER. Yes, gir. -

Senator KznNEDY. Then what follow-up was there to that, sirt
. Mr. GrrriNger. Well, in every sense of the word, the organization
was run exactly like any other foundation, and it carried with it the
same thing in terms of making certain that the people that they had
given money to used it for the purpose for which it had been granted,
that they had access to any of the reports that they had put out, but

~ there were no strings attached to anybody. There wasn't any reason

thev couldn’t publish anvthing that thev put out."
Senator KxnNEpY. What sort of budget are we talking about heref
Mr. Grrrinaer. I honestly do not remember. I would guess we are

talking in the realm of about $150,000 a year, but don’t hold me to that, -

because I don’t know.
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Senstor KenNepY. What is your view about such funding s a pro-
fgsno:_u; person, in terms of compromising the integrity of a univer-
31 [ m .

Mr. Grrrveer. Well, obviously, sir, insofar as today there is no

uestion about it. I will have to say at the time that we were doing this
there was quite an entirely different kind of an attitude, and I do
know for a fact that we moved to start towards phasing out the So-
ciety for the Investigation of Human Ecology and the Human Ecol-
ogy Fund for the very reason that we were beginning to recognize that
it was moving into an area but this would be compromised.

Senator KennepY. Well, that is commendable, both your attitude
and the reasons for it, but during that period of time it still was in-
volved in behavior research programs, as I understand it. .

Mr. Grrringer. Yes, sir. On its own, in connection with this, it
participated again, and these again were not CIA-directed projects,
but these were all things which would theoretically contribute to the
general knowledge at the time where the things like the study of the
Hungarian refugees—obviously, the study of the Hungarian refugees
who came to this country after the Hungarian revolt was a very use-
ful exercise to try to get information about the personality character-
istics of the Communists and so forth. .

Senator KENNEDY, Were there other foundations that were doing
similar kinds of work{ :

Mr. Grrrivaer. Not to my knowledge, sir. -

Senator KexnEDY. You believe——

Mr. Grrrivger. You mean, CTA, other CTIA ¢

Senator KexnepY. Right. . y

Mr. Grrrinaer. Well, my answer is in the sense that I know of no
other CIA foundations, no. There were, of course, other foundations
doing similar kinds of work in the United States.

~ Senator Kennepy. Have you heard of the Psychological Assess-
ments Foundation !

Mr. GrrTINGER. I certainly have.

Senator KexnNepy. What was that? What function did that have!

Mr. Grrringer. Now, this was bringing us up to a different era. I
believe the functions of that orzanization have nothing whatsoever
to do with the things that are being talked about here while I was
associated with it.

Senator KEnNEpY. Rather than getting into the work, it was another
zo:endat%on, was it not? It was another foundation supported by the

ncy :

Mr. Grrrrweer. What, the Psychological Assessment?

Senator KennepY. Yes.

Mr. Grrrineer. No, sir, it was not.

AL ,tgr Kexweoy. It did not get any support at all from the
genc '

& Mr. Grrrinaer. Oh, yes, sir. It did get support, but it was a business
m. .

Senator KexnNeDY. It was a business but it got support from the
Agency? G o ,

Mr. Grrringer. It got money from it, but it definitely was not in

MEKULTRA or in any way associated with this.

-



61

Senator KennNepY. All right. I want to thank you for your helpful
testimony, Mr. Gittinger. It is not easy to go back into the past. I
think you have been very fair in your characterizations, and I think
it is quite appropriately indicated that there are different standards
now from what they were 25 years ago, and I think you have responded
very fairly and completely to the inquiries, and I think with a good
deal of feeling about it.

You are a person who is obviously attempting to serve the country’s
interest, so I want to thank you very much for your statement and
for your helpful timeliness.

Mr. GrrriNger. Thank you, sir.

Senator INouYE. Senator Case?

Senator Case. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am sorry that I had
another committee that I had to complete the hearing with this morn-
ing before I got here. ) .

§ shall the testimony with very great interest, and I appreci-
ate your testimony as I have heard it. I would like to comment just on
one point, and that is, it relates to a story in the press yesterday about
part of this program involving the funding of a grant at a forelgin
university. I would like to elicit from you a comment as o the addi-
tional sensitivity and difficulty that that practice involves from your
- standpoint as a scientist, as well as a citizen, if you will.

Mr. Grrrinoer. I will say it was after the fact thinking. It was utter
stupidity the way things worked out to have used some of this money
outside the United States when it was CIA money. I can categorically
state to my knowledge and I don’t claim a complete knowledge all the
way across of the human ecology functions, but to my knowledge, and
this is unfortunate, those people did not know that they were getting
money from CIA, and they were not asked to contribute anything to
CIA as such. . :

Senator Case. It would be interesting to try to examine this by turn-
ing the thing around and thinking what we would think if this hap-
pened from a foreign official agency to our own university. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. .

Senator INoUYE. Senator Schweiker.

Senator Scaweiker. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. -

Dr. Goldman, I wonder if you would tell us what your training and
educational background is?

Dr. GoLoMAN. I have already given a biography for the record.

Senator ScHwWEIKER. I have not seen it. Who has it? Is it classified ?
We may have it for the record, but may I ask you to briefly describe
your training and background for us now? I hope it is no secret. '

Dr. GoLpyaN. Well, I was told if I was asked this to say that. I was
told that by your staff ]i:eople, but I have no objection to telling m
I am a resident from Pennsylvania, southwest Pennsylvania, -
caster County. I went to Penn State, and I am in nutrition.

Senator ScEWEIKER. In what ?

Dr. GoLoman. Nutrition.

Senator Scnweiker. Were you in charge of a section or segment of
the CIA in your past capacity ! .

. Dr. GoroMax. During the time I was with that organization, I was
in charge of one small section of it, one small segment of it; yes.
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Senator ScHwEIEER. What was the function or purpose of that sec-
tion that you headed? .

Dr. GoLomaN. To provide support for the other parts of the division.

Senator Scaweixer. Where in the chain of command would that put
you in relation to Dr. Gottliebt )

Dr. GoLbMaN. Pretty far down the line.

Senator SCHWEIKER. Mr. Gittinger, I would just like to ask you a
few questions. We appreciate your frankness and candor with the com-
mittee, and we realize this is'a very difficult ares to go into. I am not
quite clear on two matters that were raised earlier. First, were the safe
houses we were talking about here used on occasion by the prostitutes
you referred tot .

Mr. GITTINGER. I really have not the slightest idea. )

Senator Scaweiker. Were the prostitutes used in any way to slip
the customers druﬁ for obeervation purposes{

Mr. GrrTiNGER. Not to my direct knowledge. ‘
~ Senator Scuweixer. Would you have been in a position to know the
answer to either of these questions? .

Mr. Grrrinces. May I say, probably not, and may I make an aside
to expiain a little bit of this, please, sir? .

Senator Scuwerker. Mr. Gittinger, a moment ‘fo you mentioned
brainwashing iques, as one area that you had, I guess, done some
work in. How woul m characterize the state of the art of brain-
washing today? Who has the most expertise in this field, and who is
or is not doing it in terms of other governments{ L

Duri:gxgm Korean war there was & lot of serious discussion about
brainwashing techniques being used by the North Koreans, and I am
interested in finding out what the state of the art is today, as you see it.

Mr. Grrrinaer, Well, of course, there hag been.a deal of work
on this, and there is still a great deal of controversy. I can tell you that
as far as I knew, by 1961, 1962, it was at least proven to'my satis-
faction that brainwashing, so called, is some kind of an esoteric device
where drugs or mind-altering kinds of conditions and so forth were
used, did not exist even though “The Manchurian Candidate” as a
movie really set us back s long time, because it made something im-
possible look plausible. Do you follow what I mean? But by 1962 and
1963, the general idea that we were able to come up with is that brain-
washing was largely a process of isolating a human being, keeping
him out of contact, putting him under long stress in relationship to
interviewing and interrogation, and that they could produce auy
change that' way without having to resort to'any: kind of esoturic
means.

Senator SCHWEIEER, Are there ways that we can ascertain this from

& distance’when we seé & captive prisoner either go on. television, in

a photograph, or at a press conference? In other words, are there cer-
tain signs that you have learned:to recognize from your technical
background, to tell when brainwashing has occurred? Or is that very
difficulttodo? 4 . ; .

Mr. Grrriveer. It is difficult to do. I think it is posible now in terms
of looking at.a picture of somebody who hasbeen in enemy hands for
a long period of time. We can get some pretty good ideas of what kind
of circumstances he has been under, if that is what you mean.
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Senator SCHWEIKER, That is all I have, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Senator INouYe. Thank you very much.

Before adjourning the heari I would like to have the record
show that Dr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger have voluntarily cooperated
with the committee in staff interviews, that they appear this morning
voluntarily, and they are not under subpena.

Gentlemen, I realize that this experience may have been an unhaplz
one and possibly a painful ore. Therefore, we thank you very mu
for participating this morning. We also realize that the circumstances
of that time differed very much from this day, and possibly the na-
tional attitude, the national political attitude condoned this type of
activity. So, we have not asked you to come here as persons who have
committed crimes, but rather in Kope that you can assist us in studying
this problem so that it will not occur once again. In that spirit we
thank you for your participation, and we look forward to working
with you further in this case.

Thank you very much. '

Senator KENNEDY. Mr. Chairman, I would like also to thank the
witnessos.ful These are difficult matters, and I think all of us are very
gmsteenator Scuwerkee. I think the witnesses should know that though
it may not always seem that way, what we are trying to do is to pro
the past and look at the policies of the past to affect the future. I think
our emphasis really is on the future, not the past, but it is important
that we learn from the past as we formulate policies and legislation
for the future, I hopa that all of the witnesses who did come before us
voluntarily this morning, including Admiral Turner respect the fact
that we are (Luwtionin the past to learn about the future. I think it
should be looked at in that light.

Senator KENNEDY. I think that is the spirit in which we have had
these hearings. It seems to me that from both these witnesses and
others, Gottlieb knows the information and can best respond, and we
are gomﬁ.to make every effort in the Senate Health Committee to get
Mr. Gottlieb to appear, and we obviously look forward to cooperating
with Senator Inouye and the other members of the committee in get-
ting the final chapter written on this, but we want to thank you very
much for your appearance here.

Senator INoUYE. The hearing will stand in recess, subject to the call
of the Chair.

ereupon, at 12:12 p.m., the hearing was recessed, subject to the

call of the Chair.]
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APPENDIX A

XVII. TESTING AND USE OF CHEMICAL AND BIOLOGI-
CAL AGENTS BY THE INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY

Under its mandate * the Select Committee has studied the testing and
use of chemical and biological agents by intelligence agencies. Detailed
descriptions of the programs conducted by intelligence agencies in-
volving chemical and biological agents will be included in a separately
published appendix to the Senate Select Committee’s report. This sec-
tion of the report will discuss the rationale for the programs, their
monitoring and control, and what the Committee’s investigation has
revealed about the relationships among the intelligence agencies and
about their relations with other govermment agencies and private in-
stitutions and individuals.? _

Fears that countries houcile to the United States would use chemi-
cal and biological agents against Americans or America’s allies led
to the development of a defensive program designed to discover tech-
niques for American intelligence agencies to detect and counteract
chemical and biological agents. The defensive orientation soon became
secondary as the possible use of these agents to obtain information
from, or gain control over, enemy agents e apparent.

Research and development programs to find materials which could
be used to alter human behavior were initiated in the late 1940s and
early 1950s. These experimental programs originally included testing
of drugs involving witting human subjects, and culminated in tests
using unwitting, nonvolunteer human subjects. These tests were de-
signed to determine the potential effects of chemical or biological
agents when used operationally against individuals unaware that they
e e teoting P dered highl by the i

e testing programs were considered highly sensitive by the in-
telligence agencies administering them. Fewgpeople, even within the
agencies, knew of the pro and there is no evidence that either
the executive branch or Congress were ever informed ‘of them. The
highly compartmented nature of these programs may be explained in
part by an observation made by the CIA Inspector General that, “the
kmowledge that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activi-

! Senate Resolution 21 directs the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence
Activities to investigate & number of issues:

“(a) Whether agencies within the intelligence community conducted illegal
domestic activities (Section 2(1) and (2)) ;

“(b) The extent to which agencies within the intelligence community cooper-
ate (Section 2(4) and (8));

“(c) The adequacy of executive branch and congressional oversight of intel-
ligence activities (Section 2(7) and (11));

“(d) The adequacy of existing laws to safeguard the rights of American citi-
zens (Section 2(18)).” ‘

* The details of these programs may never be known. The programs were highly
compartmented. Few records were kept. What little documentation existed for
the CIA’s principal program was destroyed early in 1973.

(385)
(5)
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ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic circles
and would be detrimental to the accomplishment of its missions.” *

The research and development program, and particularly the co-
vert testing programs, resulted in massive abridgments of the rights
of American citizens, sometimes with trajric consequences. The deaths
of two Americans * can be attributed to these pro ; other partici-
pants in the testing pro, may still suffer from the residual ef-
fects. While some controlled testing of these substances might be de-
fended, the nature of the tests, their scale, and the fact that they were
continued for years after the danger of surreptitious administration
of LSD to unwitting individuals was known, demonstrate a funda-
mental disregard for the value of human life, . '

The Select Committee’s investigation of the testing and use of chem-
ical and biological agents also raise serious questions about the ade-
quacy ¢ command and control procedures within the Central Intelli-
gence Agency and military intelligence, and about the relationships
among the intelligence agencies, other governmental agencies, and
private institutions and individuals. The CIA’s normal administrative
controls were waived for programs involving chemical and biological
agents to protect. their security. According to the head of the Audit
Branch ¢t the CIA. these” waivers produced “gross administrative
failures.” Thel)."rrevcnted the CIA’s internal review mechanisms (the
Office of General Counsel, the Inspector General, and the Audit Staff)
from adequately supervising the programs. In general, the waivers had
the paradoxical effect of providing less restrictive administrative con-
trols and less effective internal review for controversial and highly
sensitive projects than those governing normal Agency activities.

The security of the programs was protected not only by waivers
of normal administrative controls, but also by a high degree of com-
partmentation within the CIA. This compartmentation excluded the
CIA’s Medical Staff from the principal research and testing program
employing chemical and biological agents. )

t also may have led to aiency policymakers receiving diﬁenﬁf
and inconsistent responses when they posed questions to the C
component involved. '

Jurisdictional uncertainty within the CIA was matched by juris-
dictional conflict among the various intelligence agencies. A spirit of
cooperation and reciprocal exchanges of information which initially
characterized the programs disappeared. Military testers withheld in-
formation from the CIA, ignorinf suggestions for coordination from

y failed to Eg)vide information to
the military on the CIA’s testing program. This failure to cooperate
was conspicuously manifested in an attempt by the Army to conceal

3 CIA Inspector General's Survey of TSD, 1957, p. 217.

 On January 8, 1953. Mr. Harold Blauer died of circulatory collapse and heart
failure following an intravenous injection of a synthetic mescaline derivative
while a subject of tests conducted by New York State Psychiatric Institute under
a contract let by the U.S. Army Chemical Corps. The Committee's investigation
into drug testing by U.S. intelligence agencies focused on the testing of LSD, how-
ever, the committée did receive a copy of the U.S. Army Inspector General's
Report, issued on October 1975, on the events and circumstances of Mr. Blager’s
death. His death was directly atributable to the administration of the synthetic
mescaline derivative.
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their overseas testing program, which included surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD, from the CIA. Learning of the Army’s program,
the Agency surreptitiously attempted to obtain details of it.
The-decision to institute one of the Army’s LSD field testing projects
had been based, at least in part, on the finding that no long-term resid-
ual effects ever ted from the drug’s administration. The
CIA’s failure to inform the Army of a death which resulted from the
surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting Americans, may well
have resulted in the institution of an unnecessary and potentially lethal

ro : . )
p~ 'Igo development, testing, and use of cheinical and biological agents
by intelligence cies raises serious questions about the relationship
between the intelligence community and foreign governments, other
ies of the Federal Government, and other institutions and in-
dividuals. The questions raised range from the legitimacy of American .
complicity in actions abroad which violate American and foreign laws
to the possible compromise of the integrity of public and private insti-
tutions used as cover by intelligence agencies. ,

A. Tue ProGgraMs var-:mouzb

1. Project CHATTER

Project CHATTER was a Navy program that began in the fall of
1947. Responding to reports of “amazing results” achieved by the .
Soviets in using “truth drugs,” the program focused on the identifica-
tion and testing of. such drugs for use in interrogations and in the
recruitment of agents. The research included laboratory experiments
on animals and hum::; subjects involving Anabasis aphylla, scopola-
mine, and riescaline in: order to determine their speech-inducing quali-
ties. Overseas experiments were conducted as part. of the pr%ect. -

The project expanded substantially during the Korean War, and
ended shortly after the war, in 1953. . _

2. Project BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE

The "earliest of the CIA’s major p involving the use of
.chemical and biological ts, Project BLUEBIRD, was approved by
the Director in 1950. Its objectives were:

(a) discovering means of conditioning personnel to prevent
unauthorized extraction of information gom them by known
means, (b) investigating the possibility of control of an in-
dividual by application of special interrogation technig-ies,
(c) memory enhancement, and (d) estalmhmg defensive
means for preventing hostile control of Agency personnel.*

As a result of interrogations conducted overseas during the project,
another goal was added—the evaluation of offensive uses of unconven-
tional mhem:gmon. techniques,. includin’g hypnosis and drugs. In .
‘Au 1951, the project was renamed AR' IC{-FOKE. Project ARTI-
CHOKE included in-house experiments on interrogation techniques,
conducted “under medical and security controls whick would ensure

2/;?/11%. memorandum to the Select Committee, “Behavioral Drugs and Testing,”
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that no damage was done to individuals who volunteer for the experi- -

ments.”* Overseas interrogations utilizing a combination of sodium
pentothal and hypnosis after physical and %chiatric examinations of
the subjects were also part of ARTICHOKE. ‘

The Office of Scientific Intelligence (OSI), which studied scientific
advances by hostile powers, mms itially led BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE
efforts. In 1952, overall responsibility for ARTICHOKE was trans-
ferred from OSI to the Inspection and Security Office (1&SO), pre-
decessor to the present Office of Security. The 's Technical Serv-
ices and Medical Staffs were to be called upon as needed ; OSI would
retain liaison function with other government agencies.® The change
in leadership from an intelligence unit to an operating unit appar-
ently reflected a change in emphasis; from the study of actions by
hostile powers to the use, both for offensive and defensive purposes,

- of special interrogation techniques—primarily hypnosis and truth

serums.

Representatives from each Agency unit involved in ARTICHOKE

met almost monthly to discuss their progress. These discussions in-
cluded the planning of overseas interrogations® as well as further
experimentation in the U.S.
. Information about project ARTICHOKE after the fall of 1953
is scarce. The CIA maintains that the project ended in 1956, but evi-
dence suggests that Office of Security and Office of Medical Services
u;e of f‘t‘:pecial interrogation” techniques continued for several years
theresfter.

3. MKENAOMI

MEKNAOMI was another major CIA pmmm in this area. In 1967,
the CIA summarized the purposes of MKNAOMI:

_ (a) To provide for a covert support base to meet clandes-
tine operational requirements. ‘ '

(b) To stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal ma-
terials for tae specific use of TSD [Technical Services Di-
vision]. :

(c) To maintain in operational readiness special and unique
‘gexpsh.for the dissemination of biological and chemical ma-

ria . -

(d) To provide for the required surveillance, testing, up-

ing, and evaluation of materials and items in order to

assure absence of defects and complete predictability of re-

- sults to be expected under operational conditions.®

Under dn agreement reached with the Army in 1952, the Special
Operations Division (SOD) at- Fort Detrick was to assist CIA in
developing, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery

f Memorandum from Robert Tavior, O/DD/P tn the Assistant Deputy (In-
spection and Security) and Chief of the Medical Staff, 3/22/52.

* Memorandnm from H. Marshall Chadwel!, Assistant Director. Scientific Intel-
ligence, to the Deputy Director/Plans (DDP) “Pmiect ARTICHOKE,” 8/29/52.

! “Progress Report, Project ARTICHOKE.” 1/12/53. *

* Memorandum from Chief, TSD/Biological Branch to Chief. TSD “MRKNAOMI :
Funding. Ohiectives, snd Aconmnlichmante.” 10/18/87. p. 1. For a fuller descrip-
tion of MKNAOMI and the relationship between CIA and SOD. see p. 360 f1.
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?stzms. By this agreement, CIA acquired the knowledge, skill, and
acilities of the Army to develop biological weapons suited for CIA
use.

SOD deverl:]ped darts coated with biological agents and pills con-
taining several diff*rent biological agents which could remain potent
for weeks or months. SOD also developed a ial gun for firing
darts coated with a chemical which could allow cﬁc agents to incapaci-
tate a guard dog, enter an installation secretly, and return the dog to
conscicusness when leaving. SOD scientists were unable to develop
a similar incapacitant for humans. SOD also physically transferred
to CIA personnel biological agents in “bulk” form, and delivery
devices, including some containing biological agents.

In addition to the CIA’s interest in biological weapons for use
against humans, it also asked SOD ta study use of biological agents
against crops and animals. In its 1967 memorandum, the stated :

Three methods end systems for carrying out a covert attack
against crops and causing severe crop ﬁ)ss have been devel-
oYed and evaluated under field conditions. This was accom-

g ished in anticipation of a requirement which was later
eveloped .but was subsequently scrubbed just prior to put- -
ting into action.’ '

< MEXNAOMI was terminated in 1970. On November 25, 1969, Presi-

dent Nixon renounced the use of any form of biological weapons that
kill or incapacitate and ordered the disposal of existing stocks of bac-
teriological weapons. On February 14, 1970, the President clarified the
extent of his earlier order and indicated that toxins—chemicals that
are not living organisms but are produced by living organisms—ere
considered biological weapons subject to his previous directive and
were to be destroyed. Although instructed to relinquish control of
material held for the CIA by SOD, a CIA scientist acquired approxi-
mately 11 grams of shellfish toxin from SOD personnel at Fort De-
trick which were stored in a little-used CIA laboratory where it went
undetected for five years.»

4. MKULTRA

MEKULTRA was the principal CIA program involving the research
and development of chemical and biological agents. It was “con-
cerned with the research and development of chemical, biological, and
radiological materials. cagable of employment in clandestine oper-
ations to control human behavior.” 1 ' '

In January 1973, MKULTRA records were destroyed by Technical
Services Division personnel acting on the verbal orders of Dr. Sidney
Gottlieb, Chief of TSD. Dr. Gottlieb has testified, and former Direc-
tor Helms has confirmed, that in ordering the records destroved, Dr.
Gottlieb was carrying out the verbal order of then DCI Helms.

MKULTRA began with a Hproposnl from the Assistant Deputy
Director for Plans, Richard Helms, to the DCI, outlining a special

= Idid. p. 2. .
¥ Senate Select Committee, 9/16/75, Hearings, Ve. 1.
2 Memorandum from the CIA Inspector General to the Director, 7/28/63.
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funding mechanism for highly sensitive CIA research and develop-
ment projects that studied the use of biological and chemical materials
in altering human behavior. The projects involved :

Research to develop a capability in the covert use of bio-
logical and chemical materials, This area involves the produc-
tion of various physiological conditions which could support
present or future clandestine operations. Aside from the of-
fensive potential, the development of a comprehensive capa-
bility in this field of covert chemical and biological warfare
gives us a thorough knowledge of the enemy’s theoretical
potential, thus enabling us to defend ourselves against a foe
who might not be as restrained in the use of these tech-
niques as we are.!* :

MEKULTRA -was approved by the DCI on April 13, 1953 along the
lines proposed by ADDP Helms. )

Part of the rationale, for the establishment of this special fund-
ing mechanism was its extreme sersitivity. The Inspector General’s
survey of MKULTRA in 1963 noted the following reasons for this
sensitivity : ) '

a. [itzearch in the maiipulation of human behavior is con-
sidered by man-, acthorities in medicine and related fields
to be profession:ily unethical, therefore the reputation of
professional participants in the MKULTRA program are on
occasion in jenpardy. . )

b. Some MKETLTRA activities raise questions of legelity .
implicit in the original charter. ~

.c. A final phase of the testing of MKULTRA products
places the rights and interests of U.S. citizens in jeopardy.
_d. Public disclosure of some aspects of MKULTRA activ-
ity could induce serious adverse reaction in U.S. public
opinion. as well as stimulate offensive and defensive action
in this field on the part of foreign intelligence services.!*

Over the ten-year life of the program, many “additional avenues to
the control of human behavior” were designated as appropriate for
investigation under the MKTULTRA charter. These include “radiation,
electroshock, various fields of psychology, psychiatry, sociology. and
anthropology, graphology, harassment substances, and paramilitary
devices and materials.” ¢

The rescarch and development of materials to be used for altering.
" human behavior consisted of three phases: first, the search for ma-
~ terials suitable for study: second. laboratory testing on voluntary

human subiects in various types of institutions; third, the application
of MKULTRA materials in normal life settings.

The search for suitable materials was conducted through standing
arranezements with specialists in universities, pharmaceutical houses,

“hospitals. state and federal institutions, and private research organi-

¥ Memorandum from ADDP Helms to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab A, pp. 1-2.
»1G. l;ex;ort on MEULTRA, 1833, pp. 1-2. ' '
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zations. The annual grants of funds to these specialists were made
under ostensible research foundation auspices, thereby concealing the
CIA’s interest from the specialist’s institution.

The next phase of the MKULTRA program involved physicians,
toxicologists, and other specialists in mental, narcotics, and general
hospitals, and in prisons. Utilizing the products and findings of the
basic research phase, they conducted intensive tests on human subjects.

" One of the first studies was conducted by the National Institute of
Mental Health. This studv was intended to test various drugs. inclnd-
ing hallucinogenics, at the NIMH Addiction Research Center in Lex-
ington, Kentucky. The “Lexington Rehabilitation Center,” as it was
then called, was a prison for drug addicts serving sentences for drug
violations. '

The test subijects were volunteer prisoners who, after taking a brief
physical examination and signing a general consent form, were admin-
istered hallucinogenic drugs. As a reward for participation in the
program, the addicts were provided with the drug of their addiction.

LSD was one of the materials tested in the MKULTRA program.
The final phase of LSD testing involved surreptitious administration
to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects in normal life settings by under-
cover officers of the Bureau of Narcotics acting for the CIA.

The rationale for such testing was “that testing of materials under
accepted scientific procedures fails to disclose the full pattern of reac-
tions and attributions that may occur in operational situations.” **

Accordine to the CIA, the advantage of the relationship with the
Bureau was that

test subjects could be sought and cultivated within the setting
of narcotics control. Some subjects have been informers or
members of suspect criminal elements from whom the [Bu-
reau of .Narcotics] has obtained resvlts of anerational value
through the tests. On the other hand, the effectiveness of the
substances on individuals at all social levels, high and low,
native American and foreign, is of great significance and
testing has been performed on a varety of indwiduals within
these categories. [Emphasis added.] **

A special procedure. designated MKDELTA. was es‘ablished to
govern the use of MKULTRA materials abroad. Snch materials were
used on a number of occasions. Because MKULTRA records were
destroved. it is imnossible to reconstruct the operational use of
MKULTRA materials by the CIA overseas; it has been determined
that the use of these materials abroad began in 1953, and possibly as
early as 1950.

Drugs were nsed primarily as an aid to interrogations. but
MEKULTRA/MKDELTA materials were also used for harassment,
discrediting. or disabling purposes. According to an Inspector General
Survey of the Technical Services Division of the CIA in 1957—an

inspection which did not discover the MKULTRA project involving

the surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting, nonvolunteer

* Ivid, p. 21.
* Idid., pp. 11-12.
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subjects—the CIA had developed six drugs for operational use and
they had been used in six different operations on a total of thirty-three
subjects.”” By 1963 the number of operations and subjects had in-
creased substantially.

In the 3£m'ig of 1963, during a wide-ranging Inspector General
survey of the Technical Services Division, a member of the Inspector
General's staff, John Vance, learned about MKULTRA and about
the project involving the surreptitious ‘administration of LSD to un-
witting, nonvoluntary human subjects. As a result of the discovery
and the Inspector General’s subsequent report, this testing was halted
and much tighter administrative controls were imposed on the pro-
gram. According to the CIA, the project was decreased significantly
each budget year until its complete termination in the late 1960s.

5. The Testing of LSD by the Army

There were three major phases in the Army’s testing of LSD. In the
first, LSD was administered to more than 1,000 American sdldiers who
volunteered to be subjects in chemical warfare experiments. In the
second E!éase, Material Testing Program EA 1729, 85 volunteers re-
ceived 1.SD in clinical experiments designed to evaluate potential
intelligence uses of the drug. In the third phase, Projects THIRD
CHANCE and DERBY HAT, 16 unwitting nonvolunteer subjects
were interrogated after receiving LSD as part of operational field

tests.
B. CIA Drue Testivg ProGRraMs

1. The Rationale for the Testing Programs

The late 1940s and early 1950s were marked by concern over
the threat fosed by the activities of the Soviet Union, the People’s
Republic of China, and other Communist bloc countries. United States
concern over the use of chemical and biolo%':al agents by these powers
was acute. The belief that hostile nowers had used chemical and bio-
logical agents in intermgations, brainwashing, and in attacks designed
to harass, disable, or kill Allied personnel created considerable pres-
sure for s “defensive” program to investigate chemical and biological
agents so that the intelligence community could understand the mech-
anisms by which these substances worked and how their effects could
be defeated.!®

Of particular concern was the drug LSD. The CIA had received
reports that.the Soviet Union was engaged in intensive efforts to pro-
duce LSD; and that the Soviet Union had attex?ﬁpted to purchase the
world’s: supply of the chemical. As one CIA. officer who was deeply
involved in work with this drug described the climate of the times:
“[It] is awfully hard in this day and age to reproduce how frightening
all of this was to us at the time, particularly after the drug scene has
become as widespread and as knowledgeable in this country as it did.
But we were literally terrified, because this was the one material that we

o I'did, 19676& 201 :
3Thus an officer in the Office of Security of the OIA stressed the “urgency of
the discovery of techniques and method that would permit our personnel, in the

‘ event of their capture by the enemy, to resist or defeat enemy interrogation.”

(Minutes of the ARTICHOKE conference of 10/22/353.)
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had ever been able to locate that really had potential fantastic possi-
bilities if used wrongly.” ** )

But the defensive orientation soon became secondary. Chemical and
biological agents were to be studied in order “to perfect techniques . . .
for the abstraction of information from individuals whether willing or
not” and in order to “develop means for the control of the activities and
mental capacities of individuals whether willing or not.”* -One
Agency official noted that drugs would be useful in order to “gain con-
trol of bodies whether they were willing or not” in the process of re-
moving personnel from Europe in the event of a Soviet attack.” In
other programs, the CIA to develop, produce, stockpile, and
maintain in operational readiness materials which could be used to
harass, disable, or kill specific targets.” . . . .

Reports of research and development in the Soviet Union, the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China, and the Communist Bloc countries provided
the basis for the transmutation of American programs from a defen-
sive to an offensive orientation. As the Chief of the Medical Staff of

the Central Intelligence Agency wrote in 1952 :

There is ample evidence in the reports of innumerable inter-
rogations that the Communists were utilizing drugs, physical
duress, electric shock, and possibly h)lrsnods against their ene-
mies. With ‘such evidence it is difficult not to keep from be-
coming rabid about our apparent laxity. We are forced by this
mounting evidence to assume a more aggressive role in the
development of these techniques, but must be cautious to
maintain strict inviolable control because of the havoc that
could be wrought by such techniques in unscrupulous hands.*

In order to meet the perceived threat to the national security, sub-

_stantial programs for the testing and use of chemical and biological

ts—including projects involving the surreptitious administra-

tion of LSD to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects “at all social levels,

high and low, native American and foreign”—were conceived, and

n.nﬁlemeqted'. These programs resulted in su tial violations of the
rights of individuals within the United States.

» Tegtimony of CIA officer, 11/21/75, p. 33.

® AMfemorandum from the Director of Security 'to ARTICHOKE representa-
tives, Subject: “ARTICHOKE Restatement of Program.”

8 ARTICHOKE memorandum, 7/30/33.

® The Inspector General's Report of 1857 on the Technical Services Division
noted that “Six specific products have been developed and are available for oper-
ational use. Three of them are discrediting and disabling materials which can be
administered unwittingly and permit the exercise of a measure of control over the
actions of the subject.”

A memorandum for the Chief, TSD, Biological Branch to the Chief, TSD,
10/18/67, described two of the objectives of the CIA's Project MKNAOM]I as:
“to stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal materials for the specific use of
TSD" and “to maintain in operational readiness special and unique items fo
the dissemination of biological and chemical materals.” -

# Afemorandum from the Chief of the Medical Staff, 1/25/52.
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Although the CIA recognized these effects of LSD to unwitting in-
dividuals within the United States, the project continued.’ As the
Deputy Director for Plans, Richard Helms, wrote the Deputy Direc-
tor of Central Intelligence during discussions which led to the cessa-
tion of unwitting testing:

While I share your uneasiness and distaste for any pro-

which tends to intrude upon an individual’s private
and legal prerogatives, I believe it is necessary that the
Agency maintain a central role in this activity, keeg:}:l@ent
on enemy capabilities the manipulation of human benavior,
and maintain an offensive capability.” o

There were no attempts to secure approval for the most controversial
aspects of these programs from the executive branch or Congress.
The nature and extent of the esrogmms were closely held secrets; even
DCI McCone was not briefed on all the details of the program in-
volving the surreptitious administration of LSD until 1963. It was
deemed imperative that these programs be concealed from the Ameri-
can people. As the CIA’s Inspector General wrote in 1957:

Precautions must be taken not only to protect operations
from ex re to enemy forces but also to conceal these ac-
tivities from the American public in general. The knowledge
that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activities
would have serious repercussions in political and diflomatic
circles and would be detrimental to the accomplishment
of its mission.*
2. The Death of Dr. Frank Olson

The most tragic result of the testing of LSD l:{ the CIA was the
death of Dr. Frank Olson, a civilian employee of
on November 27, 1953. His death followed his participation in a CIA
experiment with LSD. As part of this experiment, Olson unwittingly
received approximately 70 micrograms of LSD in a glass of Cointreau
he drank on November 19, 1953. The drug had been placed in the bottle
by a CIA officer, Dr. Robert Lashbrook, as part of an experiment
he and Dr. Sidney Gottlieb performed at a meeting of Army and
CIA scientists.

Shortly after this experiment, Olson exhibited symptoms of para-
noia and schizophrenia. Accompanied by Dr. Lashbrook, Olson sought
psychiatric assistance in New York City from a physician, Dr. Harold
Abramson. whose research on LSD had been funded indirectly by
the CIA. While in New York for treatment, Olson fell to his death

from a tenth story window in the Statler Hotel. '

' % Even during the discussions which led to the termination of the unwitting
testing, the DDP turned down the option of halting such tests within the U.S.
and continuing them abroad despite the fact that the Technical Services Divi-

" _sion had conducted numerous operations abroad making use of LSD. The DDP
made this decision on the basis of security noting that the past efforts overseas:

had resulted in “making an inordinate number of foreign nationals witting of

our role in the very sensitive activity.” (Memorandum for the Deputy Director

ot.ctil{l‘t‘ml Igtesllixence from the Deputy Director for Plans, 12/17/63, p. 2.)
) wo

» 1.G. survey of TSD, 1957, p. 217.

e Army, who died.
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a. Background.—Olson, an expert in serobiology who was asmglned
to the Special Operations Division (SOD) of the U.S. Army Biolog-
ical Center at Camp Detrick, Maryland. This Division had
primary functions: . .

1) assessing the vulnerability of American installations
to iolt;giesl attack; . .
(2) evel?ing techniques for offensive use of biological

weapons; an
(g))o biological research for the CIA.*

Professionally, Olson was well respected by his colleagues in both
the Army and the CIA. Colonel Vincent Ruwet, Olson’s immediate
superior at the time of his death, was in almost daily contact with
Olson. According to Colonel Ruwet: “As a professional man . . . his
ability . . . was outstanding.” ** Colonel Ruwet stated that “durgx‘:ﬁ
the period prior to the experiment ... I noticed nothing ‘whi
would lead me to believe that he was of unsound mind.” * Dr. Lash-
brook, who had monthly contacts with Olson from early 1952 until
the time of his death, stated publicly that before Olson received LSD,
“as far as I know, he was perfectly normal.” * This assessment 1s m
direct contradiction to certain statements evaluating Olson’s emo-
tional stability made in CIA internal memoranda written after
Olson’s death. ‘ ' -

b. The Ezperiment.—On November 18, 1953, a group of ten scien-
tists ffom the CIA and Camp Detrick attended a semi-annual review
and analysis conference at a cabin located at Dee Creek Lake, Mary-
land. Three of the participants were from the C. A’s Technical Serv-
ices Staff. The Detrick representatives were all from the Special

Operations Division. T
According to one CIA official, the Special Operations Division
participants- that an unwitting experiment would be

desirable.” »* This account directly contradicts Vincent Ruwet’s recol-
lection.- Ruwet recalls no-such discussion, and has asserted that he
would remember any such discussion because the SOD participants
would have strenuously objected to test.inf)on unwitting subjects.®

In May, 1953, Richard Helms, Assistant DP,; held a staff meeting
which the Chief of Technical Services Staff attended. At this meeting
Helms “indicated that the drug [LSD] was dynamite and that he
should be advised at all times when it was intended to use it.”* In
addition, the then DDP, Frank Wisner, sent a memorandum to TSS
stating the requirement that the DDP personally approve the use of

'LSD. Gottlieb went ahead with the experiment,* securing the ap-

® Staff summary of Vincent Ruwet Interview, 8/13/75, p. 3. .
0 ;Mmpndm of Col. Vincent Ruwet, To Whom It May Concern, no date,
o . . . . - - :.g\'
= Ruwet Memorandum, p. 3. S
* Joseph B. Treaster, New York Times, 7/18/76.p. 1.-
= \femorandum for the Record from Lyman Kirkpatrick, 12/1/33, p. 1.
= Ruwet {staff summary), 8/13/75, p. 6.
® Inspector General Diary, 12/2/58.° ' . o :
% Ibid. Dr. Gottleib has testified that he: does not remember either the meeting
with Helms nor the Wisner megq:?ndun;' (Gottlied, 10/18/75, p. 18.) :
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proval of his immediate supervisor. Neither the Chief of TSS nor
the DDP wsgeciﬁully authorized the experiment in which Dr. Olson
participated.® . '

According to Gottlieb a “very small dose” of LSD was laced in
a bottle of Cointreau which was served after dinner on ursday,
November 19. The dmﬁ‘ was placed in the liqueur by Robert Lash-
brook. All but two of the SOD participants received LSD. One did
not drink; the other had a heart condition.”” About twenty minutes
after they finished their CointreaubGottlieb informed the other par-
ticipants that they had received LSD.

Dr. Gottlieb stated that “uYs:o the time of the experiment,” he
observed nothing unususl in Olson’s behavior.’™ Once the experiment
was underway, Gottlieb recalled that “the drug had a definite effect on
the ul%roup to the point that they were boisterous and laughing and thsy
could not continue the meetin%oor engage in sensible conversation.
The meeting continued until about 1:00 a.m., when the participants
retired for the evening. Gottlieb recalled that Olson, among others,

hﬁness” during the night.*® According to Gottlieb
on Friday morning “aside from some evidence of fatigue,.I observed
nothing unusual in [Olson’s] actions, conversation, or general be-

havior.” *® Ruwet recalls that Olson “a peared to be agitated” at -

breakfast, but that he “did not consider this to be abnormal under the
circumstances.” :

c. The Treatment.—The following Monday, November 23, Olson
was waiting for Ruwet when he came in to work at 7:30 a.m. For the
next two days Olson’s friends and family attempted to reassure him
and help him “snap out of what appeared to be a serious depression.
On Tuesday, Olson again came to Ruwet and, after an hour long con-

® Dr. Gottlieb testified that “given the information we knew up to this time,
and based on a lot of our own self-administration, we thought it was a fairly
benign substance in terms of potential harm.” This is in conflict not only with Mr.
Helms' statement but also with material which had been supplied to the Technical
Services Staff. In one long memorandum on current research with LSD which
was supplied to TSD, Henry Beecher described the dangers involved with such
research in a prophetic manner. “The second reason to doubt Professor Rothland
came when I raised the gquestion as to any accidents which had arisen from
the use of LSD-25. He said in a very positive way, ‘none.’ As it turned out
this answer could be called overly positive, for later on in the evening I was
discussing the matter with Dr. W. A. Stohl, Jr., a psychiatrist in Bleulera's
Clinic in Zurich where I had gone at Rothland's insistence. Stohl, when asked
the same question, replied, ‘yes,' and added spontaneously, ‘there is a case
Professor Rothland knows about. In Geneva & woman physician who had been
subject to depression to some extent took LSD-23 in an experiment and became
severely and suddenly depressed and committed suicide three weeks later.
While the connection is not definite, common knowledge of this could hardly
have allowed the positive statement Rothland permitted himself. This case is
a-warning to us to avoid engaging subjects who are depressed, or who bave been
subject to depression.’'” Dr. Gottlieb testified that he bad no recollection of
either the report or that particular section of it. (Sidney Gottlieb testimony,

- 10/19/75, p. 78.)

= yemorandum of Shefeld Edwards for the record, 11/28/83, .p. 2.
@ 1 ashbrook (staff summary), 7/19/75, p. 3.
#s Gottlieb Memorandum, 12/7/53. p. 2. :
_ ® Edwards memorandum, 11/28/33, p. 3.
® Gottlieb memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 8.
* Ruwet memorandum, p. 3.
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versation, it was decided thatmedical assistance for Dr. Olson was
desirable.® :

Ruwet then called Lashbrook and informed him that “Dr. Olson
was in serious trouble and needed immediate professional attention.” +*
Lashbrook agreed to make uppro]griate arrangements and told Ruwet
to bring Olson to Wmﬂnﬂ::,b .C. Ruwet and Olson proceeded to
Washington to meet with rook, and the three left for New York
at about 2:30 p.m. to meet with Dr. Harold Abramson. .

At that time Dr. Abramson was an allergist and immunologi
practicing medicine in New York City. He held no degree in -
try, but was associated with research projects supported indirectly
by the CIA. Gottlieb and Dr. Lashbrook followed his work closely
in the early 1950s.9® Since Olson needed medical help, they turned to
Dr. Abramson as the doctor closest to Washington who was experi-
enced with LSD and cleared by the CIA.

Ruwet, Lashbrook, and Olson remained in New York for two days of
consultations with Abramson. On Thursday, November 26, 1953, the
three flew back to Washington so that Olson could spend Thanksgiviny
with his family. En route from the airport Olson told Ruwet that he
was afraid to face his family. After a lengthy discussion. it was de-
cided that Olson and Lashbrook would return to Naw York, aud that
Ruwet would go to Frederick to explain these events to Mrs. Olson.*

Lashbrook and Olson flew back to New York_the same day, again

for consultations with Abramson. They spent Thursday night in &

Long Island hotel and the next morning returned to the city with
Abramson. In further discussions with Abramson, it was
that Olson should be placed under regular psychiatric care at an
institution closer to his home.® . _

d. The Death.—Because they could not obtain air transportation for
a return trip on Friday night, Lashbrook and Olson made reservations
for Saturday mornu;s and checked into the Statler Hotel. Between
the time they checked in and 10:00 p.m.; they watched television,
visited the cocktail lounge, where each had two martinis, and dinner.
According to Lashbrook, Olson “was cheerful and appeared to enjo
the entertainment.” He “?mred no longer particulary dep R
and almost the Dr. Olson w prior to the experiment.” ¢

After dinner Lashbrook and Olson watched television for about
an hour, and at 11:00, Olson suggested that they go to bed, saying that
“he felt more relaxed and contented than he had since [they] came
to New York.” * Olson then left a call with the hotel operator to wake
them in the morning. At sgfroximately 2:30 a.m. Saturday, Novem-
ber 28, Lashbrook was awakened by a loud “crash of glass.” In his
report-on the incident, he stated only that Olson “had crashed through
the closed window blind and the closed window and he fell to his death
from the window of our room on the 10th floor.” ¢

“ rsid., p. 4. ’ .

© Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 1.

“ Staff summary of Dr. Harold Abramson interview, 7/29/TS, p. 2.
“ Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/58, p. 8.

@ Abramson memorandum, 12/4/83.

# Lashbrook memorandom, 12/7/58, p. 8. -

< I%d., p. 4. )

* Idid.
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Immediately after inding that Olson had leapt to his death, Lash-
brook telephoned Gottlieb at his home and informed him of the in-
cident.*® Gottlieb called Ruwet and informed him of Olson’s death
at approximately 2:45 a.m.® Lashbrook then called the hotel desk
and reported the incident to the operator there. ‘Lashbrook called
Abramson and informed him of the occurrence. Abramson told Lash-
brook he “wanted to be kept out of the thin completely,” but later
changed his mind and agreed to assist Lashbrook.*!

Shortly thereafter, uniformed ){)lice officers and some hotel em-

loyees came to Lashbrook’s room. ashbrook told the police he didn’t

ow why Olson had committed suicide, but he did know that Olson

~ ugyffered from ulcers.” *2 :

e. The Aftermath.—Followiny Dr. Olson’s death, the CIA made
a substantial effort to ensure that his family received death benefits,
but did not notify the Olsons of the circumstances surrounding his
demise. The Agency also made considerable efforts to prevent the

. death being connected with the CI14, and sufxlied complete cover for

-

Lashbrook so thit his association with the C would remain a secret.
After Dr. Olson’s death the CIA conducted an internal investiga-

tion of the incident. As part of his responsibilities in this investiga-

tion, the General Counsel wrote the Inspector General, stating:

I'm not happy with what seems to be a very casual attitude

on the part of TSS representatives to the way this experi-

ment was conducted and the remarks that this is just one of

the risks running with scientific experimentation. I do not

eliminate the need for takin§ risks, but I do believe, espe-

cially when human health or ife is at stake, that at least the

prudent, reasonable measures which can be taken to mini-

" mize the risk must be taken and failure to do so was culpable

' negligence. The actions of the various individuals concerned

,  after effects of the experiment on Dr. Olson became manifest

also revealed the failure to observe normal and reasonable
precautions.*®®

-7 As a result of the investigation DCI Allen Dulles sent 2 personal

Yetter to the Chief of Technical Operations of the Technical Services

‘Staff who had approved the experiment criticizing him for “poor
judgment . . . in authorizing the use of this drug on such an unwitting

: = . _basis and without proximate medical safeguards.” ** Dulles also sent

;s
I

= ‘<.% Memorandum from DCI to Chlef, Technical
L ;* Memorandum from DCI to Sidney Gottlieb, 2712/54. j

{a letter to Dr. Gottlieb, Chief of the Chemical Division of the Tech-
- filcal Services Stafl, criticizing him for recommending the “unwitting

- application of the drug” in that the proposal “did not give sufficient
emphasis for medical collaboration and for the proper consideration

“-of the rights of the individual to whom it was being administered.” **

® CIA Flield Office Report, 12/8/58, p. 3.

o - *® Ruwet JMemorandum, p. 11
;. r@ CIA Fleld Office- Report, 12/3/33, p. 3.

,';;r Idid. g S
24 % y\femorandum from the General Counsel to the gctor General, 1/4/54.
ons, TSS, 2/12/54.
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The letters were hand carried to the individuals to be read and
returned. Although the letters were critical, a note from the Deputy
Director of Central Intelligence to Mr. Helms instructed him to 1n-
form the individuals that: “These are not reprimands and no person-
nel file notation are being made.” 3¢

Thus, although the Rockefeller Commission has characterized them
as such, these notes were explicitly not reprimands. Nor did participa-
tion in the events which led to Dr. Olson’s death have any apparent
effect on the advancement within the CIA of the individuals involved.

3. The Surreptitious Administration of LSD to Unwitting Non-
gz:wnteer Human Subjects by the CIA After the Death of Dr.
on

The death of Dr. Olson could be viewed, as some argued at the time,
as s tragic accident, one of the risks inherent in the testing of new sub-
stances. It might be argued that LSD was thought to be benign.
After the death of Dr. Oﬁon the dangers of the surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD were clear, yet the CIA continued or initiated =" a
project involving the surreptitious administration of LSD to non-
volunteer human subjects. This program exposed numerous individuals
in the United States to the risk of death or serious injury without their
informed consent, without medical supervision, and without necessary
follow-up to determine any long-term effects. - ' .

Prior to the Olson experiment, the Directcr of Central Intelligence
had approved MKULTRA, a research program designed to develop
a “capability in the covert use of biological and- chemical agent

materials.” In the pro 1 describing ] TRA Mr. Helms, then
ADDP, wrote the Mthat: ¢

we intend to investigate the development of a chemical mate-
rial which causes a reversible non-toxic aberrant mental state,
the specific nature of which can be reasonably well ali:redicted
for each individual. This material could potentially aid in
discrediting individuals, eliciting information, and implant-
ing suggestions and other forms of mental control.**

On February 12, 1954, the Director of the Central Intelligence

. Agency wrote TSS officials .riticizing them for “poor judgment” in

administering LSD on “an unwitting basis and without proximate
medical safeguards” to Dr. Olson and for the lack of “proper consid-
eration of the rights of the individual to whom it was being admin-
istered.” ** On the same day, ﬂﬁé%sﬁeaor General reviewed a report
on Subproject Number 3 of TRA, in which the same TSS
officers who had just received letters from the Director were. quoted
as stating that one of the purposes of Subproject Number 3 was to

= Note from DDCI to Richard Helms, 2/13/54. )

" The 1963 IG Report, which described the project involving the surreptitious
administration of LSD, placed the project beginning in 1855. Other CIA docu-
ments reveal that it was in existence as eariy as February 1954. The CIA has
told the Committee that the project began in 1953 and that the experiment which
led to Dr. Olson’s death was part of the project. - .

% \[emorandum from ADDP items to DOI Dulles, 4/3/88, tab A, p. 2.

® Memorandum from DCI to Sidney Gottlieb, 2/12/54 ; and memorandum from .
DCI to Chief of Operations, TSS, 2/12/54. : :
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“observe the behavior of unwitting persons being questioned after
having been given a dr;g.” ® There 1s no evidence that Subproject
Number 3 was terminated even though these officers were unequivo-
cally aware of the dangers of the surreptitious administration of LSD
and the necessity of obtaining informed consent and providin medical
safeguards. Subproject Number 3, in fact, used methods which showed
even less concern than did the OLSON experiment for the safety and
security of the participants. Yet the evidence indicates the project
continued until 1963.4* )

In the project, the individual conducting the test might make
initial contact with & prospective subject selected at random in a bar.
He would then invite the person to a “safehouse” where the test drug
was administered to the subject through drink or in food. CIA per-
sonnel might debrief the individual conducting the test, or observe
the test by using a one-way mirror and tape recorder in an adjoining
room.

Prior consent was obviously not obtained from any of the subjects.
There was also, obviously, no medical prescreening. In addition, the
tests were conducted by individuals who were not g\mliﬁed scientific
observers. There were no medical personnel on hand either to admin-
ister the drugs or to observe their effects, and no follow-up was con-
ducted on the test subjects.

As the Inspector General noted in 1963:

A significant limitation on the effectiveness of such testing is
the infeasibility of performing scientific observation of re-
sults. The [individuals conducting the test] are not qualified
scientific observers. Their subjects are seldom accessible be-
yond the first hours of the test. The testing may be useful in
perfecting delivery techniques, and in identifying surface
characteristics of onset, reaction, attribution, and side-effect.*?

This was particularly troublesome as in a

number of instances, . . . the test subject has become ill for
hours er days, including hospitalization in at least one case,
and the agent could only follow up by guarded inquiry
after the test subject’s return to normal life. Possible sickness
and attendant economic loss are inherent contingent effects
of the testing.*

Paradoxically, greater care seems to have been taken for the safety
of foreign nationals against whom LSD was used abroad. In several
cases medical examinations were performed prior to the use of LSD.*

® yMfemorandum to Inspector Genreral from Chief, Inspection and Review, on
Subproject #3 of MKULTRA, 2/10/54.

% IG Report on MKULTRA, 1963

® Ivid., p. 12 -

® I%d. According to the IG's survey in 1963, physicians associated with
MEKULTRA could be inade available in an emergency.

% The Technical Services Division which was responsible for the operational
use of LSD abroad took the position that “no pbysical examination of the subject
is required prior to administration of [LSD] by TSS trained personnel. A physi-
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Moreover, the administration abroad was marked by constant obser-
vation made possible because the material was being used against
gnsonem of foreign intelligence or security organizations. Finally,
uring certain of the LSD interrogstions sbroad, local physicians
wers on call, though these physicians had had no experience with LSD
and would not be told that hallucinogens :jd been administered.®
. The CIA’s project involving the surrept.rious administration of
LSD to unwitting human subjects in the United States was finally
halted in 1963, a8 a result of its discovery during the course of an
Inspector General survey of the Technical Services Division. When
the Inspector General learned of the project, he spoke to the Deput.
Director for Plans, who agreed that the Director should be briefed.
The DDP made it clear that the DCI and his Deputy were generally
familiar with MICULTR.A. He indicated, however, that he was not
sure it was necessary to brief the DDCI at that E:li‘nt.

On Mzzf«i, 1963, the DDP advised the Inspector General that he had
briefed the Director on the MKULTRA program and in particular
had covered the question of the surreptitious administration of LSD
to unwiitin&humau subjects. According to the Inspector General, the
DDP said “the Director indicated no disagreement and therefore
the ‘testing’ will continue.” *

One co{;y of an “Eyes Only” draft report on MKULTRA was
pre y the Inspector General who recommended the termination
of the surreptitious administration project. The prcject was suspended
following the Inspector General's report. _

On December 17, 1963, Deputy Director for Plans Helms wrote a
memo to the DDCI, who with the Insio:tor General and the Executive
Director-Comptroller had opposed the covert testing. He noted two
aspects of the problem: (1) “for over a decade the Clandestine Serv-
ices has had the mission of maintaining & capability for influencin
human behavior;” and (2) “tast'm arrangements in furtherance o
this mission should be as operatio ly realistic and yet as controllable
as possible.” Helms a that the individuals must be “unwitting”
as this was “the only realistic method of maintaining the capability,
considering the intended operational use of materials to influence
human behavior as the operational targets will certainly be unwitting.
Should the subjects of the testing not be nnwittinf, the program wou
only be “pro forma” resulting in a “false sense of accomplishment and
readiness.” ¢ Helms continued :

clan need 0ot be present. There is no danger medically in the use of this material
as handled by TSS trained personnel.” The Office of Medical Services had taken

unless preceded by a medical examinstion . . . and should be administered only
by or in the presence of a physician who had studied t and its effect.” (Memo-
r:’udu from James An{leton. Chief, Counterintelligence Staff to Chief of Oper-
a ﬂ& l’lwﬂ. ”o 1-

“ Physicians might be called with the hope that they would make a disgnosis
of meatal breakdown which would be useful in discrediting the individual who
was the subject of the CIA interest.

::tenon:.dun for the Record prepared by the Inspector General, 5/15/63, p. 1.

Ibid., .
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I one grants the validity of the mission of maintaining this
unusual capability and the necessity for unwitting testing,
there is only then the question of how best to do it. Ogbviously,
the testing should be conducted in such a manner as to permit
the opportunity to observe the results of the administration
on the target. It also goes without saying that whatever test-
ing arrangement we adopt must afford maximum safe

for the protection of the A ncy’s role in this activity, as
well as minimizing the possibility of physical or emotional
damage .o theindividual tested.**

In another memo to the Director of Central Intelligence in June,
1964, Helms again raised the issue of unwitting testing. At that time
General Carter, then acting DCI, approved several changes in the
MKULTRA program proposed by Mr. Helms as a result of negotia-
tions between the Inspector General and the DDP. In a handwritten
note, however, Director Carter added that “unwitting testing will be
subject to a separate decision.” ** :

No specific decision was made then or soon after. The testing had
been halted and, according to Walter Elder, Executive Assistant to
DCI McCone, the DCI was not inclined to take the positive step of
authorizing a resumption of the testing. At least through the summer,
the DDP did not press the issue. On November 9, 1964, the DDP,
raised the issue again in a memo to the DCI, callin the Director’s
attention to what he described as “several other in ications durin
the past year of an apparcnt Soviet aggressiveness in the field o
covertly administered chemicals which are, to say the least, inexplic-
able and disturbing.” ™

Helms noted that because of the suspension of covert testing, the -

Agency’s “gositive operational capability to use dru is diminishing,
owing to a lack of realistic testing. With increasing knowledge of the
state of the art, we are less capable of staying up with Soviet advances
in this field. This in turn results in a waning capability on our part

to restrain others in the intelligence community (such as the Depart-
ment of Defense) from pursuing operations in this area.” ™ .
Helms attributed the cessation of the unwittin testing to the high
risk of embarrassment to the Agency as well as the “moral problem.”
He noted that no better covert situation had been devised than that
.whicl; 11:u.d been used, and that “we have no answer to the moral
issue. '
Helms asked for either resumption of the testing project or its defini-
tive cancellation. He argued that the status quo of a research and de-
velopment program without & realistic testing program was causing
the Xgenc_v to live “with the illusion of a capability which is becoming
minimal and furthermore is expensive.” ™ Once again no formal action

was taken in response to the Helms’ request.

@ Memorandum from DDP Helms to DDCI Carter, 12/17/63.
® \Jemorandum from DDP Helms to DCI, 6/9/64, p. 3.
™ Idid., 11/9/64,p. 1.
n Idid., pp. 1-2.
7 Idid., p. 2.
" rdvid.
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From its beginning in the early 1950’s until its termination in 1963,
the program of surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non-
volunteer human subjects demonstrates a failure of the CIA’s leader-
ship to pay adequate attention to the rights of individuals and to pro-
vide effective guidance to CIA employees. Though it was known that
the testing was dangerous, the lives of subjects were placed in jeop-
ardy and their rights were ignored during the ten years of testing
which followed Dr. Olson’s death. Although it was clear that the laws
of the United States were being violated, the testing continued. While
the individuals involved in the Olson experiment were admonished
by the Director, at the same time they were also told that they were
not being reprimanded and that their “bad judgment” would not be
made part of their personnel records. When the covert testing project
was terminated in 1963, none of the individuals involved were subject
to any disciplinary action.

4. Mcaitoring and Control of the Testing and Use of Chemical and
Biological Agents by the CIA

The Select Committee found numerous failures in the monitoring
and control of the testing and use of chemical and biological agents
within the CIA.™ An analysis of the failures can be divided into four
sections: (a) the waiver of nor.nal regulations or m&uirements; (b)
the problems in authorization procedures; (c) the failure of internal
review mechanisms such as the Office of General Counsel, the Inspector
General, and the Audit Staff; and (d) the effect of compartmentation
and competition within the CIA.

a. The Waiver of Administrative Controls.—The internal controls
within any agency rest on: (1) clear and coherent regulations; (2)
clear lines of authority; and (3) clear rewards for those who conduct
themselves in accord with agency regulations and understandable and
immediate sanctions sgainst those wg:‘o do not. In the case of the test-
ing and use of chemical and biological agents, normal CIA adminis-
trative controls were waived. The destruction of the documents on the
largest CIA program in this area constituted a prominent example of
the waiver of normal Agency procedures by the Director.

These documents were destroyed in early 1973 at the order of then
DCI Richard Helms. According to Helms, Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, then
Director of TSD:

.. .came to me and said that he was retiring and that I was
retiring and he thoufht it would be a good 1dea if these files
were destroyed. And I also believe tﬁm't. of the reason for
our thinking this was advisable was there had been relation-
ships with outsiders in government agencies and other orga-
nizations and that these would be sensitive in this kind of &
thing but that since the program was over and finished and
done with, we thought we would just get rid of the files as

% Section 2(9) of S. Res. 21 instructs the Committee to examine: the “extent
to which United States intelligence agencies are governed by Executive Orders,
rules, or regulations either publlsl_u.l or secret.” :
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well, so that anybody who assisted us in the past would not

be stg)]ect to follow-up or questions, embarrassment, if you
_ The destruction was based on a waiver of an internal CIA regula-
tion, CSI 70-10, which regulated the “retirement of inactive records.”
As Thomas Karamessines, then Deputy Director of Plans, wrote In
regulation CSI-70-10: “Retirement is not a matter of convenience or
of storage but of conscious judgment in the application of the rules
modified by knowledge of individual component needs. The heart of
this judgment is to ensure that the complete story can be reconstructed
in later years and by people who may be unfamiliar with the events.” "

The destruction of the MKULTRA documents made it impossible
for the Select Committee to determine the full range and extent of the
largest CIA research program invoivi chemical and biological
agents. The destruction also prevented the CIA from locating and pro-
viding medical assistance to the individuals who were subjects in the
guogmm. Finally, it prevented the Committee from determining the

extent of the operations which made use of materials developed in
the MKULTRA program.”

From the inception of MEKULTRA normal Agency procedures were
waived. In 1953, Mr. Helms, then Assistant Deputy irector for Plans,
proposed the establishment of MEKULTRA. Under the proposal six
percent of the research and development budget of TSD would be
expended “without the establishment of formal contractual relations”
because contracts would reveal government interest. Helms also voted
that 3uahﬁed individuals in the field “are most reluctant to enter into
signed agreements of any sort which connect them with this activity
since such a connection would jeopardize their professional reputa-

% Richard Helms testimony, 8/11/73, p. 5. -

‘Many Agency documents recording confidential relationships with individuals
and organizations are retained without public disclosure. Moreover, in the case of
MKULTRA the CIA had spent millions of dollars developing both materials and
delivery systems which could be used by the Clandestine Services; the reconstruc-
tion of the research and development program would be difficult if not impos-
gible, without the documents, and at least one assistant to Dr. Gottlieb protested
against the document destruction on those grounds.

™ Clandestine Services Institution .(CSI) 70-10. When asked by the Select
Committee about the regularity of the procedure by which he authorized Dr.
Gottlieb to destroy the MKULTRA records, Helms responded :

“Well, that's hard to say whether it would be part of the regular procedure or
not, because the record destruction program is conducted according to a certain
pattern. There's a regular record destruction pattern in the Agency monitored by
certain people and done a certain way. So that anything outside of that, I suppose,
would have been unusual. In other words, there were documents being destroyed
because somebody had raised this specific issue rather than because they were
encompassed in the vegular records destruction program. So I think the answer
to your question is probably yes.” (Helms testimony, 9/11/75, p. 6.)

7 Even prior to the destruction of documents, the MEKULTRA records were far
from complete. As the Inspector General noted in 1963 :

“Files are notably incomplete, poorly organized, and lacking in evaluative state-
ments that might give perspective to management policies over time. A substan-
tial portion of the MKULTRA record appears to rest in the memories of the prin-

_cipal officers and is therefore almost certain to be lost with their departures.”

(IG Report on MKULTRA, p. 23.)
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tions™.” Other Agency procedures, i.e., the forwarding of documents
in support of invoices and the provision for re lar audit procedures,
were also to be waived. On April 13, 1953, then DCI len Dulles
approved MKULTRA, noting that security considerations precluded
handling the project through usual contractual agreements.

Ten years later investigations of MKULTRA by both the Inspector
General and the Audit Staff noted substantial deficiencies which re-
sulted from the waivers. Because TSD had not reserved the right to
audit the books of contractors in MKULTRA, the CIA had been
unsable to verify the use of Agency grants by a contractor. Another
firm had failed to establish controls and safeguards which would as-
sure “proper accountability” in use of government funds with the
result that “funds have been used for purposes not contem lated by
grants or allowable under usual contract relationship.” ™ The entire
MEKULTRA arrangement was condemned for having administrative
lines which were unclear, overly permissive controls, and irrespon-
sible supervision.

The head of the Audit Branch noted that inspections and audits:
led us to see MKULTRA as frequently having provided a
device to escape normal administrative controls for research
that is not especially sensitive, as having allowed practices
that produce gross administrative failures, as having per-
mitted the establishment of special relationships with unreli-
-able organizations on an unacceptable basis, and as having
groduced, on at least one occasion, a.cavalier treatment of a

ona fide contracting organization.

While admitting that there may be a need for special mechanisms
for handling sensitive projects, the Chief of the Audit Branch wrote
that “both the terms of reference and the ground rules for handling
such special projects should be spelled out in advance so that diver-
sion from normal channels does not mean abandonment of controls.

Special procedures may be necessary to ensure the security of highly
sensitive operations. To prevent the erosion of normal internal con-
trol mechanisms, such waivers should not be extended to less sensitive
operations. Moreover, only those regulations which would endanger
security should be waived; to waive regulations generally would
result in highly sensitive and controve ial projects having looser
rather than stricter administrative controls. fRKNAOMI, the Fort
‘Detrick CIA project for research and development of chemical and
biological agents, provides another example where efforts to protect

the security of agency activties overwhelmed administrative controls.

‘No written records of the transfer of agents such as anthrax or shell-|

fish toxin were kept, “because of the sensitivity of the areas and the~
desire to keep any possible use of materials like this recordless.” #* The

# \Memorandum from ADDP Heims to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab. A, p. 2.

™ Memorandum from IG to Chief, TSD, 11/8/63, as quoted in memorandum
from Chief, Audit Branch. :

® The memorandum suggested that administrative exclusions, because of the
importance of such decisions,. should require the personal approval-of the Deputy
Director of Central Intelligence on an individual case basis. Present CIA policy
is that only the DCI can authorize certain exemptions from regulations.

% Sidney Gottlieb testimony, 10/18/75, Hearings, Vol. 1, . 51.
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result was that the Agency had no way of determining what mate-
rials were on hand, and could not be certain whether delivery systems
such as dart guns, or deadly substances such as cotira venom had been
issued to the feld. \

b. Authorization—The destruction of the documents regarding
MKULTRA made it difficult to determine at what level specific proj-
ects in the program were authorized. This probiem is not solely a re-
sult of the document destruction, however. Even at the height of
MEKULTRA the IG noted that, at least with respect to the surrepti-
tious administration of LSD, the “present practice is to maintain no
records of the planning and approval of test programs.” *?

While it is clear that Allen Dulles authorized MKULTRA, the rec-
ord is unclear as to who authorized specific {g%cts such as that in-
volving the surreptitious administration of to unwitting non-
volunteer human subjects. Even given the sensitive and controversial
nature of the project, there is no evidence that when John McCone
replaced Allen Dulles as the Director of the Central Intelligence
Agency he was briefed on the details of this project and asked whether
it should be continued.** Even during the 1963 discussions on the pro-
priety of unwitting testing, the DDP questioned whether it was “neces-
sary to brief General Carter,” the Deg:g Director of Central Intelli-
gence and the Director’s “alter ago,” use CIA officers felt it neces-
sary to keep details of the project restricted to an absolute minimum
number of people.* ,

In May of 1963, DDP Helms told the Inspector General that the
covert testing program was authorized because he had gone to the
Director, briefed him on it and “the Director indicated no disagree-
ment and therefore the testing will continue.” ® Such authorization
even for noncontroversial matters is clearly less desirable than ex-
plicit authorization; in areas such as the surreptitious administration
of drugs, it is particularly undesirable. Yet according to testimony

% IG Report on MKULTRA, 1963, v. 14. :

® According to an assistant to Dr. Gottlieb, there were annual briefings of the
DCI and the DDP on MEULTRA by the Chief of TSD or his deputy. However, a
May 135, 1963 Memorandum for the Record from the Inspector General noted that
Mr. McCone had not been briefed in detafl about the program. Mr. McCone’s Exec-
ative Officer, Walter Elder, testifled that it was “perfectly apparent to me” that
neither Mr. McCone nor General Carter, then the DDCI, was aware of the sur-
reptitious administration project “or if they had been briefed they had not under-
stood it.” (Elder, 12/18/75, p. 13.) Mr. McCone testified that he “did not know"
whether he talked to anyone about the project but that no one had told him about
it in a way that “would have turned on all the lights.” (John McCone testimony,
2/3/78, p. 10.)

& According to Elder's testimony, “no Deputy Director, to my knowledge,
has ever been briefed or was it ever thought necessary to brief them to the extent

to which you would brief the Director.”

® IG Memorandum for the Record. 6/15/63.

(.t)nl lthe question of authorization of the covert testing program, Elder testified
as follows:

“But my reasonable judgment is that this was considered to be in the area of
continuing approval, having once been approved by the Director.”

The theory of authorization carrying over from one administration to the next
seems particularly Inappropriate for less visible, highly sensitive operations
which, unless brought to his attention by subordinates, would not ccme to the
attention of the Director.
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before the Committee, authorization through lack of agreement ‘is
even more prevalent in sensitive situations.*

The unauthorized retention of shellfish toxin by Dr. Nathan Gordon
and his subordinates, in violation of a Presidential Directive, may have
resulted from the failure of the Director to issue written instructions to
Agency officials. The retention was not authorized by senior officials in
the AgencBeThe Director, Mr. Helms, had instructed Mr. Karames-
sines, the Deputy Director of Plans, and Dr. Gottlieb, the Chief of
Technical Services Division, to relinquish control to the Army of any
chemical or biological agents being retained for the CIA at ¥ort De-
trick. Dr. Gottlieb passed this instruction on to Dr. Gordon. While
orders may be disregarded in any organization, one of the reasons that
Dr. Gordon used to defend the retention was the fact that he had not
received written instructions forbidding it.*” o

In some situations the existence of written instructions did not pre-
vent unauthorized actions. According to an inv<stigation by the CIA’s
Ins r General TSD officers been informed m'all1 that Mr.
Helms was to be “adviced at all times” when LSD was to be used. In
addition TSD had received a memo advising the staff that LSD was
not to be used without the permission of the DDP, Frank Wisner. The
experiment involving Dr. Olson went ahead without notification of
either Mr. Wisner or Mr. Helms. The absence of clear and immediate
punishment for that act must undercut the force of other internal in-
structions and regulations. ' - .

One last issue must be raised about authorization procedures within
the Agency. Chemical agents were used abroad until 1959 for dis-
crediting or disabling operations, or for the pu.rgosa of interrogations
with the apfrovhl of the Chief of Operations of the DDP. Later the
approval of the Deputy Director for Plans was required for such
operations. Alt.houig the medical staff sought to be Jm of the :E-

t ‘ e

roval process for these operations, they were excluded because, as
fnspecbgr General wrote inpiss’l : d ’

Ogrutional _determinations are the responsibility of .the
DD/P and it is he who should advise the DCI in these
respecui just as it is he who is responsible for the results. It
is cox;g etely unrealistic to consider assigning to the Chief,
Medical Staff, (what, in effect, would be authority over clan-
destine operations.)*® :

Given the expertise and training of physicians, participation of the
Medical Staff might well have been uls,efyusl -

Questions about authorization also exist in regard te those agencies
which assisted the CIA. For instance, the project involving the sur-
reg_xtxous administration of LSD to unwitting non-volunteer human
subjects was conducted in coordination with the Bureau of Narcotics
and Dangerous Dn;?. There is some question as to the Commissioner
of Narcotics’ knowledge about the project.

® \fr. Elder was asked whether the process of bringing forward-a description of
actions by the Agency in getting approval through the absence of disagreement
was a common one. He responded, “It was not uncommon. . . . The more sensitive
the project the more likely it would lean toward being a common practice, based
on the need to keep the written record to a minimum.”

% Nathan Gordan testimony, 9/16/75, Hearings, Vol. 1.

® 1957 IG Revort.



[ ]

88
408

In 1963, the Inspector General noted that the head of the BNDD
had been briefed a ut the project, but the IG’s report did not indi-
cate the level of detail provided to him. Dr. Gottlieb testified that “I
remember meeting Mr. Anslinger and had the general feeling that he
was aware.”® Another CIA officer did not recall any discussion of
testing on un<itting subjects when he and Dr. Gottlieb met with Com-

r

missioner An.shnﬁe 2

In a memorandum for the record in 1967 Dr. Gottlieb stated that
Harry Giordano, who replaced Mr. Ans told Dr. Gottlieb that
when he became Commissioner he was “only generally briefed on the
arrangements, ufave it his general blessing, and said he didn’t want to
lmow the details.” The same memorandum states, however, that there
were several comments which indicated to Dr. Gottlieb that Mr. Gior-
dano was aware of the substance of the project. It is possible that
the Commissioner provided a general authorization for the arrange-
ment without vaderstanding what it entailed or considerin its pro-
priety. A reluctance to seek detailed information from the CIA, and
the CIA’s hesitancy to volunteer it, has been found in a number of
instances during the Select Committee’s investigations. This problem
is not confined to the executive branch but has also marked congres-
sional relationships with the Agency. -

¢. Internal Review.—~The waiver of regulations and the absence of
documentation make it difficult to determine now who authorized
which activities. More importantly, they made internal Agency review
mechanisms much less effective.® Controversial and highly sensitive
}Jrojects which should have been subject to the most rigorous inspection
acked effective internal review.

Given the role of the General Counsel and his reaction to the sur-
reptitious administration of LSD to Dr. Olson, it would have seemed

likely that he would be asked about the legality or gmpriety of any

subsequent Yrojects involving such administration. This was not don
He did not learn about this testing until the 1970’s. Nor was the Gen-
eral Counsel’s opinion sought on other MKULTRA projects, though
these had been characterized by the Inspector General in the 1957
Report on TSD as “unethical and illicit.” ‘

ere is no mention in the report of the 1957 Inspector General’s
survey of TSD of the project involving the surreptitious administra-
tion of LSD. That project was apparently not brought to the attention
of the survey team. The Inspector who discovered it during the IG’s
1963 survey of TSD recalls coming upon evidence of it inadvertently,

® Gottlieb, 10/18/75, p. 28.

* The IG's veport on MKULTRA in 1963 stated :

“The original charter documents specified that TSD maintain exacting con-
trol of MKULTRA sactivities. In so doing, however, TSD bas pursued a phi-
losophy of minimum documentation in keeping with the high sensitirity of some
of the projects. Some flles were found to present a reasonably complete record,
including most sensitive matters, while others with parallel objectives contained
little or no data at all. The lack of consistent records precluded use of routine
inspection procedures and raised a variety of questions concerning madage-
mgnt and fiscal controls.” -

% CIA, Inspector General's report on TSD, 1957, p. 217.
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rather than its having been called to his attention as an especially
sensitive project.** , : ]

Thus both the General Counsel and the Inspector General, the prin-
cipal internal mechanisms for the control of possibly improper actions,
were excluded from regular reviews of the project. When the project
was discovered the Executive Director-Comptroller voiced strong op-
position to it; it is possible that the project would have been termi-
nated in 1957 if it had been called to his attention when he then served
as Inspector General. ] :

The Audit Staff, which also serves an internal review function
through the examination of Agencﬁ exﬁditures, also encountered
substantial dificulty with MKULTRA. When MKULTRA was first
proposed the Audit Staff was to be excluded from any function. This
was soon d. However, the waiver of normal “contractual pro-
cedures” in MKULTRA increased the likelihood of “irregularities”
as well as the difficulty in detecting them. The head of the Aud't
Branch characterized the MKULTRA. procedures as “having allowed
practices that produced gross administrative failures,” including &
lack of controls within outside contractors which would “assure proper
accountability in use of government funds.” It also diminished the
CIA’s capacity to verify the accountings provided by outside firms.

d. Compartmentation and Jurisdictional Conflict Within the
Agency.—As has been noted, the testing and use of chemical and
biological agentaxas treated as a highly sensitive activity within the
CIA. This resulted in a high degree o% ccmpartmentation. At the same
time substantjal jurisdictional conflict existed within the Agenc be-
tween the Technical Services Division, and the Office of Medical Serv-
ices and the Office of Security. :

This compartmentation and jurisdictional conflict may well have
led to duplication of effort within the CIA and to Agency policy-
makers being deprived of useful information. ‘

Du the early 1950’s first the BLUEBIRD Committee and then
the ARTICHOKE Committee were instituted to bring together rep-
resentatives of the Agency components which had a legitimate inter-
est in the arca of the alteration of human behavior. By 1957 both these
committees had fallen into disuse. No information went to the Tech-
nical Services Division (a component su iErepruented on the
ARTICHOKE Committes) about ARTICHOKE operations being
conducted by the Office of Security and the Office of Medical Services.
The Technical Services Division which was providing surport to the
Clandestine Services in the use of chemical and biologica agents, but
&gnded little or no information to either the Office of Security or the

ce of Medical Services. As one TSD officer involved in these pro-
grams testified: “Although we were acquainted, we certainly didn’t
share experiences.” ®

" Even after the Inspector came upon lt: the IG did not pertom.a complete
investigation of it. It was discovered at the end of an extensive survey of TSD
:.fmdthgmpectormmtheproeeuotbdngtrmterxedtomotherpostwithm :
e Agency. ' o
® Testimony of CIA officer, 11/21/75, p. 14
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QKHILLTOP, another group designed to coordinate research in
this area also had little success. The group met infrequently—only
twice a year—and little specific information was exchanged.*®

Concern over security obviously played some role in the failure to
share information,” but this appears not to be the only reason. A TSD
officer stated that the Office of Medical Services simply wasn't “par-
ticularly interested in what we were doing” and never ht such
information.*® On the other hand, a representative of the Office of
Medical Services consistently sought to have medical personnel par-
txcxgate_ in the use of chemical and biological agents suggested that
TSD did not inform the Office of Medical Services in order to pre-
vent their involvement.

Jurisdictional conflict was constant in this area. The Office of
Securiq, which had been assigned responsibility for direction of
ARTICHOKE, consistently sought to bring TSD operations in-
volving ]ﬁychochemicals under the ARTICHOKE umbrella. The
Office of Medical Services sought to have OMS physicians advise and
participate in the operational use of drugs. As the Inspector Gen-
eral described it in 1957, “the basic issue is concerned wi the extent
of authority that should be exercised by the Chief, Medical Staff, over
the activities of TSD which encroach upon or enter into the medical
field,” and which are conducted by TS “without seeking the prior
approval of the Chief, Medical Staff, and often without informing
him of their nature and extent.” *' .

As was noted previously, because the rojects and pro, of
TSD stemmed directly from operational nceds controlled by the
DDP, the IG recommended no further supervision of these activi-
ties by the Medical Staff : '

It is completely unrealistic to consider assigning to the
Chief, Medical Staff, what, in effect, would be authority over
clandestine operations. Furthermore, some of the activities
of Chemical Division are not ang unorthodoz but unethical
and sometimes illegal. The DDP is in a better position o
evaluate the fustification for such operations than the Chief,
Medical Staff** [Emphasis added.]

Because the advice of the Director of Security was needed for
“gvaluating the risks involved” in_ the programs and because the
knowledge that the CIA was “engaging in unethical and illicit activi-
ties would have serious repercussions in political and dig}qomatxc
circles,” the IG recommended that the Director of Security be fully
advised of TSD’s activities in these areas. - ' .

Even after the Inspector General’s Report of 1957, the compartmen-
tation and jurisdictional conflict continucd. They may have had a sub-

* The one set of minutes from a QKHILLTOD meeting indicated that individ-
uals in the Office of Medical Services stressed the need for more contact.

S When asked why information on the surreptitious administration of LSD
was not presented to the ARTICHOKE committee, Dr. Gottlieb responded : “1
fmagine the only reason would have been a concern for broadening the aware-
ness of its existence.” . : .

" CIA officer, 11/21/75, p. 4. -

7 IG Survey of TSD, 1957, p. 217.

* Idid.
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stantial negative impact on policymaking in the Agency. As the Dep-
uty Chief of the Counterintellisgence Staff noted xg:nlgss, due to the
different positions taken by TSS, the Office of Security, and the Office
of Medical Services on the use of chemical or biological agents, it was

ossible that the individual who authorized the use of a chemical or

iological agent could be presented with “incompiete facts upon which
to make a decision relevant to its use.” Even a committee set up by the
DDP in 1958 to attempt to rationalize Agency policy did not have ac-
cess to records of testing and use. This was due, in part, to excessive
compartmentation, and jurisdictional conflict. -

C. Covert TEsTING o8 HuMAN SuBJecTs BY MILITARY INTELLIGENCE
Grours: MaTeriaL Testing Prooram EA 1729, Prosecr THIRD
CHANGE, ano Prosecr DERBY HAT

the designator ysed-i .
fordysergieficid diethylamidé D). Interest in LSD was originally

aroused at the Army’s Chemical“Warfare Laboratories by open litera- -
ture on the unusual effects of the compound.” The positive intelli-
gence and counterintelligence potential envisioned for compounds like
LSD, and suspected Soviet interest in such materials,!*® supported the
development of an American military capability and resulted in ex-
periments conducted jointly by the U.S. Army Intelligence Board and
tlu'zr(h)hemical Warfare Laboraet({:ries. : ! intell

ese experiments, designed to evaluate potential intelligence uses
of I.SD, were known collectively as “Material Testing Program EA
1729.” Two projects of particular interest conducted as part of these
experiments, “THIRD CHANCE” and “DERBY HAT”, involved
gxe%a;;iministmtion of LSD to unwitting subjects in Europe and the

af Iast.

In ma:ay respects, the Army’s testing programs duplicated research
which had already been conducted by the CIA. They certainlg involved
the risks inherent in the early phases of drug testing. In the Army’s
tests, as with those of the CIA, individual rights were also subordi-
nated to national security considerations; informed consent and follow-

n the Army drug testing program

. up examinations of subjects were neglected in efforts to maintain the

secrecy of the tests. Finally, the command and control problems which
were apparent in the CIA’s programs are paralleled by a lack of clear
anthorization and supervision' in the Army's programs.

® USAINTC staff study, “Material Testing Program, EA 1729,” 10/15/39, p. 4.

" Thix same USAINTC study cited “A 1952 (several years prior to initial U.S.

interest in I.SD-25) report that the Soviets purchased a large quantity of LSD-25

?;:'nd.the ?&l;dﬁl Company in 1951, reputed to be sufficient for 50 million doses.”
id., p.’ ;

Generally accepted Soviet methods and counterintelligence concerns were also

~ strong motivating factors in the initiation of this research:

“A primary justification for field experimentation in intelligence with EA 1720
is the counter-intelligence or defense implication. We know that the enemy phi-
losopliy condones any kind of coercion or violence for intelligence purposes. There
ir proof that his intelligence service has used drugs in the past. There is strong
evidence of keel interest in EA 1729 by him. If for no other purpese than to know
what tn e t from enemy intelligence use of the material and to, thus, be pre-
pared to coiinter it, field xperimentation is justified.” (Idid, p. 34)
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1. Scope of Testing '

Betiween 1055 and 1958 research was initiated by the Army Chemical
Corps to evaluate the potential for LSD as a chemical warfare inca-
pacitating agent. In the course of this research, LSD was administered
to more than 1,000 American volunteers who then participated in 2
series of tests designed to ascertain the effects of the drug on their
ability to function as soldiers. With the exception of one set of tests
at Fort Bragg, these and subsequent laboratory experiments to evalu-
ate chemical warfare potential were conducted at the Army Chemical
Warfare Laboratories, Edgewood, Maryland. '

In 1958 a new series of laboratory tests were initiated at Edgewood.
These ex-geriments were conducted as the initial phase of Material
Testing I EA 1729 to evaluate the intelligence potential of
LSD, and included LSD tests on 95 volunteers.'” As part of these
tests, three structured experiments were conducted : .

1. LSD was administered surreptitiously at a simulated
social reception to volunteer subjects who were unaware of
the purpose or nature of the tests in which they were
participating; :

2 2 D lwas a%nisu;ed to volunteers who were subse-
uently poly, ; an
1 3. LSS’ wgarsal;dm' i to volunteers who were then
confined to i jon chambers

These structured experiments were designed to evaluate the validity
of the traditional security training all subjects had undergone in the
face of unconventional, mf enhanced, interrogations.

At the conclusion of the laboratory test phase of Material Testing
Program EA 1729 in 1960, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for
Intelligence (ACSI) authorized operational field testing of LSD. The
first field tests were conducted in Europe by an Army Special Pur-
pose Team (SPT) during the period from May to Angust of 1061.
These tests were known as Project THIRD CI'K&NCE and involved

. eleven separate interrogations of ten subjects, None of the subjects

were volunteers and none were aware that they were to receive
L.SD. All but one subject, a U.S. soldier implicated in the theft of
classified documents, were alleged to be foreign intelligence sources
or agents. While interrogations of these individuals were only moder-
ately successful, at least one subject (the U.S. soldier) exhibited
symgtoms of severe paranoia while under the influemce of the drug.

The second series of field tests, Project DERBY HAT, were con-
ductéd by an Army SPT in the Far East during the period
from August to November of 1962. Seven subjects were interrogated
under DERBY HAT, all of whom were foreign nationals cither sus-
pected of dealing in narcotics or implicated in foreign intelligence
operations. The purpose of this sccond set of ex riments was to coi-
lect additional data on the utility of LSD in field interrogations, and
to evaluate any different effects the drug might have on “Qrientals.”

= Tnspector General of the Army Report. “U'se of Volunteers in Chemical Agent
Research,” 3/10/76, p. 138.
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2. Inadegquate Coordination Among Intelligence Agencies :

On October 15, 1959, the U.S. Army Intelligence Center prepared
lengthy staff study on Material Testing Program EA 1729. The stated
purpose of the staff study was: “to determine the desirability of EA.
1729 on non-US subjects in selected actual operations under controlled
conditions.’** It was on the basis of this study that operational field
tests were later conducted.

A fter noting that the Chemical Warfare Laboratories be%an exsle_:i-
ments with LSD on humans in 1955 and had administered the drug
to olve;edl,ooo volunteers, the “background” section of the study
concluded :

‘There has not been a single case of residual ill effect. Study
of the prolific scientific literature on LSD-25 and personal
communication between US Army Chemical Corps person-
nel and other researchers in this field have failed to disclose
an authenticated instance of irreversible change being pro-
duced in normal humans by the drug.**

This conclusion was reached despite an awareness that there were
inherent medical dangers in such experimentation. In the body of this
same study it isnoted that:

The view has been expressed that EA 1729 is a potentially
dangerous drug, whose pharmaceutical actions are not fully
understood and there has been cited the possibility of the
continuai:;e of a chemically induced psychosis in chronic
form, particularly if a latent schizophrenic were a subject,
with consequent claim or representation against the U.S.
Government.!%* :

An attempt was made to minimize potential medical hazards by care-
ful selection of subjects prior to field tests. Rejecting evidence that
the drug might be hazardous, the study continued:

The claim of possible permanent damage caveed by EA 1729
is an unproven hypothesis based ca the characteristic effect
of the material. While the added stress of a real situation
may increase the probability of permanent adverse effect,
the resulting risk is deemed to be slight by the medical re-
search personnel of the Chemical Warfare Laboratories. To
prevent even such a slight risk, the proposed plan for field
experimentation calls for overt, if possible, or contrived-
through-ruse, if necessary, physical and mental examination
of any real situation subject prior to employment of the
subject.10¢ '

This conclusion was drawn six years after one death had occurred
which could be attributed, at least in part, to the effects of the
very drug the Army was proposing to field test. The USAINTC stafl,
however. was apparently unaware of the circumstances surround-
ing Dr. Olson’s death. This lack of knowledge is indicative of the

= USAINTC staff studs. “Material Testing Program EA 1729.” 10/15/59, p. 4.
Ivid., p. 4.

¥ Idid.. p. 28.

* Idid.
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general lack of interngency communication on drug related research.
As the October 1959 study noted, “there has been no coordination

with other intelligence agencies vp to the present.” 19

On December 7, 1959, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelli-
aence (ACSI, apparently a General Willems) was briefed on the
proposed operational use of I.SD by USAINTC Project Officer Jacob-
son, in preparation for Project THIRD CHANCE. General Willems
expressed concern that the project had not been coordinated with the
FBI and the CTA. He is quoted as saying “that if this project is going
to be worth anything it [I.SD? should be used on higher types of
non-U.S. subjects” in other words “staffers.” He indicated this could
be accomplished if the CIA were brought in. The summary of the
briefing prepared by a Major Mehovsky continues: “Of particular note
is that ACSI did not direct coordination with CIA and the FBI but
only mentioned it for consideration by the planners.” '

After the briefing. four colonels, two lieutenant colonels and Major
Mehovsky met to discuss interagency cooperation with CTA and FBI.
The group consensus was to postpone efforts toward coordination:

I.t. Col. Jacobson commented that before we coordinate with
CI.\ we should have more factual findings from field experi-
mentation with counterintelligence cases that will strengthen
our position and proposal for cooperation. This approach
was agreed to by the conferzes.'*

IIad such coordination beexj achieved, the safety of these experiments
might have been viewed differently and the tests themselves might
have been seen as unnecessary.

3. Subordination of Individual Rights to National Security Consid-
erations

Just as many of these experiments may have been unnecessary, the
nature of the operational tests (polygraph-assisted interrogations of
drugged suspects) reflects a basic disregard for the fundamental
human rights of the subjects. The interrogation of an .\merican
soldier as part of the THIRD CHANCE 1961 tests is an example of
this disregard. _

The “trip report” for Project THIRD CHANCE, dated Septem-
ber 6, 1961, recoynts the circinstances surrounding and the results of
the tests as follows:

[(The subject} was a U.S. soldier who had confessed to theft
of classified documents. Conventional methods had failed to
ascertain whether espionage intent was involved. A significant
new admission by subject that he told a fellow soldier of the
theft while he still had the documents in his possession was
obtained during the EA 1729 interrogation along with other
variations of Subject’s previous account. The interrogution

" results were deemed by the local operational authority satis-
" factory evidence of Subject’s claim of innocence in regurd to
" espionage intent.'**

W roid.. p. 6.

wr zfehoveky Fuct Sheet, 12/9/60, p. 1.

* ryid.,p. 2. °

» SPT Trip Report, Operation THIRD CHANCE, 9/6/81, p. &.
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. The subject ap{mrently reacted very strongly to the drug, and the
.mt.ecl.iro edtxon, while productive, was <difficult. The trip report
concluded: -

(1) This case demonstrated the ability to interrogate a
subject profitably throughout a highly sustained and almost
incapacitating reaction to EA 1729, ‘

(2) The apparent value of bringing a subject into the EA.
1729 situation in a highly stressed state was indicated.

(3) The usefulness of employing as a duress factor the de-
vice of inviting the subject’s attention to his KA 1729-
influenced state and threatening to extend this state in-
definitely even to a permanent condition of insdnity, or to
bring it to an end at the discretion of the interrogators was
shown to be effective. ,

(4) The need for preplanned precautions against extreme
paranoiac reaction t; EA 1729 was indicated.

(5) It was brought to attention by this case that where sub-
ject has undergone extended intensive interrogation prior to

" the EA 1729 episode and has persisted in a version repeatedly
during conventional inte tion, adherence to the same ver-
sion while under EA. 1729 influence, however extreme the reac-
tion, may not necessarily be evidence of truth but merely the
ability toadhere toa rehearsed story.'*

This strong reaction to the drug and the accompanying discomfort
this individual suffered were exploited by the use of traditional inter-
rogation techniques. While there is no evidence that physical violence
or torture were employed in connection with this interrogation, h'ysi-
cal and psychological techniques were used in the THI CH:‘EI\CE '
experiments to exploit the subjects’ altered mental state, and to maxi-
mize the stress situation. Jacobson described these methods in his trip
report:

Stressing techniques employed included silent treatment be-
fore or after EA 1729 administration, sustained conventional
mterrofttion s‘)rior to EA 1729 interrogation, deprivation of
food, drink, sleep or bodily evacuation, sustained. isolation
prior to EA 1729 administration, hot-cold switches in ap-
proach, duress “pitches”, verbal degradation and bodily dis-
g:?lif:ﬁﬁ"‘ or dramatized threats to subject’s life or piental
1

Another gross violation of an individual’s fundamental rights oc-
curred in September 1962 as part of the Army’s DERBY HAT tests
in the Far . A ted Asian espio %gent was given 6
micrograms of I.SD per kilogram of bodyweight. The administration
of the drug was completed at 1035 that morning:

At 1120, sweating became evident, his pulse became thready.
He was placed in a supine position. He began groaning with
expiration and became semicomatose.'*?

.

% rdid., pp. 17-18.

M roid., p. 18. )

';’);“?_ERBY HAT” Medical and Pharmacological Report: Case #1, 9/20/62
n. ’ )
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For the next 28 minutes, the subject remained semicomatose.

At 1148, responses to painful stimuli were slightly improved.
. At 1155, he was helped to a sitting position. S
At 1200, he became shocky again and was returned to supine
position. ’
At 1212, he was more alert and able tosit up with helg‘. -
At 1220, Subject was assisted to the interrogation table.
At 1230, he began moaning he wanted to die and usually
ignored questions. Rarely he stated “he didn’t know.”
At 1250, his phasic alertness persisted. He frequentla re-
~ focused his eyes with eyelid assistance. He frequently threw
“his head back with eyes closed.
At 1330, he was slightly more alert. He was forced-walked for
5 minutes. He physically would cooperate until he became
sho.ky again (sweating, thready pulse, pale).**

For the next three hours the subject remained in about the same con-
dition. Continued attempts at interrogation yielded no relevant
answers. Six hours after receiving the drug, the subject began giving
relevant answers to questions. Eight and one-half hours after the
initinl dosage, the subject was golygmphed. The interrogation con-
tinned for seventeen and one-half hours after the drug was ad-
ministered. :

There was some psychological and medical screening of the in-
dividuals tested within the United States, in Europe, and in
Asin. The proposal for the field experimentation in fact called for
such examinations. The fact of prescreening did not eliminate the

risk of injury; the availability of medical staff did, however, limit

injury and may well have prevented the death of one or more of the
subjects. As the medical corps member of the team which surrepti-
tiously administered the I.SD noted, “one subject . .. did collapse after
the interrogation and the presence of the medical officer was not only
of value to the subject but to the interrogation team who were thus
assured that an unnecessary untoward result would not occur.” '

In the October 15, 1959, USAINTC staff study, moral and legal
rami%catigns of covert administration of I.SD in field conditions were
considered. :

It was always a tenet of Army Intelligence that the basic
American principle of the dignity and welfare of the in-
dividual will not be violated. . . . A more meticulous regard
for the prohibition agninst violence or duress is taken in
practice when the suspect is a TS citizen or ally as against -
an actual or potential cnemy, in peace as against war, and in
respect to the nature of the crime. . . . In intelligence, the
stakes involved and the interests of national security may
permit a more tolerant interpretation of moral-ethical values,
but not legal limits, through necessity. ... Any claim

1 rhid.. p. D10-3. . |
s SPT Trip Report, Operation THIRD CHANCE, 7/25/61, p. 1.
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against the US' Government for alleged injury due to EA
1729 must be legally shown to have been due to the material.
Proper security and appropriate operational techniques
can protect the fact of employment of EA 1729.%%¢

On the basis of this evaluation, the stidy concluded that in view of
“the stakes involved and the interests of national security,” the pro-
posed plan for field testing should be approved. . . o
The surreptitious administration of drugs to unwitting subjects by
the Army raises serious constitutional and Jegal issués. The considera-
tion given these issues by the Army was wholly insufficient, The char-
acter of the Army’s volunteer testing program and the possibility that
drugs Vyere simply substituted for other forms of violence or duress in
field interrogations raises serious doubts as to whether national se-
curity imperatives were properly interpreted. The “consent” forms
which each American volunteer signed prior to the administration of
LSD are a case in point. Theu.g)nrms conta.ned no mention of the
medical and psychological risks inherent in such testing, nor do they
mention the nature of the psychotrophic drug to be administered:

The general nature of the experiments in which I have
volunteered. have been explained to me from the standpoint
of pussible hazards to' my health. /¢ is my undentandx‘nf that
the cxperime:i: are so designed, based ‘on the resuits of
anifals and previous human experimentation, that the antic-
ipated results will ju.m‘{y the performance of the experi-
ment. T understand further that experiments will be so con-
ducted as to avoid all unnecessary physical and medical
suffering and injury, and that / cill be at liberty to request

. that the experiments be terminated at any time if in my opin-
ion T have reached the physical or mental state where con-
tinuation of the experiments becomes undesirable.

I recognize that in the pursuit of certain riments
transitory discomfort may occur. I recognize, also, that under
these circumstances, / must rely upon the skill and wisdom
of the physician supervising the experiment to institute what-
e:ifireglf?‘l‘ca] or surgical measures arc indicated. [Emphasis
added.

The exclusion of any specific discussion of the nature of LSD in
these forms raises serious doubts as to their validity. An “nnderstand-
_ing . . . that the anticipated results will justify the performance of
the experiment” without full knowledge of the nature of the ex ri-
mert is an incomplete “understanding.” Similarly, the nature of the
experiment limited the ability of both the subject to request its re-
quest its termination and the experimenter to implement such a request.
Finally, the euphemistic characterization of “transitory discomfort”
and the agreement to “rely on the skill and wisdom of the physician”
combine to conceal inherent rigks in the experimentation and may be
viewed as disolving the experimenter of ‘personal responsibility for
damaging aftereffects. In summu?r, a “volunteer” program in which
subjects are not fully informed of potential hazards to their persons
is “volunteer” in nameonly.

™ USAINTC strff study. “Material Testing Program EA 1729,” 10/15/59, p. 26.
% Sample volunteer consent form.



L K

98
418

This problem was compounded by the security statements signed
by each volunteer before he participated in the testing. As part-of
this statement, potential subjects agreed that they would:

. . . not divulge or make available any information related
to U.S. Army Intelligence Center interest-or participation in
the Department of Army Medical: Research Volunteer
Program to any individual, nation, organization, busin
association, or other group or entity, not officially authori
to receive such information. £

I understand that any action contrary to the provisions of
this statement will render me liable to punishment under the
provisions of the. Uniform Code of Military Justice.!**

Under these provisions, a volunteer rier::::l? aftereffects of the test
might have &en unable to seek immediate medical assistance.

This disre for the well-bemi of subjects drug testing is in-
excusable. Fur:her, the absence of any comprehensive long-term
medical assistance for the subjects of these experiments is not only

unscientific; it is also unprofessional.
4 Lack of Normal Authorization and Supervision

It is apparent from documents supplied to the Committee that the
Army’s testing programs often operated under informal and ponrou-
tine authorization. Potentislly dangerous operations such us these
testing programs are the very projects which ought to be subject to
the closest internal scrutiny at the highest levels of the military com-
mand structure. There are numerous examples of inadequate review,
partial consideration, and incomplete approval in the administration
of these programs. : '

When the first Army program to use LSD on American soldiers in
“field stations” was authorized in May 1955, the Army violated its

own procedures in obtsining approval..Under Army Chief of Staff

Memorandum 385, such proposals were to be personally approved by
the Secretary of the Army. Although the plan was submitted to him
on April 26, 1956, the Secretary issued no written authorization for
the project, and there is no evidence that he either reyiewed or ap-
proved the plan. Less than & month later, the Army Chief of Staff
1ssued a memorandum authorizing the tests.'*

Subsequent testing of LSD under Material Testing Program EA
1729 operated generally under this authorization. When the plans for
this testing were originally discussed in em:r 1958 by officials of the
Arm Intelli?n‘ee enter at Fort Holabird and representatives of
the Chemical Warfare Center at Edgewood Arsenal, an informal pro-
»osal was formulated. This proposal was submitted to the Medical

esearch Directorate at Edgewood by the President of the Army In-
telligence Board on June 3, 1958. There is no evidence that the plan
was approved at any level higher than the President of the Intelli-
gence Board or the Commanding General of Edgewood. The spproval
at: Edgewood appears to have been issued by the Commander’s-Adju-
tant. The Medical Research Laboratories did not submit the plan to
the Surgeon General for approval (a standard procedure) because

1» Sample Volunteer Security Statement. -
™ Inspector General of the Army Report, “Use of Volunteers -in Chemical
Arent Ressarch.” 2/10/7& n. 100. '
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the new program was ostensibly ccvered by the authorizations granted
in May 1956.:% . ' '

The two projects -involviﬁithe operational use of LSD (THIRD
CHANCE snd DERBY HAT) were apparently approved by the ,
Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence (General Willems) on
December 7, 1960.2* This verbal approval came in the course of 8
briefing on previous drug programs and on the Slanped field experi-
mentation. re is no record of written approval being issued by the
ACSI to authorize these specific projects until January 1961, and

_there is no record of any specific knowledge or approval by the Secre-
tary of the Army.

n February 4, 1963, Major General C. F. Leonard, Army ACSI,
forwarded a copé of the THIRD CHANCE Trip Report to Army
Chief of Staff, General Earl- Wheeler. ** Wheeler had apgarently
requested a copy on February 2. The report was routed through a Gen-
cral Hamlett. While this report included ba d on the orig'ns
of the LSD tests, it appears that General Wheeler may only have read
the conclusion and recommendations.** The office memorandum
accompanying the Trip Report bears Wheeler’s initials.!* :

5. Termination of Testing

On April 10, 1963, s bri was held in the ACSI’s office on the
results of Projects THIRD CHANCE and DERBY HAT. Both
SPT’s concluded that more field testing was required before LSD
could be-utilized as an integral aid to counterintelligence interroga-
tions, During the presentation of the DERBY HAT results, General
Leonard (DepprSI) directed thet no further ﬁeld'test—iﬁge
undertaken.!® Alter this meeting the ACST sent & letter to the Com-
manding General of the Army Combat Developments Command
(CDC) requesting that he review THIRD CE and DERBY
HAT und “make & net evaluation concerning the adoption of EA 1729
for future use as an effective and profitable aid in counterintelligence
interrogations.” ¥ On the same day the ACSI requested that the CDC
Commander revise regulation FM 30-17 toread in part:

cee ipminstaneewiﬂdmgsbeusedasmgidtointerro-
gations in counterintelligence or security operations without
prior permission of the Department of the Army. Requests
to use drugs as an investigative aid will be forwarded through
intcll:g‘ym channels to the OACSI, DA, for approval. . ..

Medical research has established that information obtained
through the use of these d is unreliable and invalid. . . .

It is considered that DArﬁrmy] approval must be a pre-
requisite for use of such drugs because of the moral, legul,
medical and political problems inherent in their use for intel-

" ligence purposes.'**

i roid., pp. 135, 187, 138.

1= yfehovaky Fact Sheet, 12/9/00.

1= \femorandum from Leonard to Wheeler, 2/4/63.

:: ;ﬂgg meno_nndnm to Wheeler through Hamlett, 2/5/G3.
' \faj. F. Barnett, memorandum for the reeord; 8/12/63.

- }:;aki memorandum for the record, 7/16/63..
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The subsequent adoption of this Jation marked the effective ter-
mination of field testing of LSD by the Army. '

The official termination date of these testing programs is rather
unclear, but a later ACSI memo indicates that it may have occurred
in September of 1963. On the 19th of that month a meeting was held
between Dr. Van Sims (Edgewood Arsenal), Major Clovis (Chemi-
cal Research Laboratory), and -ACSI representatives (General
Deholm and Colonel Schmidt). “As a result of this conference a deter-
mination was made to suspend the program and any further activity
pending a more profitable and suitable use.” 12

D. CoorzraTioN AND CoMPETITION AMONG THE INTELLIGENCE CoM-
MUNITY AGENCIES AND BETWEEN TiESE AGENCIES AND OTHER
- INDIVIDUALS AND INSTITUTIONS .

1. Relationships Among Agencies Within the Intelligence Community

Relationships among intelligence community agencies in this area
varied considerably over time, ranging from fuﬁ cooperation to intense
and wasteful competition. The edrly period was marked by a high
degree of cooperation among the agencies of the intelligence commu-
nity. Although the military dominated research involving chemical
and biologic ﬁnts, the information developed was shared with the
FBI and the CIA. But the spirit of cooperation did not continue. The

failure by the military to share information apparently breached the

spirit, if not the letter, of commands from above. .

As noted above, the Army Assistant Chief of Stafl for Intelligence
was briefed on the pro operational tst_inﬁ.of LSD under Project
THIRD CHANCE, and expressed concern that the project.had not
been coordinated with FBI and CIA. Despite this request, no coordi-
nation was achieved between the Army and either of these agencies.
Had such cooperation been forthcoming, this project may have been
evaluated ina different light. - : .

The competition between the agencies in this area reached bizarre
levels. A military officer told 2 CIA representative in confidence about
the military’s field testing of L.SD in Europe under Project THIRD
CHANXCE, and the CIA promptly attempted to learn surreptitiously
the nature and extent of the program. At roughly the same time Mr.

. Helms argued to the DDCI that the unwitting testing program should

be continued, as it contributed to the CIA’s capability in the area and
thus allowed the CTA “to restrain others in the intelligence community
(such as the Deg;rtment of Defense) from pursuing operations.™ '3

The MKNAOMI pmgvm was also marked by a failure to share
information. The Army Special Forces (the principal customer of the
Special Operations. Division at Fort Dietrick) and the CIA rather
than attempting to coordinate their efforts promulgated different re-
quirements which varied only slightly. This apparently resulted in
some duplication of effort. In order to insure the security of €I\
operations, the Agency would request materialg from SOI for opera-
tional unse without fully or accurately describing the operational
rle;qugfn\lents. This resulted in limitations on SOD's ability to assist
the <L ‘

1® Ondated ASCI memorandum, . 2.
i® yfemorandum from the DDP to the DCI, 11/9/64, p. 2.

2 * X

o g



101
421

2. Relationships Between the Intelligence Community dgencies and
Foreign Liaison Services )

The subjects of thie CIA’s operational testing of chenical and bio-
logical agents abroad were generally being held for interrogation by
foreign intelligence or security organizations. Although in ormation
about the use of drugs was generally withheld from these organiza-
tions, cooperation with themn necessarily jeopardized the security of
CI.\ interest in these materials. Cooperation also placed the American
Government in a position of complicity in actions which violated the
rights of the subjects, and which may have violated the laws of the
country in which the experiments took place. o

Cooperation between the intelligence agencies and organizations in
foreign countries was not limited to relationships with the intelligence
or internal security organizations. Some MKULTRA research was
conducted abroad. While this is, in itself, not a questionable practice,
it is important that such research abroad not be undertaken to evade
American laws. That this was a ﬁossibility is suggested by an ARTI-
CHOKE memorandum in which it is noted that working with the
scientists of a foreign country “might be very advantageous” since
that government “permitted certain activities which were not per-
m:t;e’t,l by the United States government (i.e., experiments on anthrax,
ete.).”

3. The Relationships Between the Intelligence Community Agencies
and Other Agencies of the US. Government

Certain U.S. government agencies actively assisted the efforts of
intelligence sgencies in this area. One form of assistance was to pro-
vide “cover” for research contracts let by intelligence agencies, in
order to- disguise intelligence community interest in chemical and
biological agents. _ : .

Other forms of assistance raise more serious questions. Although
the CI\'s project involving the surreptitious administration of Lgi)
was conducted by Bureau of Narcotics persohnel, there was no open
connection between the Bureau personnel and the Agency. The Bureau
was serving as a “cut-out” in order to make it difficult to trace Agency-
participation. The cut-out arrangement, however, reduced the CIA's
ability ‘to control the program. The Agency could not control the
process by which subjects were selected and cultivated, and could not
regulate follow-up after the testing. Moreover, as the CIA’s Insmector
Genersl noted : “the handling of test subjects in the last analysis rests
with the [Bureau of Narcotics] agent working alone. Suppression of
" knowledge-of critical results from ‘the top CIA management is an
inherent risk in these operations.” *** The arrangement also made it
impossible for the Agency to be certain that the decision to end the
surrepttgous #dministration of LSD would be honored by the Bureau
personnel. : '

_The arrangement with the Burean of Narcotics was described as
“informal:” ¥ The informality of the arrangement comn unded the
problem is-aggravated by the fact that the 40 Committee has had vir-

= ARTICHOKE Memorandum, 6/13/52.

= 1G Report on MKULTRA. 1963, p. 14. .

1 rbid. This was taken by one Agency official to mean that there would be no
written contract and no formal mechanism for payment. (Elder, 12/18/73, p. 31.)
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apparent unwillingness on the part of the Bureau’s leadership to ask
for details, and the CIA’s hesitation in volunteering information.
These problems raise serious questions of command and control within

the Bureau.

4. Relationships Between the Intelligenée Community Agencies and
Other Institutions and Individuals, Public and Private

The Inspector. General’s 1963. Survey of MKULTRA noted
that “the research and development” phase was conducted through
standing arrangements with “specialists in universities, pharmaceu-
tical houses, hospitals, state and federal institutions, and private re-
search organizations” in a manner which concealed “from the institu-
tion the interests of the CIA.” Only a few “key individuals” in each
institution were “made witting of Agency sponsorship.” The research
and development phase was succee ed by a phase involving “phy-
sicians, toxicologists, and other ialists in mental, narcotics, and
general hospitals and prisons, who are provided the products and
findings of the basic research projects and proceed with intensive test-
ing on human subjects.” ¢ :

According to the Inspector General, the MEKULTRA testing pro-

ms were “conducted under accepted scientific procedures . . .
where health permits, test subjects are voluntary participants in the
programs.” 1% This was clearly not true in the project involving the
surreptitious administration of LSD, which was marked by a com-
plete lack of screening, medical supervision, opportunity to observe. or
medical or_psychological follow-up.

The intelligehce agencies allowed individual researchers to design
their project. Experiments sponsored by these researchers (which in-
cluded one where narcétics addicts were sent to Lexington, Kentucky,
who were rewarded with the drug of their addiction in return for
participation in experiments with I.SD) call into question the deci-
sion by the agencies not tb fix guidelines for the experiments.

The MKULTRA research and development program raises other
questions, as well. Tt is not clear whether individuals in prisons, mental,
narcotics and general hospitals can_provide “informed consent” to

articipation ir experiments such asthese. There is doubt as to whether
institutions should be unwitting of the ultimate sponsor of research
being done in their facilities. The nature of the arrangements also

made it impossible for the individuals who were not aware of the.
sponsor of the research to exercise any chaice about their participa-

tion based on the sponsoring organization. - A
Although greater precautions are now being taken in research con-
ducted on behalf of the intelligence community agencies, the dilemma
of classification remains. These agencies obviously wished to conceal
their interest in certain forms of research in order to avoid stimulating

interest in the same areas by hostile governments. In.some cases today

contractors or researchers wish to conceal their connection with these

agencies. Yet the fact of classification prevents open discussion and

debate upon which scholarly work depends.

-3% rdid. p. 9.
™ Idid. p. 10.
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APPENDIX B

DOCUMENTS REFERRING TO DISCOVERY OF ADDI-
TIONAL MKULTRA MATERIAL

22 gupe 197?
T "‘.vo'..'.o"*t. ..",".(.. .‘:..'-'"-.fi-- s’-..' .. 0-"\ Loeel . “3.“6 - . : :': .. ..Y'.}.}; #"" . " -'. '.E’-"‘% . .“.- ‘?-.:;.

) -... N . R N . .. . [ et ) M ,‘ -- S . . . .
.- MEMORANDUM FOR: ‘Deputy Director of Central Intelligence . .

T e e Rt et B SRS TS e LGS RS s P 2l T s Wi e A

THROUGH +. " : Deputy Director for Science and Techuology

SUBJECT . : 'Request for Guidance on Handling . :
©°'7 7 __.Recently Located MKULTRA Material = -~

Tose

¢ S . . Ly
.- Lo -
1. (U/AIUO) This nemorandun is to advise you that
" sdditional MKULTRA documents have been discovered and to
obtain your approval for follow-on actions required. '
Paragraph 7 contains a reconnended course of actionm.

» 2. (U/AIUO) As a result of John Marks FOIA re- -
quest (F-76-374), 81l of the MKULTRA material in OTS -
possession wvas reviewed for possible release to him. .
'Following that reviex, the OTS material in the Retired .
Records Center was searched. It was during that latter
search that the subproject files were 'located among the.
retired records of the OTS Budget and Fiscal Sectioun.
These files were not discovered earlier as the earlie:
searches were linited to the exanination of the_sctive

- and retired records of those branches considered most :
likely to have generated or have had sdccess tp MKULTRA ™ .
documents. Those branches included: Chdémistry,. :
Biological, Behavioral Activities, and Contracts Mtna{ -
ment. Becsuse Dr. Gottlieb retrieved and destroyed all
‘the MKULTRA docurents he was able to locate, it is not .
surprising that the earlier search for MKULTRA documents,
direcCted at areas where they were most likely to be found,
was unsuccessful. The purpose of establishing the MKULTRA
mechanisa was to limit knowledge of the sensitive work

. being performed to those with an absolute need to know. .
1f those precepts had been followed, the recently found _ -
B&F files should have -‘containcd-only financisl and
adainistrative docunents. (In retrospect, 1 reslize that

o ety |
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§51JEZCT:  Request for Guxdanc. on H¢nd11n, R,ce::_?
: Loca.ed luULTRA Aa.crial ..

a . serious error was made in net hav1n~ B§F fz!e‘ 1=2 cthe
seeningly innocuous files searched e:'lier ) As iz Happes.
_post of the”individual sudpreject folders contaln ;::je
.proposals and mezoranda for ‘the record, which iz visrisg
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SUEJECT: Reguest for Guidance on Handling Recently
csated, HKULTRA Material . '

. The centriduticn couiad be controversial in.that it was

made throuzl

=echanise making it appear to be a private
donatien. 7
T

s

ivate donations qualified for, and

ceived, an equal amount of Federal matching
e iror the Office of Gencral Counsel dated

- 21 Februacy 133! attesting to the legality of this funding
- 4s in the Zile. : R T

C b e AT N : . - - 0.
e @, (T AIU)  The Legislative Counscl has been -

nade avare cd the éxistence of these additional MXULTRA
docunents xkick are still under review and saaitization.

. The MARKS czzse is in litigation anéd we are comnitted to

advise Xr. Harzs ¢f the existence of these files shortly,
and to céeliveT the releasablie material tec his attorneys
by 31 Juir. A detter from the Inforzatican 2pd Privacy.
Stasf to Mo, X3%ks* atrorneys inforzing thea of the.
existence of this rcaterial is in the cocrldination process

and is scielziel to be mailed en 23 June. -

- $oc s o prema

T ;u;a;.»,“There are now :wo-actions that shoulé'
be takea: : } : , .

t 4
- -
S

s a.. Releasc appropriately sanitized matverial to
5 ¥r. Yoris® attorneyrs as required by FOIA 1litigatien.
. ¥, Izferm the Senate Sclect Coznittee of the
. 'exis:eqze.cf the recently located records prior to
infer=in; Nr. Marks' attornovs. "
Iz is rece==ended that you approve of both of these actions.

8. (U/AIUC) 1If additiomal details gn the conteats

of this materi=l arc dosired, the OTS officers most familiar |
with it are p;cpare& 1o brief you at your convenience. ’

T B 8 et
o R “ David S. Brandwein - :
C - L Director .- .-
- f7icc of Technical Service -

© . .
o .

e
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‘The Director of Central Intelligence ™
Nashingon O.C 20308

The Honorable Daniel K. Inouye, Chafrman
Select Committee on Intelligence )
United States Senate : _ : e _

Dear ’nr.. Chatrman:

During the course of 1975 when the Senate Committee, chaired
by Senator Church, was investigating fntelligence activities, the .
CIA was asked to produce documentation on & program of experizentation
with the effect of drugs. Under this project conducted from 1953
to 1964 and known as “MK-ULTRA," tests were conducted on American
citizens in some cates without their knowledge. The CIA, after
searching for such documentation, reported that most of the documents
on this matter have been destroyed. I find i1t my duty to report
to you now that our continuing search for drug related, as well as -
other documents, has uncovered certain papers which bear on this
mtter. Let me hasten to add that I am persuaded that there was no

" previous attempt to conceal this material in the original 1975

exploration’~ The material recently discovered was in the retired

_archives filed under fizancial accounts and only uncovered by using

extraordinary and extensive search efforts. In
incidentally, 1 have personally cosmended the esp
produced this find. '

Because the new material now on hand is primarily of a financial
nature, it does not present a complete picture of the field of drug
experimentation activity but 1t does provide more detail than was -
previously available to us. For example, the following types of
activities were undertaken:. :

a. Possible additional cases of drugs being tested on
American citizens, without their knowledge. ,

b. Research was undertaken on surreptitious methods of
administering drugs. , _

c. Some of the persons chosen for experlnentati.on were
drug addicts or alcoholics.

d. Research into the development of a knockout or "K"
drug was performed in conjunction with being done to .
develop pain killers for advanced cancer patients, and tests
on such patients were carried out.

t?is connection, '
oyee whose diltgence

~— -
'

L)

M
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e. There {s a possibility of an 1mproper payment to E
private institution. e

The drug related activities described in this newly located material
began aloost 25 years ago. I assure you they were discontinued over
10 years ago and do not take place today. )

In Irzeping with the President's commitment to disc’lose any errors
of the Intelligence Community which are uncovered, I would like to
volunteer to testify before your Committee on the full details of this
unfortunate series of events. | am in the process of reading the
fairly voluminous material involved and do want to be certain that
I have a cosplete picture when I talk with the Committee. I will be
in touch with you next week to discuss when harings light be :
scheduled at the earliest opportunity.

I regret. havi t? bring this issue to your attention, but I I:now
that it {s essentiZl to your oversight procedunr:s that you be kept fully
informed in a timely manner..

Yours sincers

/7

STANSFIELD TURNER
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APPENDIX C
DOCUMENTS REFERRING TO SUBPROJECTS

datem— S MM WZP

-t oo ey

~"; ° . - . '...".'- RS

' eafficient msans t0 exploit
Lh. ., to the MOLTIA progres. - -

* &———— a-”umuetumm;nun”" < -

and o faculty msmber of the

1tions have 13!&4 Beurcpeychistrist
o Chief mrmmmmn.m —

dons work hinmself which bas the '
c professicsal activities sai nown comnections vith the SENERNNgN,, —
m— - :..-... .....'”:.‘. . _.'

3. Subproject 2 would include:

© e
genaral field of MKULTRA.

W ‘saTvices as & contact end eut-out for projects i the
MEDLTSA field, primarily those ‘loeated in thadiNINRNENNG

when located in the central

1. m:maummwum.mhu c.

. Monitoring of selected projects in the MXTETRA field,
S,

DRAFT -
1 my 1953

 SUBJECT: mm JEILTRA, Subgroject 2

-Wmm«dg-nmm.um-

d. .Services as a genersl consultant and sdviscr 13 the

mm\.mn.

b. The total cost of this project is not to exceed $4,650.00°

for & pariod of cne year. .

dasis.

i

96-408 O - 77 -8

C —— 5. SRR 1+ clesred through TOP SICEET oo @ contact
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Objective: To study the possible syoergistic action of drna

vhich ssy b wu for use 1a nbonlnu consciousness.
Situstion: There is resscn to believe tiat two or more drugs,
used i.a cub‘l.ntua, ere more uttccztn M single drugs.

The ahtud offect ut sooe drugs, cuch ss cambirstions of
mbtemm,. aresknown., With otbar combirations,.the degree
dmumm Itcautﬂm‘bhqurztnutauﬂ
to oxut, tvo pcui‘hmttu mst be considered: (1) tkat a
pﬂteuhﬂ: useful coubinstion msy be found, sod (2) that e
particular c:-bmtia -y be hazardcus becsuse of its effect
on- ruptnttan or u. atm vital ruettu. To minimize
bazards, animal experiments ahmld w.cm humn experizents.

I}

Provosal: Allocition of $1000 for smimal experisents, to be
drsvn ou as needed. That experimenis be cooducted i.atdtuu‘:'r

B — g mﬂtw s specific graat, and with appropriate cover.
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Object huwmret&mumsw

ﬂthutthhnldndthﬂtw m‘uacxnm
L - .

Metbod: A survey of methods which bave been used by crimizals
for surreptitious sdministration of drugs. Amilysis of the
peychodynsuics of situsticns of this meture,

m mttmumutwmm,mu
bcquum




3. Subproject 2 wald inelnte the folleving!
(a) Gscellsneces ressarch and testing: sstvices

in the gemarel fileld°of MEULIRA. '
.(v) m'usm-nmmmjm'
c ia the MEIZIRA those located in

(¢) Nemitering of salected projects ia the

- the emtral

G i

o | Bq would st as medical edvisor end csnsultaat
C-;—-a Pand nis (IS eeteblish-

5 q-uwnl = &

mumw.mm-w
-c.-—-m,munuwd
Mhﬁo:—l-c;uhom‘\dﬁ
standard Goverzment allowvanees. . ¥ )

.
-
. —— —— — . — " ——-

date Ny ¥
BaiitehtSn I ——
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1.. Sudproject 16 is & continuation of ‘Subproject 3, which
1avolved establishment and maintensnce of facilities for the’

contizued maintensnce of the fagilities. .

2. Suyproject 3 was origimally intended to provids funds for the
maintensnce of the facilities for coe year; dut it turns cut that ths
costs -of alterationa, equ’zasut, sod initial supplies were under-
estinated in Sudyroject 3; hence the nscessity to establish Subproject
16 at this time. . .

3. Budprojest mwumw. a
Certain support activities will be provided by CD/TsS

k. The estimated cost for & pericd of coe year is §7,7h0.00.

PROGRAM APPROVED - - - APPROVED JCR OELIGATION
AND KECQMMERDED: o yums: —
angibes. *

Dater_zm=mmmme . g /3 Cebtf

-

Origisal Only, ' S
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MEMORAIDM FOR TSE XECORD
SUBTECT: Project MXULTRA, Subprolect 3

. (8

g ecta’
to m_pu-nsuyhl, as 7ell as certals other materials of intaTest toO
ca/rs3. Dr. 2130 serves as o zezeral comsultast to this
divizion 2 cover ond cut-ocut facilities to the igensy.

3. "m total cost of this y=ojact for s 7ericd of ome Jeor vill
cot exceed 342,700.0Q. Y

L. Dr. been zrantei a Top Secret Clsaverce Wy
mmmummhxm«amwmmwaw
Gorercmant's intezest in such matters as this. a

FRC30. APESOVED - APYROVED JCR ONLIZATICT
i3D T STTED: 02 YoB3:

b bAd H

attashmanss Propossl W
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SUBJECT: . mamwdwa.m-nm

(@

1. mudmmummemmm
taken by SURNIWEDst the directicn of TSS/CD under Subproject 23,
Project MEULTHA, the $42,700.00 sus origimally cbligated for this wark
1s insufficient to eover the year's ccosts. It is therefore proposed to
mm,m.mum:mmmmmm

2. mmm«m.m«tmmma:mm-
to 28 Jezmuary 1955 will thus emount to $37,700.00.

3. umumamhmwmmums

the dsvelopment and partial finaneing of tvo new scurces of bdiclogically
uuneweumututhmmlcnumm.
mnm

Chemioal m.m .
Cm:

Date: 0:# 1/

mw
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© .25 August 1955

w!‘_ﬂ: THE RECCRD

smcr: . Autherization for Paymeat of Certain Expenses Usder

i+ Project MEULTRA, Subproject 23 . . L. G

1. In order to carry Gn h )
wvas pecessary to test the effects certain chexical sudstances
vhen sdministered to bumen beings. Cartain of.the snticipated
effects involved meatal functions vhich precluded the use of mental °
defactives for this particulsr study. - .

. - .o Ce i
2. In view ¢f these circumstancss the project engineer, vwith
verbal spprovel from his chief, authorized the contractor to pay the
Rospitals expenses of certain perscus froa incurebls cancer
tummmawmmemnwwm
thelr terminal 1llnesses. The total funds expended in this fashion
ancunted to $658.05 snd full valus was received. .- :

3. Tt 1s requested that the Chief, T3S inticste his imovledge
and spproval of this particular cyendttun_for,gﬂ&t purposes.

R

of the sbove autproaoet,-it_ .;.".-;-'
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21 December 195k

WEACRANDUM FOR: Director of Central Intéiligence
SUBJECT : Project MXULTRA, Subproject 35

1. While tlhe Director's statutory authority to expend funds
for confidential purposes i3 not limited by low, we believe that
agiﬁofcwermmmﬂsuchwmmndthsintmwthe
Corgress in granting that pover. Eowever, where s gift is made
for the express Turpose of yroducirg sozething of velus to this
Agency which cannot cthervise be obitaired and there is a reascun-
able exvectetion that ths velis may be received, the gift may in
effect be ar expenditure for proper officizl pusposes. .

2, In Sudproject 35, it is stated thas. the .donation in .
question would achieve certain ends desired by TSS+ Thece seens
to be no question that those ends would be sdvantageous, so the
main questions appesr to be whethar they could not be attained
by more direct, normal methods, and, if not, vhether the retwrn
is pecessary and reascnable in relation -to the donation.

3. We ere in no position to reviev the requirezents of TsS
or to appenise the advantages that would result from this project.
We do not co=ment, therefore, on the value received if ‘the
project results in the benefits foreseen. We feel ws should
corment on factors affecticg the probability of achieving those
ends. In & legal sense, there is little or mo coatrol. - Once
the furds are donated, the inddvidusl, his foundation, or the
hospital could conceivably refuse to work for us or allow us the
use of the facilities. . .

h. Practically, the control seexs to be estsblished es well
as circumstances permit. Certainly, as loag as the individual is
alive and in his present rosition, we have every reason t4 expect
his complete cooperation in the future as in the past, unless
through sc:ie act or fault of our own be is alienated. Even in the
event of his death or incapacity, there sppears to te a reasonadble

- -

by aﬁt:ﬂ?tt' of: 1é7 e hd

. : 187478 |
€ata: Jumsy 1977 -"3?:\ ‘ _
=2 negs Copy # 1 of 1 copy

"33 CL 57 137478

o.w.. 3 ; = 2 |
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chonce of contizui~x the rroject. Il these Frotatilisies cppenr
sursieseas a3 ¢btain aa adequate returm for the cxperilture, tbore
een b2 o legol objection to this aspect of the projuct.

S, It should be noted that there are two éircunstances wtich
require consideration in & final determination. As stated in
Section V, our contribution, by appearing to be from & private
source, would increzss the metching Coverr—ent contribution by a
siailar amount wkich would not de the case if it were knowa that
thiz vas in fact a Coverz=ant contridbutica also. Secondly, it is
the stated policy of the hospital to charge the Goverament end
comnercisl orgunizations 80 per cent overheed on research contracts,
vheress ncnprofit foundaticns pay only direct costs but mo overaead.
Because of tie osteasible source, ouwr projects will not be chargesd
overhesd. This could bte econstrued as mdrally wroagful to the
hospital, as normally we would ray tae 80 per cent overhead
charge for projects perrormed directly for us, dut I dalicve
this can be offset, at least to the azount of owr donation, end
perhaps by the further azouat by which tte other  Goverr=ent contri-
butions are increased by owr dcration. In apy case, if ths
project i3 a proper oze and cust be prformed in tais manrer,
security dictates these circumstences and they, therefore, do
not preseat a legal obstacle as such,

6. We raised the guesticn vhether fumds for the hospital
construction could not be cbtained froa otber norzal charitavle
sources. It aposared that there was & StFohg possibility that
the individusl corcernmed could raise sdequate funds frca private
resources, but it was the position of TSS that if this were ths
cese Ve would pot obtatn the-commitaent from the individucl end
the degree of control vhich this projecy is desigred to echieve.

LAWRENC= R, HOUSTCH
Genersl Counscl

SvmgToded 108 (eepmemmenm
. 47 of: 187478 ",

1677 N
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Dovngraded to:
by authority cf: 137473

fate: Jung 1377 . .ot
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SRR - ¢

b 8 aApril 1955 .
T OReNTS FOR:  Chief, DD/P/TSS _
f
SIBJ=CT :. Amendment to Subtrdject 35 of Project :ITTIT2A
Ws have noted your mezcrandu= of 6 April 1955 to the
Directar rejuesting en increcse cf $250,070 for the T3S
E%D budgzet for this Froject. Tais request does not affact
‘T 4n aay woy the coments in my memcranduz of 21 Deceusar 1954.
: ' doenigradod to: (inalilithhies
' by guthority of: 187478 A\
cxty: June 1977 AL

2 IMPDST; CL BY 137475

] Copy # 1 of 1 copy
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~ 5May 1555

A po-um of ths Rossarch and Develcy=cat Prezrem of
TS5/Chezdcal Divicicn 413 dsvoted to the diacovery cf the .
20llouing mavarisls cnd methodss

1, Substances which vill premots illczical
and irpulsivensss to ths point whars the rscipient would be
digcredited in public, . _

- 2, Substances which increase the etricia:cy ef 1
tion and porceptica,

3. Matorials which will pravent or couateract tho
mtcac:u:g offost ox‘ alcouol,

4e Materials which will rro=ote the htad.aﬁ:.: al-
fect of alcohol,

: - 5 mmwhi&ﬂnmc-thouwaﬁsa—‘u
am@dddmmoohcwuusuyumttww
be ussd jor malingerirg, oto, .

0, laterials which will mdar <he Mction af h:,';ncsis
easis> or otharvise canance its uoefulness, ,

7. Substances which will enkance the ability of inli-
sidusls to withstard privation, tortre and goercim during
inurre-a.iza end co-called Strain-vashing?,

8, Materials and phyzical methods vhich will promco
axnesia for oventa precoding and daring thuir use,

9« Physical motbods of prcéu:i::g chock and ecafusion
mc:bendedpciodso:tundca,sblootm-;utwu
use,

'10, Substances which prodace physical disablerent such
as paralyais of the lsgzs, acute anemia, eto,

'ham-‘

o

e

~a

>
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Fome e



E 2B

R Al

v

3.

124

R

—_— de

—— e
= —

11, Substences Lhich will produse “pure™ euphcrls wvith no
sabsoquent let-dcwn, .

. 12, Substances vhizh alter porscnality struoturs in sush
a way that the tendensy of tho recipicat to beccms depsndent
upen another persca 1s catanced, .

13. 4 matarisl which will eange mental confusion of such
a type that the individual w=dzr its influence will £iad 1%
diffioult to mintain a fobricaticn uwnder questioning, _ oy

1. Substancas which will lcwsr tho embitica and
weriking efficicncy of men whan adminigstared in
undetootabls amgunts, .

15, Substcnces vhich premote weslmess or distertian
of the oyezizht or hearing feculties, praferably without
perzarect affecta, ' -

18, A knoskeut pill vhich can curréptiticusly be
administered in crizks, fcod, clgarettes, cs cn earcsol,
ete., which will be zxo to use, provide a caximm of
t=ecie, =2 b suitabls for was by agent {yresa ca en

'17. 4 Eaterial vhich con be gurroptiticusly adninige
tored by the atove routes and vhich in very small azomts

activity vkatever, .
. [
Zhe t of caterials of this typs follous the
stendord tics of such ethical ésug houses as -12

15 13 a Talatively routins preeedude to
%0 the point of hirean testing, Crdinarily, ths drug bonass dopend
upoa the carvices of private phycicians for the £inal clinizel
teoting, Tas phyricians aro willing to asaume the rostonsibility
of such tests in crdsr to edvence tho seicsce of medicins, It
i3 di2f1cilt a=d poxetines irposuible far TSS/CD to offer such
en inducc=ont with rocpoet to 4its products, Ia practice, it hes
been possible to use-ocutside olwdmm}orofamm
phaces of this vork, Esmvor, that part which invelves im=an
tasting at effsctive dose levels presents gacurity problezs vhich
ca=not be hardlsd by the ordicary contractor. '

Downzraded t9:
v oauthority of's 1374VS

vatse Sams 1277

32 1LET.LTy OL LY 137475
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10 May 195%

SU)PRO‘ECT 35 OF PROJECT MKULTRA

1., Subproject 35 as spproved by the DCI on 18 January 1955 contemplated 2
financial contribution of $125, 000 to the o -8

te in the construction of a new.research wing to cost $2, 000, 000
exclusive of furnishings and equipmest, - ‘Agency funds will be transmitted )
through the aa cut-out which ~ - B
will result in ons-sixth space in the new res. being made
available for Agency-sponsored research invelving covert biological and
chemical techniques of warfare, .

.

5

2. At that time (15 Jasuary 1955) i ENERERENENEN «ix C1A - B
encouragement indicated a willingness to contributs $500, 000 to the construc-
tion fund, The building fund was to have been raised as follows:

$1, 000, 000 - Contributed by (MG - 8
250, 000 - Donation from ENSNRAEEPc! waich - B
$125, 000 to be supplied by CIA :
1,250,000 - Matching funds under Public Law 221 equal
’ to the amount of the two above contributions

500, 000 - - B
%3, 000, 000 - TOTAL
-8

3. Since it now appears that tie expected contribution by will not be
forthcoming, permission is requested to increase the Agency's contribution

. by $250, 000 which will result in a financial situatioa ss follows:

$1, 000, 000 - Contributed by -8
500,000 - Donation from including -~ 8

$375, 000 supplied by CIA ’
1, 500, 000 - Matching funds under Public Law 221 equal

to tlu.tunu.n: of the two above contributions
" $3, 000,000 - TOTAL -

4. Tie Agency's contribution would thus total 8315: 000, This investment,

together with the equal sum resulting from matched funds, is fully justified

in the opinion of TSS for reasons which will be explaized by (NN -~ <
Chief, TSS, and Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, Chief, T3S/Ciemical Division.

The scope of subproject 35 has not changed since the Director origimally,

approved a request by TSS for permission to spend $125, 000 of availaple

i Y et e o Fomimlon )
R DTy s P ST

. - T Semee . ee *
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chrough the controls and procedures establisued
ject 35 was sat up within the scope of
ecurity considerations and cover arrangemeats

1o 255 RO ProLTany [
and the Office of Genezal Counsel aesisted in legal

were caretally revi
ith the exception of funding arrangements, 00 ¢

drte Fininations.
t:2 program

pravicusly approved sum

have since been made,

bhanges in

$125, 00'0 are available

%, Funde to cover
@Ppvadget for FY 55 and bave bfen set aside, The TSS

wit-in the TSS
Lud :ct, howeves, 147
250, 000, and it is Teque

amount. Supplementary funds

obligated by the end of FY 55,

temmcrndad vor- SRS

w wutherity ofs 187478
cater June 1977

I 1°voET; CL BY 187478

lacks funds with which to ¢o
stad that the TSS dlbudZet be increased by this
available for gsubproject 35 can

the supplemental sum of
definitely de
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AMENDMENT TO SUBPROJECT 38, PROJECT MKULTRA

- —-— -

For the Purpose of Establishing a Cover Organization for Highly Seasitive
Projects in the Field of Biological, Chemical and Radiological Warfare

L )uhgm of Subproject 35. R

In January 1953 approval was given by the DCI to Subpreject 3 of Project
MKULTRA. The documaents which lead to this approval (including comments
of the OGC) are attached herewith as Tabs 2, A and 3, .

Project MKULTRA is the framework of procedures and controls under which
research projects in certain highly sensitive fislds are carried out by TSS.
A description of the background of Project MKULTRA may be found on

page 1 of Tab A,

Subproject 35 establishes cover ‘under which the Chemical Divisiona of
DD/P/TSS would conduct certain seasitive projects in the. fialds of biological
and chemical warfare and consists of & proposed arrangement whereby the
Agency covertly coatributes funds to assist teJEmER — 2
in the construction of & new research wiag, Cestridution of these *

fande is o be made through the GRENNMINNRENIRIPNNN— —
E s cut-out so that the SNNUMNNINNINNNERNIIPNS would remmais - /)
unwitting of Agency participation in the building program. Projects would
later be carried out by the Chemical Division usiag the facilitiss of the
new research wing, and Agency employees would be able to participate
in the work without the University or the Hospital suthorities being aware

. of Ageacy interest. Subproject 35 contemplated the contribution of Agency
funds to assist in the construction of facilities. Future research work
would be carried out through the. as cut-out and would be ~ [
separately funded under existing procedures and controls. .

and the background of = J
ARSI 21 ¢ described on page 2 of Tad A. On the
same page there will be found a further description of the (NS - 8

. [N

. Building Fund,

The University will require $3, 000, 000 for the six-story addition to the
hoepital exclusive of the cost of land, heating and power supply which are
deing previded by the University. Under Public Law 221, Subappropriatica

S Copy 4 TaiiSNmmn
. Tt LIttty et ASTETS N

© vee o sEn 13T? g
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663, dated 26 August 1954, funds ars available to match funds raised for
this purpose by the University.

When Subproject 35 was first prepared, it was hoped and expected that the -

funds required would be provided as follows: The University has allocated

$1, 000, 000 to this project and will assume upkeep 2rd saafficg abligations. B
agreed that if the Agency would provide IR - 5

with a grant of $125,000, the Fund would match this amount and

make a total donation of $250, 000 to the Uaiversity Building Fuad, At that
time, discussions with &
{ndicated that <IN would contribute $500, 000

to the building project oo the basis that r gical research would be
conducted in the new wing and that the cons tion of the new facilities

was of interest t2 that Ageacy. In summary, financial situation was

to have been as follows: B

$1. 000, 000 - SIS - — 7 i
250, 000 - Donatioa from CNENNENEE (of which =~ B
$125,000 was supplied by CIA) )
1,250,000 - Matched Funds under Public Law 221
500,000 - vl — R
$3,520,000 - TOTAL B

It was recognized that the Federal ceatribution 1,250, 000 under Public
Law 221 would be seemingly iaflated by reas of the inclusion of the CIA
contribution in that of NNV It was felt thas the value to

the Agency was such that this inflation of the Federal coantribution was more
than justified by the impeortance of the over-all project and that furthermore,
the inclusion of the CIA contributien in that oD ~2: e
best means of maintaining security, . : \p

1. e—— -
8 ¢c . _B& -

The original informal commitment 6-,‘ pg{ of N was first cbtained

through verbal discussions with . which were fcllowed

up by an exchange of correspondende-between tha DCI and sy - <.

Unfortunately ac that Wuuy occupied with the contro-

versy concerning the and continued coatact with I ~ C

subordinates resulted in & decision that could not or
... wouldl not contribute to the ’dw"k“' but would bg willing to support

an annual research program amountiyg to $50, 000 to $75,0 It is Dot
0 di— . T
e et L I
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known whather this change in policy was suggested o JINEIES o - cC
whether it originated with him. Be that as it may, when the change i
policy became apparent, it was evident that additional funds would be re-

quired to complete the hospital construction.

IV. Suggested Funding. e

It is now suggested that the $3, 000, 000 required for the hospital wing be

provided as follows: B ;

. $00,000 - Donation from (including — X
$375, 000 supplied by ClA)

1, 500,000 - Matched Funds from Public Law 221
3, 000,000 - TOTAL &

-
The donation from QUENEEEIPEERgPwould thus consist of the original
$125, 000 to be supplied by CIA plus the sum of $123, 000 to be provided by
the Fund and a supplemental CIA contribution of $250,000. Originally
Subproject 35 requasted permission to makc a contribution of $125,000 to
the building fund and approval was given. This approval is enclosed
herewith as Tab 2, The purpase of this amendment to Subproject 35 is to
request permission to centribute an additional $250, 000 te the building
construction fund through AANNBONENBIRNEN It should be noted that = O
the total Government coatribution to the hoepital fund still remalns
unchanged at $1, 875,000, The iacrease in the size of the contridbution
by the Fund is not out of keepiag with other operations of (MNP and will —~ 4
pot arcuse undue comment because of its magnitude, The originally approved
contribution has not as yet been transmitted tolifllIN) and neither the -~
original contribution nor the supplement would be paid to Wl unil <~ 2
funde adequate to complete the project are made available, This condition
was spccified by the DCI in approving the original contribution,

V. Source of CIA Funds,

Fuads to cover the initially approved sum of $12% 000 are available and have
been segregated for this purpase within the TSS FY 1955 Budget for Research
and Development, Insufficient (unds remain in the TSS budget to cover the
supplementary sum of $250, 000, and it {s therefore requested that the TSS
budct be increased by this amount and that the increase he made availadl

to Subprojeet 35 of Project MKULTRA., :

LR N i . .
b otitentnie omy gememn ; )

Copy # 1 of 1 copy
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V1. Comments by the Office of General Counsel. *

Tab 3 is a memorandum from the General Counsel to the DCI dated 21
December 1954, commenting oa Subproject 35, asd stating in part that

there are no fundamecatal legal objections if the probable benefits are con-
sidered a fair return for this expenditure, The amendment to the Subproject
contemplates only an increase in funds and in no way changes any other
aspect of the project. The project has been referred back to the OGC even
though no change in its structure is contemplated, and Tab 4 contains his

comments.

VI, Justification, . ]
: ’

The advantages and benefits accruing to the Agency outlined in Tab A are
folt by TSS to provide adequate and complete justification for the expenditurs
of the additional sum herein requested which brings the total CIA contribu-
tion to $375, 000, The most impor’.at of these advantages and benefits

may be summarized as follows: (Fuller explanations may be found in Tab A).

s. One-sixth of the total space in the new hospital wing will be
available to the Chemical Division of TSS, thereby providing labora-
tory and office spacs, techaical assistants, equipment and experi-
mental animals,

b. Agency sponsorship of sensitive research projects will be
completely deniable. ) . :

c. Full professional cover will be provided for up to three bio-
chemical employess of the Chemical Division.

d. Human patients and volunteers for experimesntal use will be
available under controlled clinical conditions within the full
supervision of -

Subproject 35 was originally conceived in October and November of 1954,
and the ¢nsuing six months have indicated that increasing emphasis and
importance are being placed on the Chemical Division's work in this field.
The facilitics of the hospital and the ability to conduct controlled experi-
ments under safe clinical conditions using m:.terials with which any Agency
_connection must be completely deniable will augment and complement other

pregrams recently taken over by TSS, such as -
Pesoenisd Co:enindibi® T T .«
e L ooiraly ef .
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It was originally thought that at least 18 months would elapse after the
- building funds had been raised before the facilitiss would be finished and

could be occupied by TSS, This lengthy delay has now been overcome. 8

When .-
has raised the $500, 000 which kis Fund will ostensibly contridute,
he will then be allowed to use existing space in the present hospital in
order that he may build up the organization which will later occupy the new
.wing. This means that TSS will be able to begin to take advantage of this
cover situation within a matter of months instead of waiting for a year and . .’
a hall, : /

VINT. Sceurity,

Security matters and details are beh;_eo—erdhuicd with the TSS Liaison
and Security Officer. Security of transmittal of the funds and cover arrange-
ments are described in Tab. A and remain unchanged,

IX. Agreement ﬂm“' ¢ L

- . . w C :
Tha agreement wit: GERNANINED is described in Tab A, aad the extent
of his co-operation udm control over his actions remaina unchanged,

X. Resultant Financial Saving. ' Sl

The total contributien ‘of $375, 000 by CIA will result in an additional
$375, 000 ia matching funds provided under Public Law 221, It is felt that
the expenditure of these total funds is justified by the importance of the -
programs which will be pursued at.the new facility. Even though the ClA :
contribution is increased under this amended project, the total of Federal
funds remains unchanged. The use of this facility will allow work to
proceed under conditions of cover and security which would be impossible .
to obtain clsewhere without an expenditure of equivalent or greater funds,
n addition, by funding individual prajects for this facility through the
B - «ESERPRENER 2o charge will be incurred for overhead expense, If
research projects muc openly sponsored by the -~ a8
U. S. Covernment, it is customary to pay an overhead rate equivdlent
. to 80% of salaries. _However, if a non-profit fund, such as *" 3
, sponsors research, the funds granted for the work are customarily .
used only to pay for salaries, equipment and supplies, but not overhead,
+- The Azency thus buys considerably more research through ~ -8 -
han would be the case {f 8o cut-out were used. .
Santmiiid Le: MEUSEEEED ’ iy
Lo imitiarine o2 WS N\ | —— i e — .
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SUBPROJECT 35 - PROJECT MKULTRA . .
- For the purpose af establishing a cover organization for highly
sensitive projects ia the fisld of cavert Biological, Chemical
and Radielogical Warfare

1. Back of Pro MKULTRA.

In 1953 the DCI approved Project MKULTRA which established procedures -
_ and controls under which resexrch projects in certain highly sensitive
fields could be carried out by TSS without the necessity of signing the )
usual contracts, The approved procedures apply - #
over-all Research and Development budget, and 20 additional s
are required. Controls established in the Project Review Committee
approval of the Research and Development program (other thau the
signing of & eontract) remain uachanged, and special provisions for
- acdit-are included, All files are retained by TSS.

These proccdures and controls were approved since it is highly un-
desirable from a policy and security point of vidw that contracts be
signed indicating Agency or Government interest in this field of en-
deavor. In a great many ingtances the work must be conducted by in-
dividuals who are pot and should not be aware of Agency interest. In
other cases the individials involved are unwilling to have their names
on a contract which remains out of their control in our files. Experiecace
has shown that qualified, eompeteat individuals in the field of physio-
logical, psychiatric and other biological sciences are very reluctant
to enter into signed agreements of any sort which would connect them
with this activity sinde such connection might seriously jeopardise
their professional reputations. . .

When Project MKULTRA was approved, it was not contemplated that

1t would be used for the establishmaent of cover., Over forty individual
research and development projects have been established under this
framework and have been carried out extremely successiully, both

fram technical and sdministrative points of view. The experience

gained in handling these projects has emphasized that establishment

of better cover both for the projects and for associated Agency scientists
is of utmost importance. .Subprojcct 35 would establish such cover, .

Domagroted tor pemENIINY Tz Ges : - ,
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1I. Background of the - B

B e e evotveeryrT incorporated in - 8
s Board of Directors of six

It has
who acts as Executive = c
it bas solicited funds from various - (4

individuals to finance a program of basic research in the chematherapy

of cancer, asthma, hyperteasion, puyehuamtie disorders and other ..
P hsomic diseases. Since 1951 GEPLse-co—sperated with the.. . . = 8.
Chemical Division of 7SS and acted smoothly and efficiently, both as

a cut-out for dealing with contractors in the fislds of covert chemical _ .
and biological warfare, and as & prime contractor for certain areas of
biological research. Projects presently being handled {foz the Agency

by the Fund are administered under the controls and procedures

previously approved for MKULTRA.

m. Backgreund of QEIEIINNEINEINES -

-6 .
RS s (sternatiovally Frose o 2 R - C
in the field of WP research sod is -
M Ih the pass s been associated ia

W -8
Sl served as o

a research capacity with both the

During the war -¢
in the Bureau of Medicine and Surgery in the Navy, Since then he-has
maintained a consulting relationship to the Navy madical rssearch pro-
gram, 1§ is TOP SECRET cleared and witting of Agency - &
sponsorship of.the programs earried out by the Fund as are two other .
members of the Fund's Board of Directors. N

v._ R, . -

actively engaged in a campaign to raise funds
or the purposs of erecting & aew cliaical research wing on the existing
The research wing will cansist ofa —
building six stories high, 320 feat long and 50 feet wide, Two-thirds
of the space will be research laberatories and offices while 100
research beds will occupy the remainder. particie -
pation in the fund-raising campaign outlined below will result in his
having control of one-sixth of the total space in addition to the base-

Pameeraldsd to: GRS :
teooiherity of: 1674V N, o
¢ .1 Jume 1977 —_ Copy # _/_of 2 copies

members, one of whom {
Director of the Fund,
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S S - S~
ment and general out-patient facilities. In this effort, 9.— cC
has secured the enthusiastic support of the medical faculty the

officers of the University who have carried the preliminary arrangements
forward to the maximum extent of their resources. )

V. Financial Simuog._

The University will require about $3, 000, 900 for the Ostory addition,
This sum is exclusive of the cost of land and the heating and power supply;

- which are already availablé It the sit¢; At the present tirae under Public

Law 221, funds are available to match funds raised by the University.
The University has allocated $1,000, 000 to this project and will assume
upkeep and staffing obligations. dhragu‘ that if CIA - C

will provide a grant of $125, 000, QRN will -3«
match this amount a ! donation of $250, 600 to the University
Building Fund, This Agency’s contribution will be made under the con- \.

dition that it will be refunded if construction does not take. place,

TSS has discussed this ¢truation with N - B -
and has encouraged todomate =~ /3 :
golo. 000 to m.cl-ﬂ)ﬂ project on the basis that uINNRENSUNASS - 8 .
will be conducted in the new wing." - | thoughi awareofour =~ 73
interest in the building, is uswitting of our specific flelds of research - ' .
~-and individual projects. . In simmary, the finascial situation would be as \
follows; L . .

-,5.

- $1, 000, 000 -
250,000 - onation. from
* ($125, 000 supplied by ClA)
1,250,000 - Matched funds from Public Law 221
500, 000 - -3 .

$3,000, 000 - TOTAL -

Although it is recognised that the Federal contribution of $1, 250, 000 under —
P. L. 221 is sedmingly iaflated by reason of the inclusion of the CIA contri- -
bution {a that.of actually the value to the Cla {» =48H .
$250, 000 and not just $125, 090, .the amount of CIA's contribution; further-
more the inclusion of the CIA contribution in that of GEDNANADEES: -
WliPis the best method of maintaining security, . :

)

- Domcraded ter GBS o
t> autherity oty 187478 BN . )
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vi. Difficulties Faced by TSS. .

———

It has been generally recagnized for some time that the external re-
search activities of the Chemical Division of TSS in the field of covert
biological, chemical and radiological warfare are sorely in need of

proper cover. Although Project MKULTRA provides excellent admini- |

strative and financial cover for projects, it does not afford cover for
scientific or technical persoanel. MKULTRA has been used for

dealing through
a the future will be increasingly \irrited-due to - -

(a)° The increasing aumber of people who, albeit
properly cleared, are aware of the Agency
connection with -

(v) The feeling by that the Agency — C
employees contacting him (Drs. Gottlieb,
etc.) have no cover of any sort and = C
consequently expose him to unnecessary and
highly undesirable personal risk; and

{c) The widesprehd intra-Agency awareness of
the nature of the relationship between the

Fund and the Agency. .

Ancther serious problem faced by TSS/CD as a result of lack of suit-
able cover is the difficulty in planaing careers for technical and
scientific personnel in the biological field. A long-range career
concept of activities in this field inevitably includes proper cover for
the individual concerned. The availability of research facilitics

at

and able to make any reasonable arrangements to suit our needs. Up
to three Chemical Division employees can be integrated into @ - C
program for work in the new hospital wiag on the
Agency's research projects. Although career planning was not &
consideration when planning the procedures and controls established
by Project MKULTRA, aevertheless this particular subproject, in
addition to its primary objective, will be of very great secondary Relp

Corngraded to: (RUPIENEPER .
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in simplifying and eliminating many of the very swkward and dangerous
conditions facing certain Chemical Division employess,

VIL. ' Advantages and Benefits Accruing to TSS.

The contemplated arrangements will.¥esult in many advantages and
benefits, including the following:

(a) One-sixth of the total space in the new research
wing is to e available o NN snd - C
in turn, will be availablé to the Chemical
Division of TSS. This will provide laberatery
and office space, techuical assistants, equip-
1ent and experimental asimals for use of Chemical
Division personnslia cormaction with specific
future projects.

(5) The cost of Chemical Division projects which are
to be carried out under this cov~r will be covered
by funds made available through Project MKULTRA,
and projects will be subject to the procedures

and controls essablisbed for MKUL The
funds will be passed through B
@lBas bas been done in the prot. WNNNNNER

in turn will either pay expenses directly or
_transf{er the money to the University for this
purpose. Each project will be individually
funded based ona its particular budget, and there
will be no other continuing or recurring charges
for itams such as space, facilities, e¢tc. i

(¢) The Agency's sponsorship of sensitive research
projects would be complately deniable since 0o

} comnection would exist between the University
and the Agency. .

(d) Excellent professional cover would be provided
for up to three bic-chemical employees of the
Chemical Division of TSS. This would allow open -
attendance at scientific mestings,. the advancement
of personal standing in the scientific world, and .
as such, would constitute a mljot efficiency and

Pex -.radu to: GPRENITS

~ autherity ef: 137478 N
¢ N2t June 1977

: . Copy #_/_of 2 copies
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morale booster,
*

(¢) Human patients and volunteers for expsrimental
use will ba available under excellent clinical
conditions with the full supervision of ISP — R
g

)
(i There would be available the equivalent of 2
bospital safehouse.

(@) It is expected that tire output of useful results
of the Chemical Division in the bio-chemical
fleld will be greatly improved through the more
efficient use of technical persoanel who would
be able to spend more of their time on actual

laboratery work,

(i) Excellent facilities would be provided for
recruiting new scientific pereonnel since
me~ibers of the Chemical Division working under
this cover will be in daily contact with members
of the Graduate School of the University. ’

- () The regular University library and repriat
service will be available as a source of .
technical information,

VIill, Funding, .
It is proposed that $125.000 be grasted to ey, 1 - R

approval is granted, TSS will arrange for payment to be made under

the procedures and controls of MKULTRA. These funds would come

out of the presently approved TSS Research and Development budget

for FY 1955 and no new funds are involved. The funds would be

transferred as & grant toaQIRIIRERERSS 1n turn VRS ~ !
will match these funds with an equal amount and donate & total

of $250, 000 to the University as outlined in paragraph V. The sum of

$125, 000 would be entirely in the nature of a grant and would in due

Bimnsraded te: SSENMNWNEY .
B Tiiherity of: 187478 . .
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-

course be merged with the entire $3, 000, 000 raiged for the construce
tion of the wing. The Agency would retain no residual interest in the
building or title to any equipment or facilities purchased with this

money.

This single grant will constitute the- Agency's entire participation ia

the new hospital wing, and there will be no recurring obligatioas in

the form of annual support of the bospital or additional grants. Tranms-
mission of Agency funds to wuPINIIIERER will be made. —~ [
through previously established coves.cha.. *i2 set up by lhc‘ 4
g for similar transmittals in the past, as I-c=tion oa @ — r P

SIS books will be shown as having beea received {rom ANEEEENS ~

In the future when TSS spoasors sensitive research projects which are

to be carried out in. each project —
will be individually financed through n as-it has

been ia the past in accordance with previousty established procedures

and contrels using allotted portioss of the aanual Research and Develop-
ment budget. The University will be totally uawitting of Agency
sponsorship, and the projects to every outward appearance will be
sponsored by -C .

-C
In the event of CRNNEINNEREED death, @I will contizue in
being and any activities under this project will be continued through @i ~ 5
@uand will be unaffected by his death, .

IX. Meinorandum of Agreement,

A memorandum of agreement will be signed with “ - <
outlining to the greatast extent possible the arrangcments under which

the hospital space under his control will be made available to Chemical -
Division personnel and the manner in which cever will be provided and

other benefits cbtained. No contract will be signed since SN -
would be unable to reflect any-of the Agency’s contractual texms in his
arrangements with the University when ”m&ku the = A
donation in question. The memorandum of agreement will be retained

in TSS. -

X. Security, ' . ) . . ’ .
All security maters and details are being cosordinated with the TSS/

Liaison and Securitv Office.. . .
Dowm=aded 103 @ e
T osuttsrivy ef: LITATY )
€l June 1997 Copy '_/._ol & copies
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X1. Resultant Financial Saving. R

The $125, 000 to be contributed by CIA plus the $125, 000 in matching funds
provided under P, L. 221 to the Building Fund will be more than offset
in a few years by the savings which will result from use of this non-profit

YT

fund. If a research projectat or other educa- =~ 3
tional non-profit institution is sponsored by the U. S. Goverameant, it
is customary for the Government to pay for salaries, equipment, : i N

supplies, etc, and for overhead as well, In the case of
the overhead amaqunts to 80% of salaries, However, if{ a non- ‘
profit foundation such as SRR 1 pon s or 3 research ata  —
nor-profit institution, the funds granted {or the work are customarily ol
used to pay for salaries, equiprnent and supplies but not for overhead. N
The Government dollar thus buys considerably more research through X
n would be the case if no cut-out were used, -

. * ¢ P

XI. Legal Matters. ° [ {

S 3.l

This matter has been discussed with QRSP of the Office — 4 '
of General Counsel, and he is fully aware of all details surrounding this

gra=t, ¥
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9 sprlniyye
SEMCRANDUNM FOR: THE RECORD

SUBJECT 1* T=ip Report, Vieit u"
’ : T April 1923

1. The purpose of this triuv w=s 6 make arraagements {or
closing out tho i #70;cct. SR 34 been jivea ample pravious
notice that suci 'vas Likely to be tha izssat of tho visit, and he pre=
pared himesell accordingly.

2. It was explained tongIRERW ¢t it would not be !
poesible to carry over funds beyoad tha ead ol the current fiscal
year. Thereiors all worl would have to be completed aad all pay~ S
raents made prior t9 30 Juse. This dsadline ajpeared accagianle to-
him, and it was agreed that I would inake my final visit thare te
receive veports and attend to flaal details oa 16 Juna. QiR Jid not
bave a curres: financial report, but he estimated thas fuads curreatly
oca hand would be about suificient {for remainisg expanditures. Le
agracd te sead the Seciccy wilhin the naxt 10 days a more exact stase-
ment of curront balance and estimated remairicg expeadituras. I
tried ts lmprese oa him stroagly thut transfer of additional fueds and/
or retucn of usexpended feads must be carmpleted woll bofarg the end
of the flscal year,
* 3. Of the 30 cases called for in the original desiyn 13 have
been campleted (but only 4 have beaa transeribed from the tapes). Ia
addision there are 8 cases in prosreas (of whick twe ars alreauy ia
{ntorview and 6 are worksd up to the point of having the lists of questions
prepared). It was agraed that to meet tae deadliae we would have to -
limis the design to thess 26 cases. : -

4. It lo apparest that WD is eo lavolved in the administrative
problems of the project that he is ol paying aany attentiou to the results,’
Slace te date oaly 4 cases have bees txanscribed thcre is no way of tolling
what is comiag out of it. I assume there were ne dramatic reactions, be-
cause the intarviewers would have lct hioa kaow absut them bad they emergsed.
It ls possiblo, bowever, thst our owa asalysis af the data may dredge up

samething of value, altbough I am dublous oa this poiat.

S. @D gave me bis usual loag lavolved talk ou the ificulties

he bnd eacountered which acceuat ior the delays. He algo talied at scue
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leagth about bis ''experiments” with byanesls, soine aspects of which

are millily bais-ralsiag. Jlaally he mace quite a pitch ler coatiauiag
sorae such projsct as this noxt year, "with realisiic, specille deadliase.”
1 told bim we would dlscuss possibilities alter tae prosent praject was
campleted aad we bad & chiiuco to closely cxamiae the tals.
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The ‘experiment designed to test the effectiveness of
certain aedication in causing individuals to release guarded in-
formation has been completed in accordance with the original ex-
perimental design, with the exception that 25 instead of 30 cases
were used. This matter was discussed in morc detail in my letter
of July 15. Abstracts on all 25 cases, transcriptions of the in-
terviews, Wechsler-Bellevus Intelligence Tasts given at the hos-
pital and previcusly given at this clinie, post-experimental
rankings and evaluation sheets, and a schedule covering the drug
administration have ill been subaitted to you under separate
cover, . .

Enclosed is a financial statement vhich repri.sents the
final accounting of the funds allocated by you for use in this
project. If, for your purpose, you require a more detailed sum-
aary of vhat specific professicnal services vere perforaed or
more detail vith reference to travel sxpenses or any other item,

kindly lqt ae know, T

You will mote, in this eomn , that Dr. vas
compensated in an amount exceeding that’'paid to Dr. This

vas occasioned by the fact that Dp. sgent
the files and records at the
Prison selecting cases tha suitable for our pur-

pose. It was froa the cases selected by him that the subjects
used in the experiment vers finally chosea.

' I have been instructed to write a check to. the Society
for the balance in the account as ol today. I would like to

N r
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ur. il Page Tuo -

Smes 2%, iass

delay tnis matter for a few days. Several checks have been writ-
ten during recent days, and I would like to be sure they cleared
the bank 1 -before cIdiing out the account. You will
receive a check in the amount of $1356.26 early next veek.

If there is any additional information required, I will
be happy to cooperate. . .o
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‘ate: Juns 1577 : R

TioTaen DU
% UTLET: SL BY 187478

A —

the rescarch Project will te carricd cut st the SNSRI =3

- m:.oem{d it gy, i is — 1
lccatcd GRENNIRNMRNRSUTAIRSRAEIEER. "o — B
Easpisal has one thcugand, e hundrod a.-ﬁ ihirty-tive (2,135) vods. !

At the prosent tine mm ore ono t:umm axd fortyetwo (1L2) nene

coychotics elush“iod a3 crl::!..al—swal poychopatiis. Iuore aro four
full-tire psyohistrists and voryiag prers of mdical interas; tuo
pyenolosists; four goclal worksrs; nurces sud avteadasts. Too super-
tntendory of the iocrital s uENIEEREIRY, o vittins recter - C
af ths rosecreh Soam, cINs nsiitutisn cors umder ths irsellis: of
—uomrSxocutive .:ccmhr:/ of tho State lcrurtment ot&h::d Healdwh ..2
any re sasch projcct t: urr.nnr szpreved by the CO-crt‘.:.gnm e:_..c.-.:.-.rcu

of the Sizte Depertcont of locial iealts. SEEINREEES 1) crcurs -
this erproval, “mmmmmuu -
W:«wnmtmummg.mu; $al while carTrins

out tkoir investigotiea.

STZITIS

) The smbjicets 411 bo selceied £rom the ond huzdssd and fetty-two
(112) erirdzaledwmua) povehesaths on whom there 13 an cdsqueto previous
Anvegiisasicna ineludine polico roports, physical, morcidatsic ==d
peomholozic emednationg oad secial historica. Tho ase range of ko

by a..:.'::rl ty aft 187478
Catse Juns 1977

. I 1STED; 6L BY 137478
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gabjocts varios [:oa Loty L2 SOWINLT JOLrS STl there iu a cads vesae
gtica of fatollisenco luwals and social taekirownds,
*

.
DoESTYIA NS . ——
# -

Tho fellosing ron are guzmidted for the resuarch toaus
. oA NESIRNRERE. - C
T “,cm}ehwmmmmdm
eporionen 1a exssdcing eri~dmnls; Fas witten cxtoasively
ca poyehopathic soxval devistionss anmthmtynpclr
u.‘aph a:d interrosntion methods,

‘ easa— - <

S (o cco thisty yesrs; & psychiatriss vho has
seent his 1i€2 in the trestrmat of tha erixinal irsand o=i
ssiztadns tis caly institutica SAEINEMERior tho ez — C

and tresttont for the coinirel-cexal psychorzath.

“apmmmwsmpﬂnw - C

Factica, A% the preacat tumo he 49 exelusivaly dovoting -
mti:.towm\.hda. Ho has had extenasive axpericnce
mm.,cmm n..avmwmumm
extanitve coperiense 1o QEENIDERCEENENDINRY, —
“ummu ©2 osstern eultures, Oricmtal
poychiatry, traimrashing, otec. ile has als0 dona drug intere
rogation with crirdcals aut has ongaced in asrcocnalysis
and hyoncanzlyois.

[

-

p-—-.- ‘ed ‘. e

Ty suitesity ef: 167673
t.ue: Juae 1977
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m 2 psjeulatrizt vho 43 en tho—(C
szt of MSRINNGRIEAESINRENE . —

QN =< ~ainfiins o private practice in the ficld

of payeaiztry. WENESMEN®I hod ids cxpariense in ~ C
"dsallng with erizivals goiiis back sche twsnty-five years,

including druz interregation.
-  —————— r
hysician for the pead tuenty-five -~ C

JAER— .
yoers, has Loex QuERREERERRENESESNY - -
DRSNS <o 10 cxionsive egeri — C

onco draling with cll sortd af cricinals and hos encaged
ia cira.: intorrosmtion. lesidas his efiy positics, Le also
zairtaing a privsto practico in the ficld af gencral

. madicing,

e ———————
-

QRO - :crriod cas of the poentatrists fren  — - c
his Ftaff who is interesiod r=ad has usse deugs in the treate

mant of pationts end has 2igo uscd hyrmozis =ith mental
pationts, Tho rescarch ascistants have not tesn salocted
um&tn@tuﬂm&wv&%aermaum

attached to ASREOEIBIEREERN. = cecnvtary i — 5

ve QSN procnt sccretery wio w21 do all the moces- = ¢

ocry otatosrzphic work in ad.iticn to hor srecont duties. é

. -2

DX UT TR TS § H
£ Brit RBT s ]
“reo torrs of w2 wenler profosaiomal wa eack will bo solocted. el

-

bl

Ltarrozation, hipnosiv wd hypnosis
oie Vmimies —

15 =l il wwl L Tnosia and &
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2 1ufecs

Semreated 1o GhuammRil

tetrahndrecmplingl acotais covivativa. Lrutlier toon voraing on Saotlier
.

oo ol cobjects will vse strmicht interrosation, 135 uith iaterro.ctien

ad & totri.irceennabinel acctato dorivative and interrogatien. later. -

:hn shisd tesn with ansther Cruup «f cuijneia vill use SiTuitht interro-

’ ;a.z-n ard & exrdinstion of L3D and a totssivurecanmalinel acstato

r

dorivetive, - :  —— ——
A mating of a1l iho rozbers of dhe research project will be bricled
nm.mszoummmo:unmmhamm:umm-
ladce galned so fa in the use of theco druss.
Inzlecting (roups of subjscts £or experircaiatica, the follving
olbjestivaa uill bo sougitt: *
1) Cfubjocts will bo sole=icd o have dended allcsaticns
of verious ldnds that ezn Yo chocind or stoengly ossw=d
o0 the-basis of previcusly establiciod records,

2) -is far as poasible, the gciual ‘research rma sddnistering
drurs w21l not bo grare of tho ¢rug he is sdcdndstorizg
snd pleccbes will bo interspersed with drug ed=inigiration.

3) Procouticns will 1o taken to noutralizo_aje, intelli
sonce, physical co:;d.‘.uon. socis) Leekoround ‘and axy
haw gontrellable foetar in volocting Jroups. Ad-
1zintstration of drugs will bte dome doth ogenly and
cwTeptiticucly.

L) Yeun racerdi=rs vm bo mads of the latarre;ction

"'.J wition n'or'.a will Lo ob ined in oilior easc3.

e autliavity of: 1U7373
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ﬁ’.-{ aratlieTALY 853 107470

st June 1977

B

13523 Cb X4 1374?5 )
')) 2uo e %idll o choreiged i exuating potliode of
.

irtesTo;zilen a9 far a3 this con bo éone. 0 Twsults
of interso:ation win éruis i other techalques wild
Lo -checiud aZainat existing records end qualitativo ana
Quentitatim reports will Lo ovsiuvated. Acezato oad
witlorn ruports 1Al bo krot- mwtreperts will Le Rb-
alited on tho basis of iatorin progcress ad cerplote
projccla,

5=
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MEMORANDUM FOR TEE RECORD- .
SUBJECT: ?ro.)cet MKULTRA, Subproject 42

.1. Subproject uz is to bo coatimd ‘for the same purposes a3
when originally” astablished: %o auppoﬂ m covert __'L
and reslistic ﬁ.el.d. trials of certain reoe-.rch apnd dnvel.cpnent itens '

" of interest to TSD, and to maintain the pwucnl facilities rcquired for
these trials.
2. In the pu. year a mumber of covert a.nd. realistic ticu

trisls hove been ouccoufnuy e‘rrzcd. out. 'rh- results of thase

experiments have provided faetul.l. data cuenml %0 establisting
x:rot.oecl.a for s pumber of contemplated cpenuou. A contimuou
of covert and realistic field trials are necessitated by the production
of nev materials 1n TSD prosrlls, pl.rucuhrl.y ‘4n areas requiring
deuilec'. lmw].edsa of the effectiveness snd efficiency of delivery
systems. Additioral tmls are also cecessitated by the need for

- ¢ W swmms W S

~ better controlled "“2ield-type” cxpcrxuntn.‘———-— —
3. m estizated cost of the project is $5,000.00 for s peuod
of six mth.. Charges ohoum be mdc against Allotment 1125-1390-3902
&. Accounting for funds und. equipment under this subproject bas
been established on & detalled basis with the suditor and will ccatinue

uinthp.lt. . . l
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‘4/ 5.““ approved for TOP szcmLy the Agency and
operates under cover for purposes of this -un;oacet.
. ° {

Distridution:
Original oaly.

L
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—atm - Ble Januwssy 039

YEMDRANDUM FOR THE RECGRD
SUBJECT: Project MXULTRA, Subproject 42

shed to provide fcr the
acilities, and as such,
Under Subprecject 42, it

1. Subproject 42 is beine
continued support of the

is a continuation of Suboroject 1?
is intended that thoNNSNNSENR tacilities be moved f{rem
> - > These facilities,

” .
in the new locatiocn, wdll continue to provide & means for the
realistic testing of certein R and D {items of interest to

CD/TSS and APD/TSS. . c

2. Subproject 42 will be conducted by Mr. w
a seaman. Certain support activities will be preovided
CD/TSS and APD/TSS. - , .

3. The estimsted cost for & period of cne year is
$3,3C0.00, starting 1 March 1955. . .

’ - -

LAy

A

TDLEY GULTILIEE |
" Cnief e
T3S/Chemical Division

AEPRCVED FUR OBLIGATICN
OF PUNDS: « -

Research Uirector -
Date: 2 14793

i
.
1 -

i oo iy [
< bt ) :
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°  1la The suepe af this project is intended to
all those sctivitiss nov eagaged in by the

. Et&-d’ﬂ, Chamical Division. These activities will
'y

i
E

1. Project-MKULINA, Subproject 43

2% raFen TTE—

in {ts own facilities undar the

. At the preseat tims, the mm of

$40,000.00 1s belng committed, the balance of the total to be

m—

e@u‘uahﬁch&. .
. SBEPEREEN s been granted & TOP SECATT clearazce

¥ capable of protecting the seeurity ..

t in this aatter, -

.

. .
R ey 2 P g T, e
TP ?-‘a -..":’-;.‘-!‘:‘ﬁ:'%';%
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. 3. The total cost of this project for a period of cns year vill
not exceed $100,000, Charges should be made ageinst Allotmeat
- 6-2502-10-001. ' _

n'zornewr anmual audit report be mads available for
Alse, it has been requested that any unex-

? - L. bas been mlt;d to sukait & sumsary aeemt-'
B) -

s inspectien.
mlmmuwumw.

Cg:) en ot %;k?u"orm-:uu. :

® other thas its activities as a cut-out

sy
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xno-""""—.N--- R ’

- ., dhe rcuareb to be undcm“n 4urtng the .mluc -onth
pcrcod Jor which financial aupport ts requested will e dcwud
to the continued analysis of the neural ond endoorine uchcnum

of stresa and the chuuc.l cacnta ﬂmt tnflumcc te. The screentng

procedurss are bceed Jargc.!y upon ¢ furﬁur cnalyets of phases of
strese cnd the tnfluencss of this phystologtic dehadtor complex
upon doth dody cnd skin tezperatures a8 deitatled in the cccompGny=

tng report.
The chemtcal synthests of new compounds rill e continued

under the supsrvtsion
_These chemical agents will de screensé for
their capactty to prevoke stress or to suppress t{u.ctun reactton
" in Lts acuse or chronic phases. Antaal testing wn.tncludc phormg-
cologtc scresening and prc.pcr ta:.-tqtey ceu}nu._of these canpound_o as

heretosors. . - ——

Chemical agents that hate deen sourd cctive crnd withina
suttadle to_xtgtay rangs lgtzl _pc sudjected to cltntccl acrunt.ng on
appropriate pattenta, the tatitcl screening betng carrted out on
advenced cancer patienis. The arount of money Zevoted to chentcal
synthesis, houvever, has déwn furthar reduced. Chemtcal compounds
cvatladle from dtologic sources cs well as those syntresiged in ¢t
project wtll be scresned, par:icularly those that are cctive in

etther ratatng or lowertng dody tenpersture.
Ac heretofors any agents whtch prove o be oy tntersst -

e s v % 4. dumbbaw aws h-ao'an hn‘h an transolant

under the supervision o.r“l
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ontmal eulorc and on “nccr ‘pattents. ma m.r )u.. .,m
:-‘ pn,}na th.l bc cautd;nd-c bu-produoe oF the ujor odJjeattoe,

which un de: dtnetcd to the probuu '3 4 azrcu.
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MEMOR ANDUM ron ™HE rEcomn -

SUBJECT - s Ccntmution of MFUL'I‘RA. Subprojgcg u.. ‘as™

. 1. The scope of this |.ubproé¢et includes all those activities

now engaged lo by/AN R IR RINNFONNIL et o ey B VeI,

TSR3
under the direction of TSS7CH with the c:ecpdon of those cutout

functions spccdleﬂly mentioned in connection with other MKULTRA
subprojecfs.’ Ia gcncnl. lho research effort under thh subproject ’
will contiaue along the lines laid down ia previous years. These
involve the ;ynthuh and ph;m;eolo(ieal and clinical evaluation

“of compounds of those chemical families known to have ‘ap_nljca:'ion

in the psychSchemical and "K" fields. During the past year importaat
progress bas been made in tbc. area related to stressor compounds
and the relationship of these materials to the phyti'ologtcal pathwa;yl
throu-gh which both stress and the rcaesion to it are mediated in

‘A: is indicated in the attached proposal, the work

human beiags.
of the past year has progressed to fhe point where more _dd‘ln-i'zivc .=
experimeants on the .tu"n reaction caa be carried out. Primarily

this was brought about by thc e!uractorizatlon of nvcral new

“c 2
E \. ; g matcrhls which produeo stress reaction in humaag and the applica-
g % g; f.‘: tion of same new clinical methods of measuring the extent of the

e %:g disturbance produced. During the next year proporélonlly more

; :‘.‘:‘5 effort will be expeaded 2n the problem of the development of new

. 3 ‘Sl :-'é; m .

s
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;"'..'Fj, ot ...-:- sinee pragress has wecn siower thaa
‘Ls desirable h thh dlneuon and because a new approach to the -
problem has bcon worked out, /{ ) ) ) _'._ .
2. m also serves as a geaeral consultaat to H

the A‘oncy. provun urvieu of a sensitive nature on an ad hoec
basis, and serves as a cut-out {a procurement problemas.
3. The total cost of this project for a period of one year

"l’-“. *3

will sot exceed $71,500.00. Charges should be made against

A.Ilotmcnt 0525-1009-4902.

4. aBsNTD h.ao beea requested to submit a summary
ieeounuag c.sr a. copy of the Fund's asoual audit report for the
cpouor'i indhection. Also, it bas been requested that uy-unu;ud-d
funds shall be returaed to the Agcaey.

S. Title to any permanent equipment pu:eha:cd Sy funds

- . ,ru«dd‘. sball be retained bw
R ¥ in lieu of higher overbead rates. _ _

" .. 6. It was mutually agreed that do'mcnuaon and ,ae,;onauog _

for travel expenses which are sormally reimbursable by B>
sball conform with the accepted ;:aeaeu of the

Fuad.

Do=agTaded toe CHIFNEMUAL
Sy autherity ef: 137473
- d&ats: Juae 1977

E2 DODIT; CL BT 187473
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MDORANDUM FCR: TEE AECORD e -

. LTI i —py
SBICT ¢ _Contizustion of MKULTRA, Subproject Bo. 83 —
. PO L R " T

1. e secpe of this subproject inalodes all those sstivities -

- /«muwwg

~ wrﬂnuncuadm/luﬁﬂnmpﬂad-mm—

Mmmmmumuﬁmm
uutaproacet..u._:n.-nnl.t:an:u«rdlcﬂa-nnduth:.llll\'!ﬂ.‘l«'T
@mmmmnﬂmumm. These
mﬁqmmmwmumm«mu&«
m«mm:mn«muunmunuuum
peychochemical and X fields. mca-mpuubm
ummummammmmcm
w pooblea. wmmmm.unue—-m
lately to make such s change in-emphasis -vorthviils. In comnsction
uﬁﬁu&ahzgambwmtmmmu

C ‘mnﬁmﬁm;hmmmu

B st factlity vill be pursusd ot SENJENND 1o the future. Jor this
mttwhmmuwm&aﬁdmm.u
nuu-'u‘unmummmum.u-up.

< 30“Mum0uo'mmmtum
m,m-m«.«.mzu‘wumaaummu.

and serves s & cutout in prorwressat problses.
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t n-uumccmmao«r-.mdccnacv&u
208 exzseed $A0,000.00. m-mummzmn

225-1390-3902. i
.6 "\l.ﬂmhcamomul“tsm

mc.mumm'-m&tmrnm

‘m';umm. Also, it has beea requested that any unexpended

Mlhu\onm.lughmm. .

" 5. 'Pitls to sny permsnent equipmest jurchased Yy funds granted
c“munmme
3“1-11««&1&:«-“:-«. _

8. x:umwmzmuqmwtu

travel expenses vhich ere noreally reisburseble vy SEEEPMERNTOR M.

shall confora vith the sccepted practices of the Pund.
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DRAFT 3.

- A

MEMORANDUM FOR : THE RECORD

SUBJECT : MKULTRA, Subproject 149
1. This subproject is being established for the purpon REa Ad
.\ ,su-“'/ /
of supporting rnlut:lc tests of cott n dov;mn;_/}.sg_ ,
delivery systems of iaterest. to TSD/BB. : 5“" I

res s -

2. During the course of dovclopunt it is sometimes

zouﬂd thl.t certain very necessary oxpormcntl or tests are not

suited to ordinary laboratory ta.cuinn. At the same time, -

it would be d{t.neult 1f not impéssible to coaduct such tests -
as operatiqnal. !icld tests. This project is designed to pro-

vide a capability and facilities to fill this intermediate

requirement. -
3. The u:tsvitiu under this subproject will be con-

ducted by lr. w, an tndividual in tbe import and e -
export business, 1n“ Nr. agi® holds a TOP -

SECRET Treasury. Depu-t-cut ehu'ancc and a SECRET Agency

approval. He is completely witting of th. aims and goals ot

his activities.

C 4, Mr. b possesses unique facilities and pcrsonn'l
abilities which makes him invaiuable in this kind of testing

operation. ur. JJJJIP because of his peculiar-$3lents. and — c—mam

d’.

ﬁn,a‘ 1" ) 0;

aathad

Ve~ 9y

FA"»@’

"
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capabilities as well as his excellent connections vith all of .
the local lav enforcement sgencies, will provide a umique and
essential capability. Because Mr. AP 15 no 1onger re-C_

sident of tm~ area, it is necessary that a

suitable rcphcmni be provided in order that a capability

..

T

for comtinuance of our activities be maintained.

)

. — '
S. The estimated cost of the project is $10,000.00 for

a pariod of one year. Charges should be nade against Allotment
Number 4125-1390-3902. Reimbursement will be made for services

. smg e =
- - — = - .

6. Accounting for funds advanced and any eguipment under
this- subproject will be in accordance with accounting bmo
ures established by the. .. o . ;ﬁod'ﬁ- { ™

7. A memorandum of agreement slong lines estad

previous audit recommendations ia like situations will be .

executed.

1

Distribution:
Original only
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SUBJECT: Requast for Support of Research on the Mschanism of Brain Concussion
{. This is a request for financial support for research on tbe mechanism of
brain concussion for the period 1 Feb 1956 to 1 Feb 1957.

2. The resonance-cavitation theory upon which this research is to be bas ,
B has been presented in the proposal submitted to .
dated 27 March 195%. : i

mmwﬂimmmmmmuuxm

3. The prograa 83 o progran
109 for the initial

umtmmutznyunnmsungatomdm.
yeoar. . . . ‘

4. At the request of the «ISEEEIENEREIIN, . reduced budget vas submitted.

amounting to $24,925, was then avarded to the
e, 40 Support this program from 1 Feb 1955

- " .

é. ‘moptegroundctouumrmam contract can bs sumarized as
follows: o BRY

© A. RESEARCH FACILITIES

( ¢ The following research facilitles Bave been established for the

wmmammunmumdmmumum
studied: : . ‘

Y oviin
Atotal square feet of laboratery and office spacs

* . equipped with much of the diversified machinery and apparatus
necessary for research in this field. :

b, Blast Range ’ -
A blast range been established n.m located
the main ratory. This
area i3 owmed by the and is closed to the public.
mmmuorzuunucamuuu.

4
B
L commeenOERNERe |
A with the
6.

4mmumm;ﬁo
for use of their
humon cadavers. Ausetmmmmuad for this

WARNING KOS

S TELLIGT! ‘
#8%£5 AlD METHODS INVCLVED

-
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Both full-time technical personnel and part-time professional
research personnel have been acquired and indoctrinatad relative
to their specific function.

C. TECHNICAL PROCRESS ]
Pollowing is the technical progress made under the cwrent
£ 2R ontract: ~ ; :
. 7] . .
a. Specialized instrumentation and m-li-au testing techniques
have been developed to obtain .the desired dynamic data.

b. Considerabls data has now been obtained supporting the
vmmﬂMdem.

c. mum.qmmum threshold data has been obtsained
for a fluid-filled glass simulated skull,

d. Duta pas been cbtained cn the nature and the magnitude of
N pressure fluctuations vithin a glass simulated skull subject
* to either impact or sound waves propagated in air.

=t eee—

.. mmmmwmmmmwgms_mn
attempting  to establish the cavitation patterns for various
types aof S:-p«. .

R

7. The proposed method and program plan remain the same as sta
nal proposal, except for the temporary- deletion of the ismersion
blast study. -
8. The current level of activity on this project can be indicated by the
ﬁ most recent billing p_ﬂn“ for the month of JNovesber, which amounted
to $4,034.61. o :

9. In the interest of efficiency and econoryy it is requested that st least
this level af activity be maintained for the coming year.

¢ .
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L e emme s @ A Prejestile tyPe LAPAGLEr suenh e an aLs awn

weing & small shet rmu'-«u :.1 & projestile.

d. An explosive pad detonated in contact with the
'hudorthnbody. :

: i
Lst us now consider the posaibilities of exciting the resonance
cavitation directly without impact. There is considerable evidence
that resonance cavitation can be induced directly in the following
vays: [
a. A blast vave propagated in air. (Blast Concussion)

'
b. Piysical excitation with a mechanical driver
or horn, tused to the resonant frequency of
A single blast pressure wave propsgated in air must have considerable
intensity in order to produce brain concussion, however, there is
considerable evidence (Carver & Dinsley) that modification of the
pressure vave can produce profound effects.

Excitation of the resonance cavitation by using a tuned driver
at this time sppears to be well within the relm of possibility.
The neurotic-like msnifestations normally associated with blast
concussion could possibly be induced by this methed. Use of
this method,bowever, would require actual physical contsect with
the drivers. .

Excitation of the resonsnce cavitation by tuned sound waves also
appears tc be ‘s reasonable possibility. Concentration of the sound-
field at some Temots point could be effected with accoustical lenses

‘and reflectors. The blast durstion would be in the order of &

tanth of a second. Masking of a noise of durstion should not

be too dificult.
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temporary, to brain concussion. One technique that appears

potentislities involves the introduction of a small quantity

, approximately 1 cc, into the spinal cord, This gas bubble

then normally migrate to the ventricles located at the centnm

.brain. The ability of this bubble to expand under dynamic
would be most effective in preveifting resonance cavitation

oceuring. )
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., . a@.@ .-.-"“.. - - AT iomm @ TWE mEmEand renusse
10.1 Trotter, W. defines brain eoncussion as:  "an essentially
A transient state due to hesd injury which 1is of instantanious
onset, manifests widospread symptoms of purely paralytic
kind, does not as such comprise any evidence of structural
4

cersbral injury, W

10.2 The implication of the underlined portion of the above statchent
1s that if 1 technique vere devised to induce brain concussion

without giving either advance warning or causing external physical

trauma, the person upon recovery would be unable to recall what
had happened te him. Under these conditions the same technique
of preducing the concussion cculd be re-used many times without
disclosure of its nature,

10.3 First, considering the possibilities of direct inpact to the
head or body, it should bs possible fream the findings of this
research program to determine the following: )

a. Optismum desizn of impacting devices. .
b. m&nm&mdwmsmuw
for the specific effects desired..
. e. Intensity of the blow for the effect desired.
. ’
N 10.4 In regard to the potential impacting devices, there are certain
design requsitessthat are apparcnt at this time:
. a. The impsct should be delivered without
advance warning. ’ .
b.. The ares of impact and force distriduticn
should be such that surface trsuna does
not occur.
0. The intensity of the impacting force and
its duration should be such as to obtain
the desired effect.
d. The devics should be 3s small and as silent
as possible. .

10.5 The ‘'specific impacting devives wigat taile the form of any of
the following: .

a. A pancaks type black-Jjack giving a high poak
impact force with & low unit surface pressure.

" b. Concesled or camouflaged spring-loaded inpacting
devices that trigger upon contact with the head.

(original and sole copy :833)

reey

po e

Lot

S

)’—y ;.'. ﬂ1

Py

M

g

(SR Y
t

kY

li»‘ - weo oth rs»«rooh

'c—-—fi




MATERIAL FOR THE RECORD

MKSEARCH, OFTEN/CHICKWIT

MEKSEARCH was the name given to the continuation of the MKULTRA pro-
gram. Funding commenced in FY 1966, and ended in FY 1972. Its purpose was to
develop, test, and evaluate capabilities in the covert use of biological, chemical,
and radioactive material systems and techniques for producing predictable human
behavioral and/or physiological changes in support of highly sensitive operational

requirements.
OFTEN/CHICKWIT

In 1967 the Office of Research and Development (ORD) and the Edgewood
Arsenal Research Laboratories undertook a program tor doing research on the
identificatior and characterization of drugs that could influence human beharvior.
Edgewood had the facilities for the full range of laboratory and clinical testing.
A phased program Was envisioned that would consist of acquisition of drugs and
chemical compounds believed to have effects on the behavior of humans, and
testing and evaluating these materials through laboratory procedures and toxi-
cological studies. Compounds believed promising as a result of tests on animals
were then to be evaluated clinically with human subjects at Edgewood. Substances
of potential use would then be analyzed structurally as a basis for identifying and
synthesizing possible new derivatives of greater utility.

The program was divided into two projects. Project OFTEN was to deal with
testing the toxicological, transmisivity and behavioral effects of drugs in animals
and, ultimately, humans. Project CHICKWIT was concerned-with acquiring infor-
matloln on new drug developments in Europe and the Orient, and with acquiring
samples. :

There is a discrepancy between the testimony of DOD and CIA regarding the
testing at Edgewood Arsenal in June 1973. While there is agreement that humau
testing occurred at that place and time, there is disagreement as to who was
responsible for financing and sponsorship. (See hearings before the Subcommittee
on Heslth and Scientific Research of the Senate Human Resources Committee,

September 21, 1977.)
(169)
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THE DIRECTOR OF CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE

WASHINGTON, D. C. 0508

Office of Legislative Counsel 23 December 1977

Honorable Daniel K. Inouye, Chairman
Select Committee on Intelligence
United States Senate

Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

During Admiral Turner's 3 August 1977 testimony
before your Committee and the Senate Human Resources
Subcommittee on Health and Scientific Research, you asked
whether any Agency employees had been terminated because of
their participation in MKULTRA Subproject 3. Admiral
Turner indicated he did not believe any employee had
been terminated, but would have Agency records searched
on this question. Our records have been searched and the
results confirm the Director's testimony that no such

actions were taken.
v Sin%;z;l ’
S;;%fr:%: L. Car:zj

egislative Counsel
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QKHILLTOP DEFINITION

QKHILLTOP was a cryptonym assigned in 1954 to a project to study Chinese
Communist brainwashing techniques and’' to develop interrogation techniques.
Most of the early studies are believed to have Leen conducted by the Cornetl
University Medical School Human Ecology Study Programs. The effort was
absorbed into the MEULTRA program and the QKHILLTOP cryptonym became
obsolete. The Society for the investigation of Human Ecology, later the Human
Ecology Fund, was an outgrowth of the QKHILLTOP.
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